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(NASDAQ Global Select Marke
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PART |
tem 1. Business
Our Company

We are an entrepreneurial pharmaceutiqalpemy that discovers, develops and intends to caoiatiee differentiated medicines that
improve patients' lives. In order to be success¥al will need to overcome the enormous challenglesrent in the pharmaceutical product
development model. Developing a novel therapeg@nacan take a decade or more and cost hundredgliohs of dollars, and most drug
candidates fail to reach the market. We recogiiaerhost companies undertaking this endeavonfildespite the significant risks and our
own experiences with multiple failed drug candidatee are enthusiastic and passionate about ogiamito deliver differentiated medicines
patients. To achieve our mission, we are buildingaan, a culture and processes centered on creatthgharketing important new drugs. If we
are successful getting medicines to patients, vpe o earn the right to build an enduring pharmiceucompany, an outstanding business
will thrive well beyond our lifetimes and generatgbstantial returns for our stockholders. Furtheemid we are successful, we plan to reinvest
a portion of our future cash flows into our res@aand development organization in order to acctdeaad enhance our ability to bring new
products to market.

We believe that linaclotide, our guanyleyelase type-C, or GC-C, agonist being developedhi® treatment of patients with irritable
bowel syndrome with constipation, or IBS-C, or aficoconstipation, or CC, could present patientslagmthcare practitioners with a unique
therapy for a major medical need not yet met bgteng therapies. IBS-C and CC are gastrointestisalrders that affect millions of sufferers
worldwide, according to our analysis of studiedqaned by N.J. Talley (published in 1995 in themerican Journal of EpidemiologyP.D.R.
Higgins (published in 2004 in themerican Journal of Gastroenterologyand A.P.S. Hungin (published in 20034hmentary Pharmacology
and Therapeutick as well as 2007 U.S. census data. Linaclotidedeaggned by Ironwood scientists to target thendtegdi attributes of IBS-C:
abdominal pain, discomfort, bloating and constipatiLinaclotide acts locally in the gut with no eetable systemic exposure in humans at
therapeutic doses.

Linaclotide recently completed the cliniefficacy portion of its development program, agig favorable efficacy and safety results in
all four of its Phase 3 IBS-C and CC clinical tsiahcross these four trials, linaclotide met 66 @66 U.S. and European Union, or E.U.,
primary and secondary endpoints. In the eight PRam®d Phase 3 clinical studies in almost 3,700@&hd CC patients, linaclotide
demonstrated rapid and sustained improvement gfdfreand bloating as well as the constipation ¢pmg that define these chronic
gastrointestinal disorders, with good tolerabittyd convenient once-daily oral dosing. Based omehelts of our development program, we
intend to submit a New Drug Application, or NDA tiwithe Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, in th&d quarter of 2011, seeking
approval to market linaclotide to IBS-and CC patients age 18 and older in the U.S.I&ilyj our European partner, Almirall S.A., or Alrall,
intends to submit a Market Authorization Applicatjor MAA, with the European Medicines Agency, M, in the second half of 2011,
seeking approval to market linaclotide to IBS-Cigrats in the E.U. If linaclotide is approved forSBC and CC patients age 18 and older in the
U.S., we may seek to expand linaclotide's markpbdpnity by exploring its utility in other gastrdestinal indications and in the pediatric
population.

In each of the 12-week and 26-week Phagades in patients with IBS-C, linaclotide rapidgduced abdominal pain, abdominal
discomfort and bloating, and these reductions wastained throughout the entire treatment periothé 12-week trial, 50% of linaclotide-
treated patients had at least a 30% reductiondoerainal pain for at least six of the 12 weeks, @mntthe 26-week trial, 49% of linaclotide-
treated patients had at least a 30% reductiondorainal pain for at least six of the first 12 weekshe treatment period. In each trial, the
abdominal pain reduction was observed within
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the first week following initiation of therapy amegas sustained throughout the treatment periochér26-week trial, linaclotide elicited a 40%
mean decrease in abdominal pain by the sixth weedk% mean decrease by the twelfth week, and arb8&h decrease at the twenty-sixth
week.

As with abdominal pain, linaclotide-treaggatients experienced a significant improvemenminstipation symptoms during the first week
of treatment in each of the Phase 3 IBS-C and @fixal trials, and this improvement was sustairtedighout the whole treatment period.

In the four Phase 3 studies, diarrhea Wasrost common adverse event (seen in 14% to 20Wacfotide-treated patients), and the most
common adverse event that led to study discontimdin 3% to 6% of linaclotide-treated patienf3)arrhea has generally been mild to
moderate.

We have pursued a partnering strategydaorroercializing linaclotide that has enabled usetain significant control over linaclotide's
development and commercialization, share the swigiishigh-quality collaborators whose capabilit@snplement ours, and retain
approximately half of linaclotide's future long+teralue in the major pharmaceutical markets, shboétlotide meet our sales expectations.
As of December 31, 2010, licensing fees, milesfpmgments, related equity investments and developotests received from our linaclotide
partners total approximately $307 million.

In September 2007, we entered into a pestiye with Forest Laboratories, Inc., or Forest;@edevelop and co-market linaclotide in the
U.S. Under the terms of the collaboration agreemeatand Forest are jointly and equally fundingdegelopment and commercialization of
linaclotide in the U.S., with equal share of angfjis. Forest also has exclusive rights to develog commercialize linaclotide in Canada and
Mexico, and will pay us royalties in the miglens on any net sales in these countries. Iniaddd having reimbursed us for half of linaclote
development costs since September 2007, Foregididisis $100 million in license fees and milestpagments to date and has purchased
$25 million of our capital stock pursuant to thdl@ooration agreement. Remaining pre-commerciaéstine payments could total up to
$20 million upon NDA acceptance by the FDA and @85 million upon NDA approval. If linaclotide ssiccessfully developed and
commercialized in the U.S., total licensing, mitest payments and related equity investments todsrithe Forest collaboration agreement
could total up to $330 million, including the $1&#llion that has already been paid to us. Unlessiteated by either us or Forest for material
breach, violation of law, bankruptcy or certain exbe changes of control of the other party, or dmest for convenience, the collaboration
agreement will continue in full force and effecthviespect to each of the U.S., Canada and Mesidorsy as we and Forest are developing or
commercializing a product under the agreement.

In April 2009, we entered into a licenseeggnent with Almirall to develop and commercialimaclotide in Europe (including the
Commonwealth of Independent States countries ankEYufor the treatment of IBE-and other gastrointestinal conditions. Underténms of
the license agreement, Almirall has paid us $5%aniin license fees and milestone payments ancgpbeshased $15 million of our capital
stock. Remaining pre-commercial milestone paymeaisd total up to $20 million. Almirall is respoi for activities and expenses relating
to regulatory approval and commercialization in Bugopean market. If Almirall receives approvafarket and sell linaclotide in Europe, we
will receive gross royalties which escalate basedales volume in the territory, beginning in thietaventies, less the transfer price paid for
the active pharmaceutical ingredient, or API. Uslesminated by either us or Almirall for matefi@éach, violation of law or bankruptcy, by
Almirall for convenience, or by us in the eventanf adverse change of control of Almirall, the lisermgreement will continue in full force and
effect on a country-by-country basis until Almiredino longer developing or commercializing linditle in such country.

In November 2009, we entered into a liceageement with Astellas Pharma Inc., or Astetiaglevelop and commercialize linaclotide
the treatment of IBS-C and other gastrointestioalditions
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in Japan, South Korea, Taiwan, Thailand, the Rtiitips and Indonesia. Under the terms of the licagseement, Astellas paid us a $30 mil
up-front licensing fee. Remaining pre-commercidkestone payments could total up to $45 million.ess is responsible for activities and
expenses relating to regulatory approval and coricdéation in those markets. If Astellas receiapproval to market and sell linaclotide, we
will receive gross royalties which escalate basedales volume in the territory, beginning in tbetwenties, less the transfer price paid for
the API. Unless terminated in all or certain coigstby either us or Astellas for material breachbamkruptcy, by Astellas for convenience, or
by us in the event of an adverse change of coaofrAktellas, the license agreement will continuduihforce and effect until the later of (a) the
last-to-expire valid claim of our patent rights foraclotide in the countries listed above has eegbr (b) Astellas is no longer developing or
commercializing linaclotide in all of the countrigsted above.

We have retained all rights to linaclotméside of the territories discussed above.

In addition to five years of exclusivity der the Drug Price Competition and Patent TermdRasbn Act of 1984, or the Hatch-Waxman
Act, that would be granted if linaclotide is appedvby the FDA, linaclotide is covered by a U.S. position of matter patent that expires in
2025, subject to possible patent term extensiamadlotide is also covered by E.U. and Japanese asitign of matter patents, both of which
expire in 2024, subject to possible patent terneresion.

We invest carefully in our pipeline, an@ tommitment of funding for each subsequent sthgeirndevelopment programs is dependent
upon the receipt of clear, supportive data. Lintéois our only product candidate that has demratest clinical proof of concept. We have a
pipeline of early stage, pre-proof of concept depaient candidates in multiple therapeutic area$iidting gastrointestinal disease, pain and
inflammation, and respiratory disease. We are edsmlucting early stage, preclinical research is¢herapeutic areas, as well as in the ar
cardiovascular disease. Finally, we are activelyaged in evaluating externally-discovered drug @datds at all stages of development. In
evaluating potential assets, we apply the sameriaias those used for investments in internabgaiered assets.

We were incorporated in Delaware on JanGafy998.
Owner-related Business Principles

We encourage all current and potentialldtoltlers to read the owner-related business pileipelow that guide our overall strategy and
decision making.

1. lronwood's stockholders own the business;laf our employees work for them.

Each of our employees also has equityerbilsiness, aligning their interests with theilofglstockholders. As employees and co-owners
of Ironwood, our management and employee teamtseeffectively allocate scarce stockholder cagitahaximize the average annual growth
of per share value.

Through our policies and communication,sgek to attract like-minded owner-oriented stoctbrd. We strive to effectively
communicate our views of the business opportunitfesrisks over time so that entering and exitbogleholders are doing so at a price that
approximately reflects our intrinsic value.

2. We believe we can best maximize long-ternoskholder value by building a great pharmaceuticafranchise.

We believe that Ironwood has the potentiaeliver outstanding long-term returns to stodékos who are sober to the risks inherent in
the pharmaceutical product development model atldetgotential dramatic highs and lows along thg,vaad who focus on superior long-
term, per share cash flows.
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Since the pharmaceutical product develogrogele is lengthy and unpredictable, we believe dritical to have a long-term strategic
horizon. We work hard to embed our long-term foictis our policies and practices, which may giveausmpetitive advantage in attracting
like-minded stockholders and the highest calibseaechers. Our current and future employees magiperboth financial and qualitative
advantages in having their inventions or hard wesdult in marketed drugs that they and their felstackholders continue to own. Some of
key policies and practices that are aligned with itthperative include:

a. Our dual class equity voting stroet(which applies only in the event of change oftoal votes) is designed to concentrate
change of control decisions in the hands of lomgtcused owners who have a history of experieviteus.

b. Compensation is weighted to equitgrasalary for all of our employees, and many elygds have a significant portion of
their incentive compensation in milestone-basedtgguants that reward achievement of major valteating events a number of years
out from the time of grant.

c. We have adopted a change of coeeeérance plan for all of our employees that isrided to encourage them to bring
forward their best ideas by providing them with doenfort that if a change of control occurs andrtemployment is terminated, they
will still have an opportunity to share in the eooric value that they have helped create for stolcldrs.

d. All of the members of our board @kdtors are substantial investors in the compB&aoythermore, each director is required to
hold all shares of stock acquired as payment feohier service as a director throughout his otédren on the board.

e. Our partnerships with Forest, Alrhiaad Astellas all include standstill agreementsich serve to protect us from an
unwelcome acquisition attempt by one of our pagnkr addition, we have change of control provisionour partnership agreement
order to protect the economic value of linaclostieuld the acquirer of one of our partners be wablnwilling to devote the time a
resources required to make the program successful.

3. We are and will remain careful stewards ofar stockholders' capital.
We work intensely to allocate capital caligfand prudently, continually reinforcing a leamst-conscious culture.

While we are mindful of the declining prativity and inherent challenges of pharmaceutieakarch and development, we intend to
invest in discovery research for many years to cdg singular passion is to create and develoglindnug candidates, seeking to integrate
most successful drugmaking practices of the pastlas best of today's cutting-edge technologiestasit research advances. While we hope
to improve the productivity and efficiency of ouud creation efforts over time, our discovery psseevolves around small, highly interact
cross-functional teams. We believe that this is ame@a where our relatively small size is a competiddvantage, so for the foreseeable future,
we do not expect our drug discovery team to groyohd 100-150 scientists. We will continue to ptii@e constrained resources and maintain
organizational discipline. Once internally- or exialy-derived candidates advance into developnmmpounds follow careful stage-gated
plans, with further advancement depending on data points. Since most pharmaceutical researcllevelopment projects fail, it is critical
that our teams are rigorous in driving to earlyngogo decisions, following the data, terminatinguetessful programs, and allocating scarce
dollars and talent to the most promising effottsistenhancing the likelihood of late phase devekirauccess.

4. We believe commercializing our drugs is a acial element of our long-term success.

For the foreseeable future, we intend &y @in active role in the commercialization of otoducts in the U.S., and to out-license
commercialization rights for other territories. \Believe in the
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long-term value of our drug candidates, so we se#lkborations that provide meaningful economiad Excentives for us and any potential
partner. Furthermore, we seek partners who shareabwes, culture, processes, and vision for oadpcts, which we believe will enable us to
work with those partners successfully for the enpiotential patent life of our drugs.

5.  Our financial goal is to maximize long-termper share cash flows.

Our goal is to maximize long-term cash fioper share, and we will prioritize this even ieds to uneven short-term financial results
from an accounting perspective. If and when we becprofitable, we expect and accept uneven earmgjraysth. Our underlying product
development model is risky and unpredictable, ardm¥ not advance marginal development candidatesonsummate suboptimal in-license
transactions in an attempt to fill anticipated gapsevenue growth. Successful drugs can be encstpdeneficial to patients and highly
profitable and rewarding to stockholders, and weete strongly in our ability to occasionally (bubt in regular or predictable fashion) create
and commercialize great medicines that make a mghnidifference in patients’ lives.

If and when we reach profitability, we dat intend to issue quarterly or annual earningsl@uie, however we plan to be transparent :
the key elements of our performance, including +tean operating plans and longer-term strategidsgoa

Our Strategy

Our goal is to discover, develop and conuadize differentiated medicines that improve patiselives, and to generate outstanding ret
for our stockholders. Key elements of our stratiegjude:

. attract and incentivize a team with a singular jwastr creating and commercializing medicines et make a significal
difference in patients' lives;

. successfully commercialize linaclotide in collakt@ra with Forest in the U.S.;

. support our international partners to commercidlizaclotide outside of the U.S

. harvest the maximum value of linaclotide outsidewf partnered territorie

. if approved for IBS-C and CC, develop linaclotide the treatment of other gastrointestinal disaaard for the pediatric
population;

. invest in our pipeline of novel product candidedes evaluate candidates outside of the comparnip-licensing or acquisitio

opportunities;

. maximize the commercial potential of our drugs padicipate in an important way in the economicewkthey reach the
market; and
. execute our strategy with our stockholders' lomgataterests in mind by seeking to maximize longrt@er share cash flows.

Linaclotide Overview

IBS-C and CC are functional gastrointedtitisorders that afflict millions of sufferers wdwide. IBS-C is characterized by frequent and
recurrent abdominal pain and/or discomfort and tipason symptoms €.g. infrequent bowel movements, hard/lumpy stoolsising during
defecation). CC is primarily characterized by cgragton symptoms, but a majority of these patieafsrt experiencing bloating and abdom
discomfort as among their most bothersome symptéweilable treatment options primarily improve ctpation, leading healthcare provid
to diagnose and manage IBS-C and CC based onfetgakncy. However, patients view these conditemsnulti-symptom disorders, and
while laxatives can be effective at relieving cgrestion symptoms, they do not necessarily imprdwgoaninal pain, discomfort or bloating, a
can often exacerbate these symptoms. This discbheegeen patients and physicians, amplified bjep&' embarrassment to discuss all of
their
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gastrointestinal symptoms, often delays diagnasisraay compromise treatment, possibly causing @it suffering and disruption to
patients' daily activities.

IBS-C and CC are chronic conditions chamazed by frequent and bothersome symptoms thatatieally affect patients' daily lives. We
believe that gastroesophageal reflux disease, &[5 Eerves as a reasonable analogue to illustratpdtential for a treatment that effectively
relieves chronic gastrointestinal symptoms. Based study performed by M. Camilleri published ir080n Clinical Gastroenterology and
Hepatologyand 2007 U.S. census data, we estimate that in, 2@@roximately 40 million people in the U.S. suéfé from GERD. The typical
GERD sufferer, who experiences frequent episodégaitburn poorly controlled by over the counterdorcts, will commonly seek medical
care and is generally treated with a proton purhbitor, such as Prilosec (omeprazole), Nexium ifgsqarazole magnesium), Prevacid
(lansoprazole), or Protonix (pantoprazole). Accogdio IMS Health, peak sales of the proton pumjbiidr class reached $12.8 billion in
November 2007. The proton pump inhibitors genenattyide relief of key heartburn symptoms withie first week of treatment and hav
favorable safety and tolerability profile. Once GERatients experience relief of heartburn, theyltenbe highly adherent to therapy, taking a
proton pump inhibitor for approximately 200 daygear, according to IMS Health. The relief of bod@mne symptoms and the recurrence of
symptoms following discontinuation, serve to reie®patient adherence to chronic therapy for fomet disorders, like GERD, IBS-and CC

U.S. IBS-C and CC Opportunity

Based on the Talley and Higgins studiesgliss performed by F.A. Luscombe (published in 2i@0Quality of Life Researchand J.F.
Johanson (published in 2007Afimentary Pharmacology and Therapeutjcand 2007 U.S. census data, we estimate th&d,2
approximately 35 million to 46 million people ingtJ.S. suffered from symptoms of IESand CC, of whom between 9 million to 15.5 mill
patients sought medical care. As a result of the fkan optimal treatment options currently avéglapatients seeking care experienced a very
low level of satisfaction. Due to patients' lacksatisfaction with existing treatment options, albf@f6 of patients stop prescription therapy
within one month, according to IMS Health. It idiested that patients seek medical care from fivenore different healthcare providers over
the course of their illness with limited or no sesss, as shown in a 2009 study by D.A. Drossmaneddurnal of Clinical Gastroenterology
Many of the remaining patients are too embarrasséiscuss the full range of their symptoms, ordtirer reasons do not see the need to seek
medical care and continue to suffer in silence evbiisuccessfully self-treating with fiber, OTC laxas and other remedies which improve
constipation, but often exacerbate pain and blgatin

Irritable Bowel Syndrome with ConstipationBased on the Talley study and 2007 U.S. cedatss we estimate that in 2007,
approximately 12 million people or 5.2% of the UaBult population suffered from symptoms associatith IBS-C. As shown in a study
conducted by the International Foundation of Fumetl Gastrointestinal Disorders, or IFFGD, in 2080st 35% of all IBS-C patients report
suffering from some related symptoms daily. Basethis data and the Luscombe study, we estimateuthto 7 million of these patients
sought medical attention for their symptoms. Basethe Talley, Luscombe and Johanson studies abidl @C5. census data, we estimate that
between 5 million to 9 million sufferers have notsulted a physician and attempt to manage theipgyms with over the counter fiber and
laxatives. Patients with IBS-C who seek medicakcaceive either a recommendation from their pligsifor an over the counter product or a
prescription medication. As shown in a study conelddy the IFFGD in 2007, for all treated IBS-Cigats, there continues to be a low rate of
satisfaction with relief of their symptoms, with®2f patients reporting that they are not fullyisféed with their treatments; and 77% of
patients reporting that they were unsatisfied witkrall care by their physician.

6
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Chronic Constipation. Based on the Higgins study and 2007 U.S. cedatss we estimate that in 2007, 23 million to 3diom people,
or 10% to 15% of the U.S. adult population, weresing from CC. Based on this data and the Johassady, we estimate that of the total
sufferers, only 6 million to 8.5 million patientsftering from CC sought medical care. Almost altloése patients, whether or not seeking
medical care for their symptoms, took an over nenter or prescription treatment, or both. SimitatBS-C, there continues to be a low rate
treatment satisfaction, with over 70% of thosengldver the counter and prescription laxatives mampthat they are not fully satisfied with
their treatment results as shown in the Johansamly st

As shown in the figure below, accordind t&. Brandt in a study published in 2005 in thmerican Journal of Gastroenterologthe
symptoms underlying both disorders can be viewed oontinuum. During a consultation, patients witen discuss only the predominant
symptom making it difficult for physicians to efteely diagnose and treat. For most patients, ¢pasbn is also accompanied by a set of
symptoms broader than straining and infrequendyoafel movements. Given the limitations of availaipéatment options in addressing
multiple symptoms, physicians tend to focus onnttost easily treatable symptom, constipation. Ouketaesearch suggests that most
physicians view abdominal pain and bloating addliff to treat. We believe that linaclotide's pleftould offer health care providers the
opportunity to identify, diagnose, and treat thieeotimportant symptoms experienced by IBS-C andh@ints.

¢ CC > < IBS-C—

2 million = 13 million +
patients

26 million — 33 million patients

No abdominal
discomfort, G 2 : y !
blaating, or fullness Abdominal pain, discomfort and bloating

4+——— Siraining, decreased stool frequency, hard stogl ————

IBS-C and CC Opportunity Outside of U.SWe believe that the prevalence rates of IB&Europe and Japan are similar to the
prevalence rates in the U.S.

Burden of lliness. Both IBS-C and CC adversely affect the quadityife of patients, leading to increased absestadrom work or
school and increased costs to the healthcare systecording to both a study by A.P.S. Hungin puldid in 2005 irAlimentary
Pharmacology & Therapeuticand the Johanson study, patients with IBS-C andep@rtedly suffer from their symptoms on averagé a6d
97 days per year, respectively, and, accordingedirossman study, over one third have experietimdsymptoms for more than ten years
a typical month, IBS-C and CC patients will missaarerage of one to three days of school or worgpm@ting to Johanson's study and a study
by B. Cash published in 2005 Tihe American Journal of Medical Carand their productivity will be disrupted an adialital four to five days
per month, according to the Cash study. When the t&f suffering becomes acutely overwhelming fatignts, they seek care at an ambula
care facility. In 2004, CC was the second most comause for ambulatory care visits after GERDpetting to a 2008 article by J.E.
Everhart published ifunctional Intestinal DisordersAccording to the Everhart article, CC accountadd.3 million ambulatory care visits
(when considered as part of any listed diagnosid)IBS accounted for 3 million ambulatory care tgisEstimates of the indirect and direct
costs associated with these conditions range upnafr$i25 billion, according to a study publishe@@00 by M. Camilleri and D.E. Williams
in Pharmacoeconomics

Treatment Options for IBS-C and CCBYy the time patients seek care from a physjdia@y have typically tried a number of available
remedies and remain unsatisfied. Most IBS-C andp@tients initially attempt self-treatment with otke counter medications such as
laxatives, stool softeners or fiber supplementatiswell as attempts to modify their diet. Whibere of these therapies offer
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limited success in transit-related symptoms, thiésr dittle to no effect on other bothersome symmsofrom which patients are suffering.
Unfortunately, physicians have very limited treatineptions beyond what is readily available to plagient alone. Physicians typically rely on
fiber and laxatives, which can exacerbate bloaimg abdominal pain, the same symptoms from whiahyrpatients are seeking relief and
which are the most troubling to treat. In an attetofhelp alleviate the more severe abdominal spmptassociated with IBS-C and CC,
healthcare providers sometimes prescribe medicatitat have not been approved by the FDA for tivedieations, such as anti-depressant or
antispasmodic agents.

Polyethylene glycol, or PEG (such as Mixaland lactulose, account for the majority of prgstion and over the counter laxative
treatments. Both agents demonstrate an increadeohfrequency and consistency but do not impitweating or abdominal discomfort.
Clinical trials and product labels document sevathlerse effects with PEG and lactulose, incluéixacerbation of bloating, cramping and,
according to the Brandt study, up to a 40% incigeofcdiarrhea. Overall, up to 75% of patients tgiimescription laxatives report not being
completely satisfied with the predictability of whthey will experience a bowel movement on treatiemd 50% were not completely satis
with relief of the multiple symptoms associatedhaébnstipation, according to the Johanson study.

In 2002, the FDA approved Zelnorm, thetfirew drug for the treatment of IBS-and in 2004, Zelnorm was approved for the treatnof
CC. Zelnorm is a serotonin 5-HT4 receptor agomigh a mechanism of action completely separatedisiihct from the mechanism of action
underlying linaclotide's activity. As a newly a\able treatment option to potentially address sohteeosymptoms beyond the scope of
laxatives and fiber, Zelnorm achieved great suctesaising patient and physician awareness of (8&d CC. During the five years that
Zelnorm was promoted, total prescriptions in thiegary grew three fold, and in 2006, there wereentban 16 million total prescriptions
written for treating patients with IBS-C and CCc¢anding to IMS Health. Prior to its withdrawal, 2006, Zelnorm total sales were
approximately $561 million. In 2007, Zelnorm waghwdrawn from the market by its manufacturer duart@nalysis that found a higher cha
of heart attack, stroke and chest pain in patigatted with Zelnorm as compared to placebo. Despiddest effectiveness relieving abdominal
pain (1% to 10% of patients responding to treatnasntompared to placebo) and bloating (4% to 11f@ténts responding to treatment as
compared to placebo) as described on the Zelnooehugt label, Zelnorm succeeded in establishingngpsym-based approach highlighting the
need to recognize and treat, on a chronic basik,the abdominal and constipation symptoms affigtihese patients.

Currently, the only available prescriptitverapy for IBS-C and CC is Amitiza, which was apgad for the treatment of CC in 2006, and
for IBS-C in 2008. Amitiza sales have been modestimparison to Zelnorm sales prior to its withdahfwom the market, according to IMS
Health.

Although a significant unmet need existstfetter treatments for IBS-C and CC, there arg few treatments in late-stage clinical
development. The most recent entrant to the CC etialdce, solely in Europe, is Resolor (prucalopriéesolor was approved in 2009 by the
EMA and is indicated for the treatment of CC in weanfor whom laxatives have failed to provide adeguelief. Resolor, which is marketed
by Shire-Movetis, is a serotonintb¥4 receptor agonist like Zelnorm. Resolor is cotiein Phase 3 trials being studied as a potetréatmen
for CC in males and for opioid induced constipaiohC). Johnson & Johnson has U.S. rights to poméde. The U.S. patent covering the
composition of matter expires in 2015.

The Linaclotide Opportunity. Linaclotide is a promising potential treatméontpatients suffering from both abdominal and dipagion
symptoms related to IBS-C and CC. Based on théaliprofile we have observed to date, we beli@vadotide is well positioned to provide
IBS-C and
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CC patients with much needed reduction in abdon@ndlconstipation symptoms, with a low incidencaaferse events, and a convenient
once daily, oral dosing regimen.

Annually, we estimate that over 30 milli®d-day units of laxative and fiber medications guechased in an effort to relieve chronic
abdominal and constipation symptoms. Based on mallysis of data from IMS Health, The Nielsen Compand abstracts by P. Schoenfelc
al. and W. Chey, et al. for the American Colleg&aistroenterology 2010 Annual Meeting and the 18tlted European Gastroenterology
Week, respectively, these 30 million units are cosgal of 7-8 million laxative prescriptions for gatts with constipation and abdominal
symptoms and approximately 22 million over-the-deu{OTC) laxative and fiber units for chronic getis. Assuming a price comparable to
those for branded prescription drugs for otherrgagestinal indications that are made availablRé@ubook and First Databank, the daily cost
for linaclotide treatment per patient could rangerf $5.50 to $8.50 per day, with a prescriptiort ©d$165 to $250 per month. Applying these
assumptions to the potential market as a wholsetB8 million units could represent a potential.lé@nmercial opportunity for a safe and
effective IBS-C/CC drug in excess of $6 billion year. Since many of these 30 million units areta&pisodically or as rescue medications,
there exists a potential upside in the marketefahnual days of therapy increases, assuming entairc patients desire to manage and control
their symptoms chronically. There is also the fdulsi that new patients could enter the marketplas awareness of a new therapy increases.

Mechanism of Action

The underlying causes of the abdominal,pdistcomfort and bloating suffered by patients vdtiver gastrointestinal disorders like IBS-C
and CC are poorly understood. Further, becausermitfierapeutic agents offer limited improvemerthigse symptoms, there has been limited
medical research in this area. Since our clinitadiss indicate that linaclotide provides rapid andtained improvement of these symptoms,
we have invested significant effort to define thecmanisms of linaclotide's physiological effects.

Linaclotide is a 14 amino acid peptide dgbaf GC-C, a receptor found on the epithelialsctiat line the intestine. Activation of GC-C
leads to increases in intracellular and extracalayclic guanosine monophosphate, or cGMP, lee€81P is a well characterized "second
messenger" that relays and amplifies signals rededt receptors on the cell surface to target mitdedn the cytosol and/or nucleus of a cell.
We believe increased cGMP has dual effects ontinsgunction. First, as the figure below showSMP can exit the epithelial cells to block
pain signaling by inhibiting the pain-sensing newsrthat carry signals from the gastrointestinaittta the central nervous system (afferent pain
fibers). Second, cGMP can remain inside the epéthegll to activate protein kinase Gll, or PKGMhich activates the protein Cystic Fibrosis
Transmembrane conductance Regulator, or CFTR, bggttorylation, or P, to stimulate electrolyte (Na sodium, CI = chloride, and
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HCO ;" = bicarbonate) and fluid (5O = water) secretion into the intestinal lumen. Tésulting increase in intestinal fluid volume decates
intestinal transit.

pain fibers

Our preclinical work supports the above elddr the actions of linaclotide. Regarding thieef on pain sensation, we have found that
increased extracellular cGMP inhibited noxious-siims-induced firing of afferent pain fibers. In dtitth, oral dosing with either linaclotide or
directly with cGMP significantly reduced abdomimpalin responses in a number of preclinical modelsilé\much work remains to be done,
hypothesize that the reduction in abdominal pailoaninal discomfort, and visceral hypersensitigiéen both preclinically and clinically is a
result of increased extracellular cGMP, which meguce firing of pain-sensing neurons and thus @sersensitivity to otherwise painful
stimuli.

Additionally, in other preclinical studidsaclotide was shown to increase intracellulaMi®; leading to activation of channels in
intestinal cell membranes that resulted in theetemr of ions and fluid out of intestinal cells aintb the intestinal lumen. Increased fluid in the
intestinal lumen causes accelerated intestinasiran

Importantly, linaclotide's effects on pagnsation and gastrointestinal transit/secretierdapendent on the presence of the Gf@ceptot
in preclinical experiments where the GC-C receptas genetically deleted, the effects of linaclotidepain sensation and secretion were
eliminated.

The binding and activity of linaclotidethe GC-C receptor is highly specific. Linaclotidesmo effect on the serotonin system, unlike
Zelnorm, Resolor, cisapride (Propulsid, which wagraved for heartburn caused by GERD), or alosgfrotronex, which was approved for
irritable bowel syndrome with diarrhea), each ofahhwork through serotonin receptors in the intestiZzelnorm, Propulsid and Lotronex were
all withdrawn from the market because of safetyceons.

Clinical

Linaclotide recently completed the efficgmyrtion of its clinical development program, ana tong-term safety studies are still ongoing.
The clinical development program consists of 18ligsiin over 4,600 people: three in healthy volargefour in IBS-C patients, four in CC
patients, and two long-term safety studies in IB&1@ CC patients.

Manufacturing and Supply

It is our goal to consistently and reliaplypduce and supply the highest quality drugs topatients on a worldwide basis, with
redundancy built into each critical step of the ofasturing process. We currently execute our glgatluction and delivery of linaclotide
through a combination
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of independent third party organizations and odiaboration partners. We believe that we have sigffit in-house expertise to lead and
manage our virtual global supply chain for linaieton an ongoing basis to meet worldwide patiemiand, should it be approved by the
regulatory authorities.

Pharmaceutical manufacturing consists of jlvases—manufacturing of the active pharmacedutigatdient, or API (sometimes referred
to as drug substance), and manufacturing of thea €irug product. We currently use contract manufaes for the production of linaclotide
API. Linaclotide is a 14 amino acid peptide, mactiged via solid phase synthesis using naturalbpoing amino acids. We and Forest
entered into a commercial supply agreement witlyPeptide Laboratories, Inc. and Polypeptide Lalwiasé (SWEDEN) AB for the
manufacture of the linaclotide API that will be dge obtain regulatory approval of linaclotide retU.S., Canada and/or Mexico, and, pen
any such approval, that will be incorporated itte finished product for commercialization in th@sentries. We continue to pursue additional
commercial supply agreements with other manufacdufor linaclotide API for U.S. and worldwide us&e believe our commercial suppliers
will have the capabilities to produce linaclotid®lAn accordance with current good manufacturiragtices, or GMP, on a sufficient scale to
meet our commercial needs.

Each of our collaboration partners, ForAbnirall and Astellas, is responsible for linagti® drug product manufacturing in its respective
territory. In addition, we are pursuing arrangersemith other manufacturers for the drug product nfacturing of linaclotide in the parts of 1
world outside of our partnered territories, andutdther ensure continuity of drug product supplyartnered territories. Previous to linaclotide,
there was little or no precedent for producing avemient, room-temperature stable dosage form afralty delivered peptide drug with a
significant market opportunity. Our team developddrmulation with simple, safe excipients that \8hswn to be stable at room temperature
for at least 24 months in various development kestcin addition, we have demonstrated stabilityhése development batches under
accelerated conditions of 40°C with 75% relativenidity for six months, which, based on industryqa@ent, is predictive of stability of
greater than 18 months at room temperature congiti/e optimized our formulation following the aehement of development batch
stability, and prepared scale up batches and Rhelaical trial material for stability testing. €se scale up batches and Phase 3 clinical trial
material batches have shown acceptable room temuperstability at the six, 12 and 18 month timenp&i Our partners, Forest and Almirall,
have prepared pre-registration and registratioohastto be utilized for regulatory submissionshigirtrespective territories. We, together with
Forest, are on track to submit an NDA in the thjudrter of 2011. Almirall is on track to submitBMA in the second half of 2011. We and
partners will continue to monitor those batchesxgdorward.

We believe our efforts to date have led formulation that is both cost effective and ableneet the stability requirements for
pharmaceutical products. Our work in this areadnaated an opportunity to seek additional intellatproperty protections around the
linaclotide program. In conjunction with Forest, thveve filed patent applications worldwide to cother room temperature stable linaclotide
formulation as well as related formulations. Ifsheclaims are allowed, they would expire in 202thanU.S. These patent rights would be
subject to any potential patent term adjustmenextensions and/or supplemental protection ceatiéis extending such term extensions in
countries where such extensions may become awailabl

Sales and Marketing

For the foreseeable future, we intend teettgp and commercialize our drugs in the U.S. almneith partners, while out-licensing
commercialization rights for other territories.drecuting our strategy, our goal is to retain sigant control over the development process
commercial execution for our products, while pdptting in a meaningful way in the economics ofdaligs that we bring to the market.
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We plan to develop our commercial orgamiwaaround linaclotide, with the intent to leverdpes organization for future products. To
deliver on our strategy, we intend to create a+sjgality commercial organization dedicated to bimgginnovative, highly-valued healthcare
solutions to our customers, including patients,gpayand healthcare providers.

Maximizing the Value of Linaclotide in the U

Our commercial strategy for linaclotideagdproved, will be to establish linaclotide as phescription product of choice for both IBESanc
CC. We, together with our U.S. commercializationtper Forest, plan to build awareness that patisuffer from multiple, highly bothersome
symptoms of IBS-C and CC, and that these sympt@nsicamatically impair sufferers' quality of life.

Forest has demonstrated the ability to esgftlly launch innovative products, penetrate prircare markets and drive the growth of
multiple brands in highly competitive markets. Rirerings large and experienced sales, nationaluaits, trade relations, operations and
management teams providing ready access to priozaeyoffices and key managed care accounts. Wedtaorgg alignment with Forest and a
shared vision for linaclotide. The combined markgtieam possesses a deep understanding of gastidegy and primary care customers,
this knowledge will be utilized to develop a comipgl medical message and promotional campaignérhtipe of delivering an effective
treatment for patients suffering with the definsygnptoms of IBS-C and CC.

Maximizing the Value of Linaclotide Outside the {

We have out-licensed commercialization tsgbr territories outside of the U.S. to AlmirallEurope and Astellas in Japan, South Korea,
Taiwan, Thailand, the Philippines and Indonesia.

Almirall provides access to the higheseptial European markets with an established dpeetence in each of the United Kingdom,
Italy, France, Germany and Spain, and also hassepce in Austria, Belgium, the Nordics, Polandfl®@l and Switzerland. Almirall plans to
coordinate sales and marketing efforts from itdreg¢office in an effort to ensure consistencyted bverall brand strategy and objectively
assess performance. Almirall's knowledge of thallotarkets should help to facilitate regulatoryess; reimbursement and market penetration
through a customized approach to implementing ptamal and selling campaigns in the E.U.

Astellas is one of Japan's largest pharotazd companies and has top commercial capalsilitieboth primary care and specialty
categories throughout Asia. Their demonstratedtpld market innovative medicines and their grogvgastrointestinal franchise in Japan
make them an ideal partner for Ironwood.

We have retained all rights to linaclotméside of the territories discussed above.
Pipeline Strategy

We invest significant effort defining arefining our research and development process authiteg internally our approach to drug-
making. We favor programs with early decision pgjntell validated targets, predictive preclinicaldels, initial chemical leads and clear
paths to approval, all in the context of a targetpct profile that can address significant unnratralerserved clinical needs. We emphasize
data-driven decision making, strive to advancesoninate projects early based on clearly defindd@go criteria, prioritize programs at all
stages and fluidly allocate our capital to the npwsmising programs. We continue to work diligenthyensure this disciplined approach is
ingrained in our culture and processes and expatbiur research productivity will continue to irape as our team gains more experience and
capabilities. Moreover, we hope that as our pasai@hstyle of drug-making becomes better validatedi more widely known, we will be able
to attract additional like-minded researchers to fur cause.
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To date, all of our product candidates hasen discovered internally. We believe our discpteam has created a number of promising
candidates over the past few years and has devklopextensive intellectual property estate in eddhese areas. In addition we are actively
seeking to identify attractive external opportuestiWe utilize the same critical filters for invasint when evaluating external programs as we
do with our own, internally-derived candidates.

Pipeline

We aim to create differentiated, first-lass/best-in-class medicines that provide relief elrar therapeutic benefits to patients suffering
from chronic diseases. To support this vision, &eehongoing efforts to identify product candiddtes strengthen our pipeline, including
treatments for gastrointestinal disorders, painiafildmmation, respiratory disease, and cardioviasalisease. Linaclotide is our only product
candidate that has demonstrated clinical proobotept. We have a pipeline of early stage, prefpzbooncept development candidates in
multiple therapeutic areas, including gastrointestdisease, pain and inflammation, and respirad@gase. We are also conducting early s
preclinical research in these therapeutic areasglisas in the area of cardiovascular disease.

Patents and Proprietary Rights

We actively seek to protect the proprietaghnology that we consider important to our bess# including pursuing patents that cover our
products and compositions, their methods of usetlagrocesses for their manufacture, as well go#rer relevant inventions and
improvements that are commercially important todbeelopment of our business. We also rely on tezteets that may be important to the
development of our business.

Our success will depend significantly om ability to obtain and maintain patent and otheppietary protection for the technology,
inventions and improvements we consider importamur business; defend our patents; preserve thfedentiality of our trade secrets; and
operate without infringing the patents and propigtights of third parties.

Linaclotide and GC-C Patent Portfolio

Our linaclotide patent portfolio is currBntomposed of five issued U.S. patents, two grieropean patents (each of which has been
validated in 31 European countries and in Hong Kpagranted Japanese patent, eight issued patesttser foreign jurisdictions, and
numerous pending provisional, U.S. non-provisiofakign and PCT patent applications. We own athefissued patents and own or jointly
own all of the pending applications.

The issued U.S. patents, which will exfiedween 2024 and 2028, contain claims directedddinaclotide molecule, pharmaceutical
compositions thereof, methods of using linaclotmé&eat gastrointestinal disorders and procesmesiéking the molecule. If claims in our
pending patent application covering the room terajpee stable formulation are allowed, they woulgdiexin August 2029. The granted
European patent, which will expire in 2024, congaitaims directed to the linaclotide molecule, pi@ceutical compositions thereof and uses
of linaclotide to prepare medicaments for treatiagtrointestinal disorders. The pending provisiodas. non-provisional, foreign and PCT
applications contain claims directed to linaclotade related molecules, pharmaceutical formulattbeseof, methods of using linaclotide to
treat various diseases and disorders and prockssasking the molecule. These patent applicatidrissued, will expire between 2024 and
2031.

In addition to the patents and patent @pfibns related to linaclotide, we currently have éssued U.S. patent and a number of pending
provisional, U.S. non-provisional, foreign and P&jplications directed to other GCagonist molecules, pharmaceutical compositioasetf,
methods
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of using these molecules to treat various diseaséslisorders and processes of synthesizing thecwlels. The issued U.S. patent will expire
in 2024. The patent applications, if issued, wilbiee between 2024 and 2029.

Additional Intellectual Property

Our pipeline patent portfolio is currentigmposed of three issued U.S. patents; a grantezpBan patent (which has been validated in
31 European countries and in Hong Kong); six isquegénts in other foreign jurisdictions; and nunusrpending provisional, U.S. non-
provisional, foreign and PCT patent applicationg &Wn all of the issued patents and own or joiatiy all of the pending applications. One
the issued U.S. patents expires in 2022, and ther divo patents expire in 2024. The European patethithe other foreign issued patents e»
in 2024. The pending patent applications, if isswét expire between 2024 and 2031.

The term of individual patents depends ugh@nlegal term of the patents in the countriestiich they are obtained. In most countries in
which we file, the patent term is 20 years fromdhage of filing the non-provisional application.the U.S., a patent's term may be lengthened
by patent term adjustment, which compensates atestéor administrative delays by the U.S. Patedt Brademark Office in granting a pate
or may be shortened if a patent is terminally @discked over an earlier-filed patent.

The patent term of a patent that coverB@A-approved drug may also be eligible for patentt extension, which permits patent term
restoration as compensation for the patent tertrdiasng the FDA regulatory review process. ThedHaiVaxman Act permits a patent term
extension of up to five years beyond the expiratibthe patent. The length of the patent term esitemis related to the length of time the drug
is under regulatory review. Patent extension caertEnd the remaining term of a patent beyonda tdt14 years from the date of product
approval and only one patent applicable to an afggt@rug may be extended. Similar provisions agglalvle in Europe and other foreign
jurisdictions to extend the term of a patent tlmatess an approved drug. We expect to apply formiaéem extensions for some of our curr
patents, depending upon the length of clinicaldréand other factors involved in the submissioaNDA.

Government Regulation

In the U.S., pharmaceutical products alges to extensive regulation by the FDA. The FatlEpod, Drug, and Cosmetic Act and other
federal and state statutes and regulations, goaerong other things, the research, developmeiitgesnanufacture, storage, recordkeeping,
approval, labeling, promotion and marketing, digttion, post-approval monitoring and reporting, pling, and import and export of
pharmaceutical products. The FDA has very broadreafment authority and failure to abide by applieabgulatory requirements can result in
administrative or judicial sanctions being imposedus, including warning letters, refusals of gowmeent contracts, clinical holds, civil
penalties, injunctions, restitution, disgorgemenprofits, recall or seizure of products, totalpartial suspension of production or distribution,
withdrawal of approval, refusal to approve pendapglications, and criminal prosecution.

FDA Approval Process

We believe that our product candidatedufiag linaclotide, will be regulated by the FDA ésugs. No manufacturer may market a new
drug until it has submitted an NDA to the FDA, ahd FDA has approved it. The steps required baferd-DA may approve an NDA
generally include:

. preclinical laboratory tests and animal tests catetliin compliance with FDA's good laboratory pi@etrequirements;
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. development, manufacture and testing of activerphaeutical product and dosage forms suitable fardruuse in compliance
with current GMP;

. the submission to the FDA of an IND for human dalitesting, which must become effective before &nmlinical trials may
begin;

. adequate and w-controlled human clinical trials to establish tladesy and efficacy of the product for its specifitended us
(s);

. the submission to the FDA of an NDA; and

. FDA review and approval of the ND,

Preclinical tests include laboratory evélwaof the product candidate, as well as animadists to assess the potential safety and efficacy
of the product candidate. The conduct of the pirgeal tests must comply with federal regulationsl @equirements including good laboratory
practices. We must submit the results of the pmesal tests, together with manufacturing informatianalytical data and a proposed clinical
trial protocol to the FDA as part of an IND, whiotust become effective before we may commence hutirapal trials. The IND will
automatically become effective 30 days after iteiet by the FDA, unless the FDA raises concerrguastions before that time about the
conduct of the proposed trials. In such a casenwst work with the FDA to resolve any outstandingaerns before clinical trials can proce
We cannot be sure that submission of an IND wdltein the FDA allowing clinical trials to begior that, once begun, issues will not arise
that suspend or terminate such trials. The studtopol and informed consent information for patseint clinical trials must also be submittec
an institutional review board for approval. An itgional review board may also require the clithicil at the site to be halted, either
temporarily or permanently, for failure to compljtiwthe institutional review board's requirementsmay impose other conditions.

Clinical trials involve the administratiaf the product candidate to humans under the sigienvof qualified investigators, generally
physicians not employed by or under the trial spgascontrol. Clinical trials are typically condadtin three sequential phases, though the
phases may overlap or be combined. In Phase Initted introduction of the drug into healthy humanbjects, the drug is usually tested for
safety (adverse effects), dosage tolerance anarattadogic action, as well as to understand howdthg is taken up by and distributed within
the body. Phase 2 usually involves studies in #@dithpatient population (individuals with the diseainder study) to:

. evaluate preliminarily the efficacy of the drug &pecific, targeted condition

. determine dosage tolerance and appropriate dosagelbas other important information about hovdésign larger Phase 3
trials; and

. identify possible adverse effects and safety ri

Phase 3 trials generally further evaluéitéaal efficacy and test for safety within an erpad patient population. The conduct of the
clinical trials is subject to extensive regulatimmgluding compliance with good clinical practi@gulations and guidance.

The FDA may order the temporary or permé&d&tontinuation of a clinical trial at any timeimpose other sanctions if it believes that
the clinical trial is not being conducted in acamde with FDA requirements or presents an unackkptisk to the clinical trial patients. We
may also suspend clinical trials at any time oriotes grounds.

The results of the preclinical and clinistldies, together with other detailed informatiojuding the manufacture and composition of
the product candidate, are submitted to the FDthénform of an NDA requesting approval to market dnug. FDA approval of the NDA is
required before marketing of the product may bégitne U.S. If the NDA contains all pertinent infioation and data, the FDA will "file" the
application and begin review. The FDA may "refusdile” the NDA if it
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does not contain all pertinent information and dhtahat case, the applicant may resubmit the N¥en it contains the missing information
and data. Once the submission is accepted fogfitime FDA begins an in-depth review. The FDA hgigead to certain performance goals in
the review of new drug applications. Most such mgaypions for non-priority drug products are revieheithin 10 months. The review process,
however, may be extended by FDA requests for additiinformation, preclinical or clinical studiedarification regarding information alrea
provided in the submission, or submission of a eig&luation and mitigation strategy. The FDA mdgrran application to an advisory
committee for review, evaluation and recommendagi®to whether the application should be approved.FDA is not bound by the
recommendations of an advisory committee, butris@ers such recommendations carefully when madtéuisions. Before approving an
NDA, the FDA will typically inspect the facilitieat which the product candidate is manufacturedvetichot approve the product candid:
unless GMP compliance is satisfactory. FDA alsacgity inspects facilities responsible for perfongianimal testing, as well as clinical
investigators who participate in clinical trialshd FDA may refuse to approve an NDA if applicaldlguiatory criteria are not satisfied, or may
require additional testing or information. The FDAy also limit the indications for use and/or reguiost-marketing testing and surveillance
to monitor the safety or efficacy of a product. ©mganted, product approvals may be withdrawn iifigiiance with regulatory standards is not
maintained or problems are identified followingtiai marketing.

The testing and approval process requirbstantial time, effort and financial resourceg aor product candidates may not be approved
on a timely basis, if at all. The time and experegpiired to perform the clinical testing necessargbtain FDA approval for regulated produ
can frequently exceed the time and expense ofetbmarch and development initially required to erélaé¢ product. The results of preclinical
studies and initial clinical trials of our prodwzndidates, including linaclotide, are not necelyspredictive of the results from large-scale
clinical trials, and clinical trials may be subjéctadditional costs, delays or modifications due number of factors, including difficulty in
obtaining enough patients, investigators or prodaadidate supply. Failure by us or our collabasgtticensors or licensees, including Forest,
Almirall and Astellas, to obtain, or any delay ibtaining, regulatory approvals or in complying widguirements could adversely affect the
commercialization of product candidates and oulitghid receive product or royalty revenues.

Hatch-Waxman Act

The Hatch-Waxman Act established abbrestiafgproval procedures for generic drugs. Appravaharket and distribute these drugs is
obtained by submitting an Abbreviated New Drug Aqggion, or ANDA, with the FDA. The application fgeneric drugs is "abbreviated"
because it need not include preclinical or clindatia to demonstrate safety and effectiveness aydmstead rely on the FDA's previous
finding that the brand drug, or reference drugaife and effective. In order to obtain approvad@fANDA, an applicant must, among other
things, establish that its product is bioequivalerdn existing approved drug and that it has #mesactive ingredient(s), strength, dosage f
and the same route of administration. A generigdsiconsidered bioequivalent to its reference dfrtesting demonstrates that the rate and
extent of absorption of the generic drug is nohiigantly different from the rate and extent ofalption of the reference drug when
administered under similar experimental conditions.

The Hatch-Waxman Act also provides incesditty awarding, in certain circumstances, certgall protections from generic competition.
This protection comes in the form of a non-pateqtiesivity period, during which the FDA may not apt or approve a generic drug, whether
the application for such drug is submitted throaghANDA or a through another form of applicationpkvn as a 505(b)(2) application.

The Hatch-Waxman Act grants five years»aflesivity when a company develops and gains NDprapal of a new chemical entity that
has not been previously approved by the FDA. Thitusivity
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provides that the FDA may not accept an ANDA or(B)&) application for five years after the dateapproval of previously approved drug,
or four years in the case of an ANDA or 505(b)(@plécation that challenges a patent claiming tHeresmce drug (see discussion below
regarding patent challenges). The Hatch-Waxmaraehsct provides three years of exclusivity for apgaapplications for drugs that are not
new chemical entities, if the application contaims results of new clinical investigations (otheart bioavailability studies) that were essential
to approval of the application. Examples of sucpliaptions include applications for new indicatipdssage forms (including new drug
delivery systems), strengths, or conditions offesan already approved product. This three-yealusivity period protects against FDA
approval of ANDAs and 505(b)(2) applications fongéc drugs that include the innovation that reegliclinical data; it does not prohibit the
FDA from accepting or approving ANDASs or 505(b){(2PAs for generic drugs that do not include the iet@n.

Paragraph IV Certifications. Under the Hatch-Waxman Act, NDA applicants &lA holders must provide information about certain
patents claiming their drugs for listing in the FPAblication, "Approved Drug Products with Therafie&quivalence Evaluations," also
known as the "Orange Book." When an ANDA or 505{pbHpplication is submitted, it must contain ons@¥eral possible certifications
regarding each of the patents listed in the Or&wayk for the reference drug. A certification thdiséed patent is invalid or will not be
infringed by the sale of the proposed product Iledaa "Paragraph IV" certification.

Within 30 days of the acceptance by the FibAn ANDA or 505(b)(2) application containing arBgraph IV certification, the applicant
must notify the NDA holder and patent owner that éipplication has been submitted, and provideabtél and legal basis for the applicant's
opinion that the patent is invalid or not infring8dhe NDA holder or patent holder may then initiatpatent infringement suit in response tc
Paragraph IV notice. If this is done within 45 dafseceiving notice of the Paragraph IV certifioat a one-time 30-month stay of the FDA's
ability to approve the ANDA or 505(b)(2) applicatits triggered. The FDA may approve the proposedyxt before the expiration of the 30-
month stay only if a court finds the patent invalidnot infringed, or if the court shortens theipemecause the parties have failed to cooperate
in expediting the litigation.

Patent Term Restoration. Under the Hatch-Waxman Act, a portion of theepaiterm lost during product development and FBWew
of an NDA or 505(b)(2) application is restored pfpaoval of the application is the first permitteshumercial marketing of a drug containing
active ingredient. The patent term restorationqueis generally one-half the time between the ¢ffedate of the IND and the date of
submission of the NDA, plus the time between the @& submission of the NDA and the date of FDArappl of the product. The maximum
period of restoration is five years, and the pataminot be extended to more than 14 years frorddteof FDA approval of the product. Only
one patent claiming each approved product is éédilr restoration and the patent holder must afgrlyestoration within 60 days of approval.
The U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, in consultatvith the FDA, reviews and approves the applicafor patent term restoration.

Other Regulatory Requirements

After approval, drug products are subjeatxtensive continuing regulation by the FDA, whilcblude company obligations to
manufacture products in accordance with GMP, mairgad provide to the FDA updated safety and effidaformation, report adverse
experiences with the product, keep certain recandissubmit periodic reports, obtain FDA approvat@ftain manufacturing or labeling
changes, and comply with FDA promotion and adviadisequirements and restrictions. Failure to nleese obligations can result in various
adverse consequences, both voluntary and FDA-inthaseluding product recalls, withdrawal of apprhvastrictions on marketing, and the
imposition of civil fines and criminal penaltiesagst the NDA holder. In addition, later discoveffypreviously unknown safety or efficacy
issues may result in restrictions on the produethufiacturer or NDA holder.
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We and any manufacturers of our produasequired to comply with applicable FDA manufaitgrequirements contained in the FD
GMP regulations. GMP regulations require amongrathiegs, quality control and quality assurancevali as the corresponding maintenance
of records and documentation. The manufacturingjtias for our products must meet GMP requiremeatthe satisfaction of the FDA
pursuant to a pre-approval inspection before weusathem to manufacture our products. We andkardrparty manufacturers are also
subject to periodic inspections of facilities bg thDA and other authorities, including procedumed eperations used in the testing and
manufacture of our products to assess our comgiaith applicable regulations.

With respect to post-market product adsertj and promotion, the FDA imposes a number ofgleriregulations on entities that
advertise and promote pharmaceuticals, which irgladong others, standards for direct-to-consuegréising, prohibitions on promoting
drugs for uses or in patient populations that atedescribed in the drug's approved labeling (knawtoff-label use™), and principles
governing industry-sponsored scientific and edocedi activities. Failure to comply with FDA requinents can have negative consequences,
including adverse publicity, enforcement lettemirthe FDA, mandated corrective advertising or camications with doctors or patients, and
civil or criminal penalties. Although physicians ynarescribe legally available drugs for off-labeks, manufacturers may not market or
promote such off-label uses.

Changes to some of the conditions estaddish an approved application, including changdaditations, labeling, or manufacturing
processes or facilities, require submission and Epgroval of a new NDA or NDA supplement before ¢hange can be implemented. An
NDA supplement for a new indication typically recs clinical data similar in type and quality te ttlinical data supporting the origir
application for the original indication, and the &ADses similar procedures and actions in reviewgingh NDA supplements as it does in
reviewing NDAs.

Adverse event reporting and submissionesioglic reports is required following FDA approwdlan NDA. The FDA also may require
post-marketing testing, known as Phase 4 testisig mminimization action plans, and surveillancertonitor the effects of an approved product
or to place conditions on an approval that resthietdistribution or use of the product.

Outside the U.S., our and our collaborataigities to market a product are contingent upeiving marketing authorization from the
appropriate regulatory authorities. The requiremguverning marketing authorization, pricing anidnkirsement vary widely from
jurisdiction to jurisdiction. At present, foreignamketing authorizations are applied for at a natidevel, although within the E.U. registrati
procedures are available to companies wishing tikeb@ product in more than one E.U. member state.
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Employees

As of December 31, 2010, we had 217 emg@syApproximately 68 were scientists engaged iocodisry research, 85 were in our drug
development organization, 8 were in our commeteiam, and 56 were in general and administrativetfons. None of our employees are
represented by a labor union, and we consider mpia@/ee relations to be good.

Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

In addition to the other information in this AnnuRéport on Form 10-K, any of the factors describelbw could significantly and
negatively affect our business, financial conditimsults of operations or prospects. The tradingegof our Class A common stock may
decline due to these risks.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
We are largely dependent on the success of linadtwhich may never receive regulatory approvaloe successfully commercialized.

Our lead product candidate, linaclotideergly completed the clinical efficacy portion tf development program. Our other drug
candidates are in earlier stages of developmentbQsiness depends entirely on the successful dgwvent and commercialization of our
product candidates. We currently generate no revéom sales, and we may never be able to develgetable drugs. The research, testing,
manufacturing, labeling, approval, sale, marketind distribution of pharmaceutical products is sabjo extensive regulation by the FDA and
foreign regulatory authorities, and regulation$edifrom jurisdiction to jurisdiction. We are noginitted to market any of our product
candidates in the U.S. until we receive approvalroNDA from the FDA, or in any foreign jurisdictie until we receive the requisite appro
from such jurisdictions. We have not yet submiti@@dNDA or foreign equivalent in any jurisdictionbtaining regulatory approval is a lengthy,
expensive and uncertain process. The FDA and fomggulatory authorities also have substantialrdigan in the drug approval process,
including the ability to delay, limit or deny appad of a product candidate for many reasons. Piatetgks include those that the regulatory
authorities:

. may not deem linaclotide or another product cartdidafe and effectiv

. may not find the data from preclinical studies atidical trials sufficient to support approval,

. may not approve of manufacturing processes antities;]

. may not approve linaclotide for both [-C and CC indications

. may require significant warnings or restrictionsuse to the product label for linaclotide or anotm®duct candidate; «
. may change their approval policies or adopt newlapns.

Linaclotide is our GC-C agonist that isreutly in Phase 3 clinical development for the timeent of IBS-C and CC. In September and
November 2010, we announced the positive-line results from each of the two Phase 3 clinidals assessing the safety and efficacy of
linaclotide in patients with IB%>, and in November 2009, we announced that we aethipositive results in each of our Phase 3 CGtriaver
though linaclotide met the endpoints of the CCgrand the top-line results indicate that it met émdpoints of the IBS-C trials, it may not be
approved for either or both indications or for alger indication for which we seek approval frora #DA.

Further, the FDA and any foreign regulataughority may disagree with our trial design or mierpretation of data from clinical trials, or
they may change the requirements for approval aften they have reviewed and commented on the désigour clinical trials. The FDA and
any foreign regulatory authority might also apprtimaclotide for fewer or more limited indicatiottzan we
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request, or may grant approval contingent on thifopmance of costly post-approval clinical tridis.addition, the FDA and any foreign
regulatory authority may not approve the labelitagnes that we believe are necessary or desirablthéosuccessful commercialization of
linaclotide. Any failure to obtain regulatory appeo of linaclotide would significantly limit our @iy to generate revenues, and any failure to
obtain such approval for all of the indications #aiokling claims we deem desirable could reducepotential revenue.

Linaclotide may cause undesirable side effects avh other properties that could delay or prevestrigégulatory approval or limit it
commercial potential.

Undesirable side effects caused by lingdotould cause us or regulatory authorities termipt, delay or halt clinical trials and could
result in the denial of regulatory approval by Ei2A or other regulatory authorities and potentia@ducts liability claims. Any serious adverse
events deemed to be caused by linaclotide could havaterial adverse effect upon the linaclotid®y@m and our business as a whole. The
most common adverse event to date in the clintcaliss evaluating the safety and efficacy of linéide has been diarrhea. For the most part,
the diarrhea has been considered mild or modeyatieebpatients. In the four Phase 3 clinical trialsr top-line results indicate that diarrhea
was seen in 14% to 20% of linaclotitteated patients, and was the most common adveese #hat led to study discontinuation in 3% to 68
linaclotide-treated patients. In our clinical desmhent program, there have been no serious adeeesds in any patients receiving linaclotide
treatment that were deemed by a study investigatas to be "definitely related” or "probably reldt to linaclotide treatment, nor have there
been any deaths in any patients receiving linatdotieatment that were deemed by a study investigatus to be related to linaclotide
treatment.

If linaclotide receives marketing approwaid we or others later identify undesirable siifiecés caused by the product, a number of
potentially significant negative consequences coeddilt, including:

. regulatory authorities may withdraw approvals oétlotide;

. regulatory authorities may require additional wags on the labe

. we may be required to create a medication guidéning the risks of such side effects for distrilbutto patients;
. we could be sued and held liable for harm causgatients; and

. our reputation may suffe

Any of these events could prevent us fratmieving or maintaining market acceptance of linide and could substantially increase
commercialization costs.

If we or our collaboration partners and other thirgarties upon whom we rely to produce linaclotideeainable to satisfy FDA qualit
standards and related regulatory requirements, esgece manufacturing difficulties, or are unable tmanufacture sufficient quantities o
our product candidates, our development and comniization efforts may be materially harmed.

We do not currently possess internal mastufang capacity. We currently utilize the serviodsontract manufacturers to manufacture
clinical supplies. With respect to the manufactgrirdi linaclotide, we (along with our U.S. collabtioa partner, Forest) entered into a
commercial supply agreement with PolyPeptide Latonies, Inc. and Polypeptide Laboratories (SWEDBB)for the manufacture of the
linaclotide API that will be used to obtain regoliat approval of linaclotide in the U.S., Canada/and/lexico, and, pending any such approval,
that will be incorporated into the finished prodtat commercialization in those countries. In auatif we have established development
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agreements with multiple peptide manufacturersamdinue to pursue commercial supply agreements thése manufacturers for the
linaclotide API. We may not be able to enter injpements with such other manufacturers on comaibreceasonable terms, or at all. If we
enter into a commercial supply agreement with agrotanufacturer but then change or add manufastuter regulatory authorities in each
territory must approve these manufacturers' féesliand processes prior to use, which would requére testing and compliance inspections,
and the new manufacturers would have to be edudatdindependently develop the processes negefsathe production of linaclotide.
While we believe we will have arrangements to poada sufficient amount of API, if we lose a mantdiaer, it would take us a substantial
amount of time to identify and develop a relatiapshith an alternative manufacturer.

These third party manufacturers acquirerdlmematerials for the API from a limited numbersolurces. Any curtailment in the availability
of these raw materials could result in productioother delays with consequent adverse effectssomuaddition, because regulatory
authorities must generally approve raw materiateesifor pharmaceutical products, changes in ratemahsuppliers may result in production
delays or higher raw material costs.

Upon production of our API, each of ourlabbration partners, Forest, Almirall and Astelliasiesponsible for completing the
manufacturing process of linaclotide in its respecterritory, which consists of finishing and paging linaclotide into capsules. In addition,
we are pursuing arrangements with additional marufars to complete the manufacturing processatlotide in the parts of the world
outside of our partnered territories, and for theppse of introducing redundancy into our supplgichin case of a manufacturing shortage or
supply interruption. We will be dependent uponghecess of our partners, and these other manugastyorovided that we are successful in
developing supply arrangements with the other meiufers, in producing drug product for commersée. No party has experience
producing finished drug product for linaclotidecainmercial scale, and such efforts may fail. Tiaddlly, peptide manufacturing is costly and
time consuming, resulting in low yields and poability. We cannot give any assurances that weavidlrcome these issues when scaling up
manufacturing for linaclotide.

The manufacture of pharmaceutical prodrensiires significant expertise and capital investimimcluding the development of advanced
manufacturing techniques and process controls. Katwrers of pharmaceutical products often encaudiféculties in production, particularl
in scaling up production. These problems includfadities with production costs and yields, gualitontrol, including stability of the product
and quality assurance testing, shortages of qedlffersonnel, as well as compliance with fedetale and foreign regulations, and the
challenges associated with complex supply chainagament. We, together with our partners ForestAdmirall, are currently evaluating the
stability of different batch sizes of linaclotidevarious points in time. If we are unable to destoate stability in accordance with commercial
requirements, or if our manufacturers were to entenudifficulties or otherwise fail to comply witheir obligations to us, our ability to obtain
FDA or MAA approval and market linaclotide would jg®pardized. In addition, any delay or interruptio the supply of clinical trial supplies
could delay the completion of our clinical trialscrease the costs associated with conductinglouca trials and, depending upon the period
of delay, require us to commence new trials atiiggmt additional expense or to terminate a trial.

Each of the linaclotide manufacturers wauted to comply with GMP requirements enforcedhgyRDA through its facilities inspection
program. These requirements include, among otligghquality control, quality assurance and thénteaance of records and documentation.
Manufacturers of linaclotide may be unable to compith these GMP requirements and with other regmarequirements. We have little
control over our manufacturers' or collaborationtpers’ compliance with these regulations and stedsd A failure to comply with these
requirements may result in fines and civil penalteuspension of production, suspension or delaydduct approval, product seizure or recall,
or withdrawal of product approval. If the qualitylmaclotide is compromised due to a

21




Table of Contents

manufacturers' or collaboration partners' faileradhere to applicable laws or for other reasoesmay not be able to obtain regulatory
approval for or successfully commercialize linaiclef and we may be held liable for any injuriestaingd as a result. Any of these factors
could cause a delay of clinical trials, regulatsmpmissions, approvals or commercialization ofdiatde or our other product candidates,
entail higher costs or result in our being unableffectively commercialize linaclotide or our othoduct candidates. Furthermore, if our
manufacturers or collaboration partners fail tavdlthe required commercial quantities on a timegis and at commercially reasonable
prices, we may be unable to meet demand for angoapg products and would lose potential revenues.

Because we work with partners to develop, manufaetand promote linaclotide, we are dependent upbind parties in our efforts to obtait
regulatory approval for, and to commercialize, lioktide.

We co-develop and plan to co-promote liotide in the U.S. with Forest. Forest plays a digat role in the conduct of the clinical trials
for linaclotide and the subsequent collection amalysis of data. Each of Almirall, our Europeantpar, and Astellas, our partner in certain
Asian countries, is responsible for obtaining ragudy approval of linaclotide in its respectiverii@ry. In addition, each of our partners is
responsible for completing the manufacturing preagfdinaclotide upon production of the API, whiobnsists of finishing and packaging
linaclotide into capsules. Employees of our padrege not our employees, and we have limited ghlidicontrol the amount or timing of
resources that they devote to linaclotide. If ahgwr partners fails to devote sufficient time aedources to linaclotide, or if its performance is
substandard, it will delay the potential approvialegulatory applications for linaclotide as wedl the commercialization and manufacturing of
linaclotide. A material breach by any of our partnef our collaboration agreement with such partwend also delay regulatory approval and
commercialization of linaclotide. In addition, tagecution of our clinical development program foatlotide, and the compilation and anal
of the data produced from the clinical trials, riegs coordination among various parties. Furthecheof our partners is responsible for
reporting adverse event information to us. Thesetfans may not be carried out effectively andaidintly if we fail to communicate and
coordinate with our partners, and vice versa. Meeecalthough we have non-compete restrictiondangwith each of our partners, they may
have relationships with other commercial entitggsne of which may compete with us. If any of outtpers assists our competitors, it could
harm our competitive position.

Even if linaclotide receives regulatory approval,may still face future development and regulatafifficulties.

We anticipate submitting an NDA for linatitte with the FDA in the third quarter of 2011. Hewver, even if U.S. regulatory approval is
obtained, the FDA may still impose significant regions on a product's indicated uses or marketingnpose ongoing requirements for
potentially costly post-approval studies. Linaaletiand our other product candidates would alsaibgst to ongoing FDA requirements
governing the labeling, packaging, storage, adsiegi promotion, recordkeeping and submission fetgand other post-market information.
In addition, manufacturers of drug products andr tlaeilities are subject to continual review argtipdic inspections by the FDA and other
regulatory authorities for compliance with GMP rigions. If we or a regulatory agency discovers/jmesly unknown problems with a
product, such as adverse events of unanticipatestiseor frequency, or problems with the facilihere the product is manufactured, a
regulatory agency may impose restrictions on thadpct or the manufacturer, including requiringhslitawal of the product from the market
suspension of manufacturing. If we, our productdédaites or the manufacturing facilities for ourgwot candidates fail to comply with
applicable regulatory requirements, a regulatosnag may:

. issue warning letters or untitled lette

. impose civil or criminal penaltie:
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. suspend regulatory approval,

. suspend any ongoing clinical tria

. refuse to approve pending applications or supplésterapplications submitted by us;
. impose restrictions on operations, including costiyv manufacturing requirements; or
. seize or detain products or require us to inittaproduct recall

Even if linaclotide receives regulatory approval the U.S., we or our collaborators may never reegeapproval to commercialize linaclotic
outside of the U.S.

We have out-licensed the European rightieteelop and commercialize linaclotide to Almiralhd we have odteensed the same rights
certain Asian countries to Astellas. In the futwre, may seek to commercialize linaclotide in foneg@untries outside of Europe and those
Asian countries with other parties or by ourselVeorder to market any products outside of the. Us® must establish and comply with
numerous and varying regulatory requirements oémjtlirisdictions regarding safety and efficacy. Apml procedures vary among
jurisdictions and can involve product testing adchanistrative review periods different from, aneater than, those in the U.S. Almir
anticipates submitting an MAA with the EMA in thecond half of 2011. The time required to obtainrapgl in other jurisdictions, including
the E.U., might differ from that required to obt&DA approval. The regulatory approval processtireojurisdictions may include all of the
risks detailed above regarding FDA approval inth8. as well as other risks. Regulatory approvalnia jurisdiction does not ensure regula
approval in another, but a failure or delay in atiteg regulatory approval in one jurisdiction magve a negative effect on the regulatory
processes in others. Failure to obtain regulatppr@vals in other jurisdictions or any delay otsek in obtaining such approvals could have
the same adverse effects detailed above regard@dgapproval in the U.S. As described above, sufces include the risks that linaclotide
may not be approved for all indications requestddch could limit the uses of linaclotide and hareadverse effect on its commercial
potential or require costly post-marketing studies.

Linaclotide may not be widely adopted by patieqayors or healthcare providers, which would advdysienpact our potential profitability
and future business prospects.

The commercial success of linaclotide delgarpon its level of market adoption by patiengs;grs and healthcare providers. If linaclotide
does not achieve an adequate level of market axfofir any reason, our potential profitability amat future business prospects will be
severely adversely impacted. The degree of madapdance of linaclotide depends on a number ebfscincluding:

. our ability to demonstrate to the medical commurmigrticularly general practitioners, internistsl @rastrointestinal specialis
who may purchase or prescribe linaclotide, theadinefficacy and safety of linaclotide as the prgstion product of choice for
patients who suffer from IBS-C or CC;

. the effectiveness of our sales and marketing orgdions and our distribution netwol

. the ability of physicians and other providers toaldequately reimbursed for linaclotide in a timelgnner from government a
private payors; and

. the actual or perceived safety profile of linadeti particularly if unanticipated adverse evenisteel to linaclotide treatme
arise and create safety concerns among potentiehpgor prescribers.
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We may face competition in the IBS-C and CC marKage for linaclotide, and new products may emergattprovide different or better
alternatives for treatment of gastrointestinal coitidns.

If approved and commercialized, linaclotwid compete globally with certain prescriptiorettapies and over the counter products for the
treatment of IBS-C and CC, or certain associat@dptgms. The availability of prescription competit@nd over the counter products for
gastrointestinal conditions could limit the demaauld the price we are able to charge, for linadtotinless we are able to differentiate
linaclotide on the basis of its clinical benefitsaur clinical trials. New developments, includiing development of other drug technologies
methods of preventing the incidence of diseaseyrdocthe pharmaceutical and medical technologystides at a rapid pace. These
developments may render linaclotide obsolete ocanpetitive.

We believe other companies are developimguyxts which could compete with linaclotide, shibtiley be approved by the FDA.
Currently, there are a few compounds in late stiyelopment and other potential competitors aeaitier stages of development for the
treatment of patients with either IBS-C or CC. Ur @otential competitors are successful in compietirug development for their drug
candidates and obtain approval from the FDA, traylatlimit the demand for linaclotide.

Certain of our competitors have substagtgeater financial, technical and human resoutises us. Mergers and acquisitions in the
pharmaceutical industry may result in even moreugses being concentrated in our competitors. Coitiggemay increase further as a result
of advances made in the commercial applicabilitfeochnologies and greater availability of capitalihvestment in these fields.

We have limited sales and marketing experience aesburces, and we may not be able to effectivelykagand sell linaclotide.

With linaclotide, we are developing a prodcandidate for large markets traditionally sersgdyeneral practitioners and internists, as
as gastrointestinal specialists. Traditional phamsungical companies employ groups of sales repratees to call on these large generalist
physician populations. In order to adequately asklteese physician groups, we must optimize owtes@lopment and co-promotion
relationship in the U.S., Canada and Mexico witheBg our license and commercialization relatiopshiEurope with Almirall, and our licen
and commercialization relationship in certain Astauntries with Astellas. Likewise, we must eitkestablish sales and marketing
collaborations or co-promotion arrangements or eggnificant resources to develop our own satesmaarketing presence outside of North
America, Europe, and those Asian countries. Weeatitly possess limited resources and may not beessfid in establishing additional
collaborations or co-promotion arrangements on @atedde terms, if at all. We also face competitioour search for collaborators, co-
promoters and sales force personnel.

If any of our partners undergoes a change in contimr management, this may adversely affect our eblbrative relationship

We work jointly and collaboratively with Fest, Almirall and Astellas on many decisions retato the development, manufacturing and
commercialization of linaclotide. In doing so, wavie established relationships with several key neembf our partners' management teams in
functional areas such as development, quality,latégry and commercial. The success of our collaimras highly dependent on the resour
efforts and skills of our partners and their keyptgees. If a partner undergoes a change of coatralchange of management, we will nee
reestablish many of these relationships and weng#ld to regain alignment of our development amdnsercialization strategy for linaclotide.
Further, any change of control or management msyltrn a reprioritization of linaclotide within sh partner's profile, and such a change may
adversely affect the timeline and likelihood of @efng regulatory approval and, ultimately, the e¢oercialization of linaclotide, or such
partner may
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fail to maintain the financial resources necessamontinue financing its portion of the developmenanufacturing or commercialization co

We are subject to uncertainty relating to reimbursent policies which, if not favorable for linacladie, could hinder or prevent linaclotide's
commercial success.

Our ability to commercialize linaclotidecsessfully will depend in part on the coverage aichbursement levels set by governmental
authorities, private health insurers and othedtpiarty payors. As a threshold for coverage analvarsement, third-party payors generally
require that drug products have been approved &keting by the FDA. Third-party payors also arer@asingly challenging the effectiveness
of and prices charged for medical products andicesyWe may not obtain adequate third-party caema reimbursement for linaclotide or
we may be required to sell linaclotide at a dis¢oun

We expect that private insurers will comesithe efficacy, cost effectiveness and safetynaiclotide in determining whether to approve
reimbursement for linaclotide and at what leveltgMing these approvals can be a time consuminga&pensive process. Our business would
be materially adversely affected if we do not reeapproval for reimbursement of linaclotide fronvate insurers on a timely or satisfactory
basis. Our business could also be adversely affécpeivate insurers, including managed care oizgtions, the Medicare program or other
reimbursing bodies or payors limit the indicatidaswhich linaclotide will be reimbursed to a snegilset than we believe it is effective in
treating.

In some foreign countries, particularly @da and the countries of Europe, the pricing o$qiption pharmaceuticals is subject to strict
governmental control. In these countries, priciegatiations with governmental authorities can tsikeo 12 months or longer after the receipt
of regulatory approval and product launch. To abfaiorable reimbursement for the indications séwglpricing approval in some countries,
we may be required to conduct a clinical trial tbatnpares the cost-effectiveness of our produatéyding linaclotide, to other available
therapies. Further, several European countries imapemented government measures to either freemdoce pricing of pharmaceutical
products. If reimbursement for our products is wilable in any country in which reimbursement isgitt, limited in scope or amount, or if
pricing is set at unsatisfactory levels, our busineould be materially harmed.

We expect to experience pricing pressure®nnection with the sale of linaclotide and auufe products due to the potential healthcare
reforms discussed below, as well as the trend twesgrams aimed at reducing health care costsntheasing influence of health
maintenance organizations and additional legistgbiroposals.

If we fail to comply with healthcare regulations,encould face substantial penalties and our busineggerations and financial conditiol
could be adversely affected.

As a manufacturer of pharmaceuticals, élengh we do not and will not control referralshefalthcare services or bill directly to
Medicare, Medicaid or other third-party payorstaierfederal and state healthcare laws and regupertaining to fraud and abuse and
patients' rights are and will be applicable to lbusiness. We could be subject to healthcare fradcause and patient privacy regulation by
both the federal government and the states in wilvigleonduct our business. The regulations include:

. federal healthcare program anti-kickback laws, Whioohibits, among other things, persons from #oiig, receiving or
providing remuneration, directly or indirectly, ttduce either the referral of an individual, foritem or service or the
purchasing or ordering of a good or service, forchlpayment may be made under federal healthcagragams such as the
Medicare and Medicaid programs;
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. federal false claims laws which prohibit, amongeotthings, individuals or entities from knowinglyegenting, or causing to be
presented, claims for payment from Medicare, Mddiaar other third-party payors that are falserautiulent, and which may
apply to entities like us which provide coding dnilting advice to customers;

. the federal Health Insurance Portability and Acdahbility Act of 1996, which prohibits executing eéh®me to defraud any
healthcare benefit program or making false statésnetating to healthcare matters and which algmies certain requirements
relating to the privacy, security and transmissibimdividually identifiable health information;

. the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, whichrgnather things, strictly regulates drug productkating, prohibits
manufacturers from marketing drug products forlaffel use and regulates the distribution of drugdes;

. state law equivalents of each of the above fedavad, such as anti-kickback and false claims laWwglwmay apply to items or
services reimbursed by any thipasty payor, including commercial insurers, andestaws governing the privacy and security
health information in certain circumstances, mahwloich differ from each other in significant wagad often are not preemp
by federal laws, thus complicating compliance affpand

. the recentlyenacted federal Physician Payments Sunshine Adtsiamilar state laws in certain states, that regpharmaceutici
and medical device companies to monitor and rgmyrtents, gifts and other remuneration made toiplays and other health
care professional and health care organizations.

If our operations are found to be in vimatof any of the laws described above or any guwemntal regulations that apply to us, we may
be subject to penalties, including civil and crialipenalties, damages, fines and the curtailmergsiructuring of our operations. Any
penalties, damages, fines, curtailment or restringjuof our operations could adversely affect duitity to operate our business and our
financial results. Although compliance programs oatigate the risk of investigation and prosecutionviolations of these laws, the risks
cannot be entirely eliminated. Any action agairssfar violation of these laws, even if we succelgfefend against it, could cause us to incur
significant legal expenses and divert our managé&matiention from the operation of our busineserédver, achieving and sustaining
compliance with applicable federal and state pgryaecurity and fraud laws may prove costly.

Healthcare reform measures could hinder or prevenitr product candidates' commercial succe

The U.S. government and other governmeang shown significant interest in pursuing healtegaform, as evidenced by the passing of
the Patient Protection and Affordable Healthcaréaka the Health Care and Education Reconciliation This healthcare reform law
increases the number of individuals who receivdthéasurance coverage and closes a gap in drugrage under Medicare Part D as
established under the Medicare Prescription Drygramement Act of 2003; each of these reforms cpolentially increase our future revenue
from linaclotide or any other product candidates tire approved for sale. The law, however, algedments cost containment measures that
could adversely affect our future revenue. Thesasmess include increased drug rebates under Mddimabrand name prescription drugs and
extension of these rebates to Medicaid managed Theelegislation also extends 340B discountedmgion outpatient drugs to children's
hospitals, critical access hospitals, and ruraltheznters; this expansion reduces the amourdiofllursement received for drugs purchase
these new 340B-covered entities.

Additional provisions of the health caréoren law, which become effective in 2011, may negdy affect our future revenue and
prospects for profitability. Along with other phaaweutical manufacturers and importers of brand namescription drugs, we would be
assessed a fee based on
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our proportionate share of sales of brand nameppti®n drugs to certain government programs udilg Medicare and Medicaid. As part of
the health care reform law's provisions closingredfng gap that currently exists in the Medicarg Pgprescription drug program (commonly
known as the "donut hole"), we will also be reqdite provide a 50% discount on brand name presenigirugs sold to beneficiaries who fall

within the donut hole.

In the aftermath of the healthcare refoam,Iprivate health insurers and managed care plankikely to continue challenging the prices
charged for medical products and services. Thesecootrol initiatives could decrease the price wehhigstablish for linaclotide, which wot
result in lower product revenue or royalties pagéblus.

In addition, in some foreign jurisdictionlsere have been a number of legislative and régyl@roposals to change the health care systen
in ways that could affect our ability to sell oupgducts profitably. These proposed reforms coudiltén reduced reimbursement rates for
linaclotide and our other potential products, whigtuld adversely affect our business strategy, atjgers and financial results.

The Food and Drug Administration Amendmeiits of 2007 gives the FDA enhanced post-markegiathority, including the authority to
require post-marketing studies and clinical tritdbeling changes based on new safety informatind,compliance with risk evaluations and
mitigation strategies approved by the FDA. The Fb&ercise of this authority could result in delayincreased costs during product
development, clinical trials and regulatory reviémcreased costs to assure compliance with pospappregulatory requirements, and
potential restrictions on the sale and/or distidoubf approved products.

In pursuing our growth strategy, we will incur a veety of costs and may devote resources to potéwfgortunities that are never complet
or for which we never receive the benefit. Our faié to successfully discover, acquire, develop amarket additional product candidates or
approved products would impair our ability to grow.

As part of our growth strategy, we inteadlevelop and market additional products and prodaicdidates. We are pursuing various
therapeutic opportunities through our pipeline. W&y spend several years completing our developofeary particular current or future
internal product candidate, and failure can oct@ang stage. The product candidates to which voeale our resources may not end up being
successful. In addition, because our internal rebe@apabilities are limited, we may be dependgonuypharmaceutical and biotechnology
companies, academic scientists and other researttheell or license products or technology toTie success of this strategy depends partly
upon our ability to identify, select, discover amtjuire promising pharmaceutical product candidatesproducts.

The process of proposing, negotiating amolémenting a license or acquisition of a prodaetdidate or approved product is lengthy and
complex. Other companies, including some with safi#lly greater financial, marketing and sale®uveses, may compete with us for the
license or acquisition of product candidates amut@ged products. We have limited resources to ifleahd execute the acquisition or in-
licensing of third-party products, businesses @&otinologies and integrate them into our curremagifucture. Moreover, we may devote
resources to potential acquisitions or in-licengipgortunities that are never completed, or we fadyo realize the anticipated benefits of
such efforts. We may not be able to acquire thietsigp additional product candidates on termswleafind acceptable, or at all.
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In addition, future acquisitions may entailnerous operational and financial risks, inclgdin

. exposure to unknown liabilities;

. disruption of our business and diversion of our aggment's time and attention to develop acquiredymts or technologie
. incurrence of substantial debt, dilutive issuarafesecurities or depletion of cash to pay for astjioins;

. higher than expected acquisition and integratisis;o

. difficulty in combining the operations and personofeany acquired businesses with our operatiomspa@isonnel

. increased amortization expens

. impairment of relationships with key suppliers astomers of any acquired businesses due to chamgemnagement and

ownership; and

. inability to motivate key employees of any acquibeinesse:

Further, any product candidate that we Bequay require additional development efforts ptacommercial sale, including extensive
clinical testing and approval by the FDA and apgilie foreign regulatory authorities. All produchd&ates are prone to risks of failure typical
of pharmaceutical product development, includiregygbssibility that a product candidate will notdbewn to be sufficiently safe and effective
for approval by regulatory authorities.

Delays in the completion of clinical testing of amf our product candidates could result in increaseosts and delay or limit our ability
generate revenue:

Delays in the completion of clinical tegficould significantly affect our product developrheasts. We do not know whether planned
clinical trials will be completed on schedule, tifal. The commencement and completion of clintdals can be delayed for a number of
reasons, including delays related to:

. obtaining regulatory approval to commence a clinical;

. reaching agreement on acceptable terms with prtispetinical research organizations, or CROs, tiiad sites, the terms of
which can be subject to extensive negotiation aag wary significantly among different CROs andltsides;

. manufacturing sufficient quantities of a produatdigate for use in clinical trials;
. obtaining institutional review board approval t;mdact a clinical trial at a prospective site;
. recruiting and enrolling patients to participatecimical trials for a variety of reasons, incluginompetition from other clinic:

trial programs for the treatment of similar conatits; and

. signing-up patients who have initiated a clinic@ltbut may be prone to withdraw due to side effdmm the therapy, lack of
efficacy or personal issues, or who are lost tthirrfollow-up.

Clinical trials may also be delayed assultsof ambiguous or negative interim results. ddition, a clinical trial may be suspended or
terminated by us, an institutional review boardregeing the
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clinical trial at a clinical trial site (with respeto that site), the FDA, or other regulatory awities due to a number of factors, including:

. failure to conduct the clinical trial in accordangigh regulatory requirements or the study proter

. inspection of the clinical trial operations or triites by the FDA or other regulatory authoritiesulting in the imposition of a
clinical hold;

. unforeseen safety issues; ¢

. lack of adequate funding to continue the clinicillt

Additionally, changes in regulatory requients and guidance may occur, and we may needeéadhoiinical trial protocols to reflect
these changes. Each protocol amendment requititsifiomal review board review and approval, whinhy adversely impact the costs, timing
or successful completion of the associated clirtidals. If we experience delays in completionforé terminate any of our clinical trials, the
commercial prospects for our product candidate beafiarmed, and our ability to generate productmess will be delayed. In addition, many
of the factors that cause, or lead to, a delahencommencement or completion of clinical trialsyraso ultimately lead to the denial of
regulatory approval.

We may not be able to manage our business effeltifave lose any of our current management teamibwe are unable to attract and
motivate key personnel.

We may not be able to attract or motivatalified management and scientific and clinicalspanel in the future due to the intense
competition for qualified personnel among biotedbgg, pharmaceutical and other businesses, paatiguh the greater-Boston area. Our
industry has experienced a high rate of turnovenafiagement personnel in recent years. If we drabie to attract and motivate necessary
personnel to accomplish our business objectivesnas experience constraints that will significanthpede the achievement of our objecti

We are highly dependent on the developnregtjlatory, commercial and financial expertis®@af management, particularly Peter M.
Hecht, Ph.D., our chief executive officer; Mark@urrie, Ph.D., our senior vice president of redeard development and our chief scientific
officer; Michael J. Higgins, our senior vice pre=id, chief operating officer and chief financialioér; and Thomas A. McCourt, our senior \
president, marketing and sales and chief commeoffiger. If we lose any members of our managentesutn in the future, we may not be able
to find suitable replacements, and our businesshedyarmed as a result. In addition to the comipetfor personnel, the Boston area in
particular is characterized by a high cost of kiuiAs such, we could have difficulty attracting ekpnced personnel to our company and may
be required to expend significant financial researim our employee recruitment efforts.

We also have scientific and clinical advisevho assist us in formulating our product devedept and clinical strategies. These advisors
are not our employees and may have commitments tmnsulting or advisory contracts with, otheritégg that may limit their availability to
us, or may have arrangements with other compaaoiasdist in the development of products that maypete with ours.

We face potential product liability exposure, arifisuccessful claims are brought against us, we nmiagur substantial liabilities.

The use of our product candidates in cfihidals and the sale of any products for whichol&ain marketing approval expose us to the
risk of product liability claims. If we cannot swessfully
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defend ourselves against product liability claims,could incur substantial liabilities. In additioegardless of merit or eventual outcome,
product liability claims may result in:

. decreased demand for any approved product;

. impairment of our business reputation;

. withdrawal of clinical trial participant:

. initiation of investigations by regulatot

. costs of related litigation;

. distraction of management's attention from our pryrbusiness
. substantial monetary awards to patients or otle@meints;

. loss of revenues; and

. the inability to commercialize our product candetat

We currently have product liability insucagncoverage for our clinical trials that is subjecindustry-standard terms, conditions and
exclusions. Our insurance coverage may not becsefffi to reimburse us for any expenses or lossanayesuffer. Moreover, insurance
coverage is becoming increasingly expensive, anthe future, we may not be able to maintain insceecoverage at a reasonable cost or in
sufficient amounts to protect us against lossesndf when we obtain marketing approval for anywfmroduct candidates, we intend to exp
our insurance coverage to include the sale of caialgoroducts; however, we may be unable to oltamproduct liability insurance on
commercially reasonable terms. On occasion, larggments have been awarded in class action lawsastsd on drugs that had unanticipated
side effects. A successful product liability claimseries of claims brought against us could causetock price to decline and, if judgments
exceed our insurance coverage, could decreaseashrand adversely affect our business.

Our business involves the use of hazardous materiahd we must comply with environmental laws amdjulations, which can be expensi
and restrict how we do business.

Our activities involve the controlled stgea use and disposal of hazardous materials. Weudject to federal, state, city and local laws
and regulations governing the use, manufactureag#o handling and disposal of these hazardousialatéAlthough we believe that the safety
procedures we use for handling and disposing etimeaterials comply with the standards prescrilyetthése laws and regulations, we cannot
eliminate the risk of accidental contaminationmguiy from these materials. In the event of an@ewgt, local, city, state or federal authorities
may curtail the use of these materials and intéroup business operations. We do not currently tagirhazardous materials insurance
coverage.

Risks Related to Intellectual Property
Limitations on our patent rights relating to our duct candidates may limit our ability to prevemiind parties from competing against u

Our success will depend on our ability bdain and maintain patent protection for our pradiandidates, preserve our trade secrets,
prevent third parties from infringing upon our prigpary rights and operate without infringing ugbe proprietary rights of others.

The strength of patents in the pharmacaliticiustry involves complex legal and scientificegtions and can be uncertain. Patent
applications in the U.S. and most other countriescanfidential for a period of time until they greblished, and publication of discoveries in
scientific or patent literature typically lags aaltaiscoveries by several months or more. As alt,esa cannot be
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certain that we were the first to conceive invemsicovered by our patents and pending patent apiplics or that we were the first to file pat
applications for such inventions. In addition, ve@oot be certain that our patent applications véllgranted, that any issued patents will
adequately protect our intellectual property ot wech patents will not be challenged, narrowedalidated or circumvented.

We also rely upon unpatented trade seanatgtented know-how and continuing technologieabvation to develop and maintain our
competitive position, which we seek to protectpant, by confidentiality agreements with our emjgley and our collaborators and consultants.
We also have agreements with our employees andtsdleonsultants that obligate them to assign theémtions to us. It is possible that
technology relevant to our business will be indejgenly developed by a person that is not a pargutih an agreement. Furthermore, if the
employees and consultants that are parties to tggeements breach or violate the terms of theseagents, we may not have adequate
remedies, and we could lose our trade secretsghrsuch breaches or violations. Further, our tsseets could otherwise become known or
be independently discovered by our competitors.

In addition, the laws of certain foreigruatries do not protect proprietary rights to theeaxtent or in the same manner as the U.S., and
therefore, we may encounter problems in protedimd) defending our intellectual property in cerfaireign jurisdictions.

If we are sued for infringing intellectual propertyights of third parties, it will be costly and timconsuming, and an unfavorable outcome
that litigation would have a material adverse eftean our business.

Our commercial success depends upon olityabind the ability of our collaborators, to désg, manufacture, market and sell our proc
candidates and use our proprietary technologidsowitinfringing the proprietary rights of third pi@s. Numerous U.S. and foreign issued
patents and pending patent applications, whiclvareed by third parties, exist in the fields in whiee and our collaborators are developing
products. As the biotechnology and pharmaceutichlstry expands and more patents are issued sthindreases that our potential products
may give rise to claims of infringement of the pataghts of others. There may be issued patentisiiaf parties of which we are currently
unaware, that may be infringed by our product caaigis. Because patent applications can take mamyg {eeissue, there may be currently
pending applications which may later result in &$patents that our product candidates may infringe

We may be exposed to, or threatened withuré litigation by third parties alleging that qunoduct candidates infringe their intellectual
property rights. If one of our product candidatefound to infringe the intellectual property rigtutf a third party, we or our collaborators cc
be enjoined by a court and required to pay damageésould be unable to commercialize the applicpldduct candidate unless we obtain a
license to the patent. A license may not be aviglabus on acceptable terms, if at all. In additiduring litigation, the patent holder could
obtain a preliminary injunction or other equitabddief which could prohibit us from making, usingselling our products, pending a trial on
merits, which may not occur for several years.

There is a substantial amount of litigatiovolving patent and other intellectual propeiights in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical
industries generally. If a third party claims tkg or our collaborators infringe its intellectuabperty rights, we may face a number of issues,
including, but not limited to:

. infringement and other intellectual property claiwlsich, regardless of merit, may be expensive ane-consuming to litigat
and may divert our management's attention fromcoue business;
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. substantial damages for infringement, which we maye to pay if a court decides that the produdsate infringes on or
violates the third party's rights, and, if the ddimds that the infringement was willful, we couté ordered to pay treble dame
and the patent owner's attorneys' fees;

. a court prohibiting us from selling our productess the third party licenses its rights to us, Whiiés not required to do;

. if a license is available from a third party, weynieave to pay substantial royalties, fees or geavg«licenses to our intellectu
property rights; and

. redesigning our products so they do not infringleiclv may not be possible or may require substamt@ietary expenditures &
time.

We may become involved in lawsuits to protect ofoece our patents, which could be expensive, tinnmsuming and unsuccessful.

Competitors may infringe our patents. Targer infringement or unauthorized use, we mayeogired to file infringement claims, which
can be expensive and time consuming. In additioaniinfringement proceeding, a court may decidé dhpatent of ours is not valid or is
unenforceable, or may refuse to stop the othey fiaotn using the technology at issue on the grouhdsour patents do not cover the
technology in question. An adverse result in atigdtion or defense proceedings could put one aembour patents at risk of being
invalidated or interpreted narrowly and could put patent application at risk of not issuing.

Interference proceedings brought by the Ba&dent and Trademark Office may be necessargt@mine the priority of inventions with
respect to our patents and patent applicationsaset of our collaborators. An unfavorable outcomdd require us to cease using the
technology or to attempt to license rights todnfrthe prevailing party. Our business could be leariha prevailing party does not offer us a
license on terms that are acceptable to us. Litigadr interference proceedings may fail and, ef’enccessful, may result in substantial costs
and distraction of our management and other empky&e may not be able to prevent, alone or withcollaborators, misappropriation of ¢
proprietary rights, particularly in countries wheihe laws may not protect those rights as fulljnabe U.S.

Furthermore, because of the substantialiatnaf discovery required in connection with inéellual property litigation, there is a risk that
some of our confidential information could be coomised by disclosure during this type of litigatiém addition, there could be public
announcements of the results of hearings, motiongher interim proceeding or developments.

Risks Related to Our Finances and Capital Requiremds

We have incurred significant operating losses simmgr inception and anticipate that we will incur etinued losses for the foreseeable
future.

In recent years, we have focused primanilydeveloping linaclotide, with the goal of supjpagtregulatory approval for this product
candidate. We have financed our operations prisniriough the issuance of equity, including outiaipublic offering, and our collaboration
and license arrangements, and we have incurreddassach year since our inception in 1998. Waried net losses attributable to Ironwood
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. of approximately $53.0 milliapproximately $71.2 million and approximateh8¥bmillion in the years ended
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectivelypfAecember 31, 2010, we had an accumulated defieipproximately $367.5 million.
Our prior losses, combined with expected futuredgs have had and will continue to have an adwdfset on our stockholders' equity and
working capital. We expect our expenses to incrgasennection with our efforts to commercializedclotide and our research and
development of our
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other product candidates. As a result, we expecbvmdinue to incur significant and increasing ofiatplosses for the foreseeable future.
Because of the numerous risks and uncertaintiexiassd with developing pharmaceutical productsaveeunable to predict the extent of any
future losses or when, or if, we will become pafie.

We may need additional funding and may be unabledtse capital when needed, which would force ugdtgay, reduce or eliminate our
product development programs or commercializatidfogs.

Developing product candidates, conductiitgaal trials, establishing manufacturing relatdhwips and marketing drugs are expensive and
uncertain. We believe that our cash on hand alseoflate of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and tialtil cash milestone payments we may
receive from our current and future collaboratdve gis substantial strategic optionality and wilable us to operate the company in a
productive way through at least 2014. However, tegeen circumstances may arise, our strategic atipes could change, or opportunities to
create or acquire new development programs maygemesich could require us to seek to raise adwififunds. The amount and timing of
our future funding requirements will depend on méastors, including, but not limited to:

. the rate of progress and cost of our clinical ¢reahd other product development programs for lota# and our other produ
candidates;

. the costs associated with launching and commeziigliinaclotide, should it be approved by FDA;

. if linaclotide receives regulatory approval, thedeof underlying demand for that product;

. the costs and timing of -licensing additional product candidates or acqginther complementary compani

. the timing of any regulatory approvals of our prodecandidates;

. the costs of establishing sales, marketing andildigion capabilities; and

. the status, terms and timing of any collaboratiimensing, c-promotion or other arrangemer

Additional funding may not be available acteptable terms or at all. If adequate funds at@vailable, we may be required to delay,
reduce the scope of or eliminate one or more ofiewelopment programs or our commercializationréeffo

Our quarterly and annual operating results may flugate significantly.

We expect our operating results to be suliefrequent fluctuations. Our net loss and otipgrating results will be affected by numerous
factors, including:

. the achievement and timing of milestone paymentieunur existing collaboration and license agredsy

. our execution of any collaboration, licensing aniéar arrangements, and the timing of payments \ag make or receive und
these arrangements;

. the costs associated with launching and commeziigliinaclotide and any of our product candidatieae receive regulator
approval of such candidate;

. if linaclotide receives regulatory approval, thedeof underlying demand for that product and whkalers' buying patterns;
. variations in the level of expenses related todawelopment programs;
. addition or termination of clinical trial:
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. regulatory developments affecting our product cdattdis; and

. any intellectual property infringement lawsuit itnish we may become involve

If our operating results fall below the egfations of investors or securities analystsptiwe of our Class A common stock could decline
substantially. Furthermore, any quarterly or anffilugkuations in our operating results may, in fugause the price of our stock to fluctuate
substantially.

Risks Relating to Securities Markets and Investmenin Our Stock

The concentration of our capital stock ownershipttviour pre-IPO investors (and their affiliates), toders, directors, executives and
employees will limit your ability to influence cexin corporate matters.

Each share of Class A common stock and glaate of Class B common stock has one vote pee simsall matters except for the
following matters (for which each share of our Gl8scommon stock has ten votes per share and baoh af our Class A common stock has
one vote per share):

. adoption of a merger or consolidation agreemerdlinrg Ironwood,;

. a sale of all or substantially all of [ronwood'sets;

. a dissolution or liquidation of Ironwood; and

. every matter, if and when any individual, entity'group” (as such term is used in Regulation 13EhefSecurities Exchant

Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act) dralsas publicly disclosed (through a press releasefiling with the SEC) a
intent to have, beneficial ownership of 30% or mofréhe number of outstanding shares of Class Ammomstock and Class B
common stock, combined.

Because of our dual class common stocktstre, the holders of our Class B common stock, edresist of our pre-IPO investors (and
their affiliates), founders, directors, executiaesl employees, will continue to be able to corttrelcorporate matters listed above if any such
matter is submitted to our stockholders for apprevan if they come to own less than 50% of thesunding shares of our common stock. As
of March 15, 2011, the holders of our Class A comrsimck own 48.9% and the holders of our ClassrBroon stock own 51.1% of the
outstanding shares of Class A common stock ands@ammon stock, combined. However, because ofloak class common stock struct
these holders of our Class A common stock have &iédolders of our Class B common stock have 9hB#ie total votes in each of the
matters identified in the list above. This concated control with our Class B common stock holdiengs the ability of the Class A common
stockholders to influence those corporate matteds as a result, we may take actions that manyostmckholders do not view as beneficial,
which could adversely affect the market price of 6lass A common stock.

Anti-takeover provisions under our charter documentsdabDelaware law could delay or prevent a change ohtol which could negatively
impact the market price of our Class A common stock

Provisions in our certificate of incorpaoat and bylaws may have the effect of delayingrevpnting a change of control. These
provisions include the following:

. Our certificate of incorporation provides for a tolass common stock structure. As a result of shiscture, our p-IPO
investors (and each of their affiliates), foundelisgctors, executives and employees, each of wiahshares of our Class B
common stock, have significant influence over dentaatters requiring stockholder approval, inclyggignificant corporate
transactions, such as a merger. This concentratetdot could discourage others from initiating @ebe of control transaction
that other stockholders may view as beneficial.
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. Our board of directors is divided into three classerving staggered three-year terms, such thatlinmembers of the board are
elected at one time. This staggered board strupteneents stockholders from replacing the entirertd@t a single stockholders'
meeting.

. Our board of directors has the right to elect doexto fill a vacancy created by the expansiothefboard of directors or the
resignation, death or removal of a director, whpesvents stockholders from being able to fill vazias on our board of
directors.

. Our board of directors may issue, without stockeolbproval, shares of preferred stock. The alihitguthorize preferred stock
makes it possible for our board of directors taéspreferred stock with voting or other rights cefprences that could impede
the success of any attempt to acquire us.

. Stockholders must provide advance notice to noraimatividuals for election to the board of direstor to propose matters that
can be acted upon at a stockholders' meeting. &untire, stockholders may only remove a member oboard of directors for
cause. These provisions may discourage or deteteatinl acquirer from conducting a solicitationppbxies to elect such
acquirer's own slate of directors or otherwisenafténg to obtain control of our company.

. Our stockholders may not act by written consentaAssult, a holder, or holders, controlling a migjoof our capital stock ar
not able to take certain actions outside of a dtolders' meeting.

. Special meetings of stockholders may be called bylthe chairman of our board of directors, oue€tkxecutive officer or a
majority of our board of directors. As a resulhader, or holders, controlling a majority of owpital stock are not able to cal
special meeting.

. A majority of the outstanding shares of Class B omn stock are required to amend our certificateadrporation and a super-
majority (80%) of the outstanding shares of ClagBimon stock are required to amend our by-lawsg;iwmake it more
difficult to change the provisions described above.

In addition, we are governed by the prarisiof Section 203 of the Delaware General Corgmrdtaw, which may prohibit certain
business combinations with stockholders owning D8%more of our outstanding voting stock. These @thér provisions in our certificate of
incorporation and our bylaws and in the Delawaredsa Corporation Law could make it more difficfdt stockholders or potential acquirers
to obtain control of our board of directors oriiglié actions that are opposed by the then-curresntchof directors.

We expect that the price of our Class A common ktadll fluctuate substantially.

The market price of our Class A common lsto@y be highly volatile due to many factors, irthg:

. FDA or international regulatory actions, includiagtions on regulatory applications for any of oroduct candidate:

. the commercial performance of any of our producti@dates that receive marketing appro

. announcements of the introduction of new produgtasor our competitors;

. market conditions in the pharmaceutical and biatetdgy sectors;

. announcements concerning product development segutiuding clinical trial results, or intelleciyaroperty rights of other:
. litigation or public concern about the safety of potential products
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. actual and anticipated fluctuations in our quaytarid annual operating results;

. deviations in our operating results from the est@saf securities analys!

. sales of additional shares of our common stock;

. additions or departures of key personnel,

. any thirc-party coverage and reimbursement policies for livtade;

. developments concerning current or future strategilaborations; an

. discussion of us or our stock price in the finaheiascientific press or in online investor commnties.

The realization of any of the risks desedlin these "Risk Factors" could have a dramaticraaterial adverse impact on the market price
of our Class A common stock. In addition, classoaclitigation has often been instituted againshpanies whose securities have experienced
periods of volatility. Any such litigation broughgainst us could result in substantial costs atiggersion of management attention, which
could hurt our business, operating results andiz condition.

SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K, includithg sections titled "Risk Factors," "ManagementscDssion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations" and "Busitiesmtains forward-looking statements. Forward-logkstatements convey our current
expectations or forecasts of future events. Aliesteents contained in this Annual Report on FornKldther than statements of historical fact
are forward-looking statements. Forward-lookingesteents include statements regarding our futu@nfifal position, business strategy,
budgets, projected costs, plans and objectivesanfagement for future operations. The words "magghtinue,” "estimate," "intend," "plan,"
"will," "believe," "project,” "expect," "seek," "ditipate" and similar expressions may identify farad-looking statements, but the absence of
these words does not necessarily mean that a gtatésmot forward-looking. These forward-lookirtgtements include, among other things,
statements about:

. the progress of, timing of and amount of expenses@ated with our research, development and coniatization activities;
. the timing, conduct and success of our clinicafligtsi for our product candidate
. our ability to obtain U.S. and foreign regulatoppaoval for our product candidates and the abdftpur product candidates

meet existing or future regulatory standards;

. our goal to execute on our ow-related business principle

. our expectations regarding federal, state anddareggulatory requirement

. the therapeutic benefits and effectiveness of oodyct candidates;

. the safety profile and related adverse events ppoaduct candidates;

. our ability to manufacture sufficient amounts ofaclotide for commercialization activities withdat characteristic:

. our plans with respect to collaborations and liesn®lated to the development, manufacture orcadar product candidate
. our expectations as to future financial performaegpense levels and liquidity sources;

. the timing of commercializing our product candida
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. the accuracy of our estimates of the size and ctarstics of the markets that may be addressazlbyproduct candidates;

. our ability to compete with other companies that@rmay be developing or selling products thatarapetitive with ou
product candidates;

. anticipated trends and challenges in our potentakets;
. our ability to attract and motivate key personaeig
. other factors discussed elsewhere in this AnnupgbRen Form 1-K.

Any or all of our forward-looking statemerin this Annual Report on Form 10-K may turn aubé inaccurate. These forward-looking
statements may be affected by inaccurate assunspioby known or unknown risks and uncertaintiesluding the risks, uncertainties and
assumptions identified under the heading "Risk étattin this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In ligHttbese risks, uncertainties and
assumptions, the forward-looking events and cirdamses discussed in this Annual Report on Form Ifal¢ not occur as contemplated, and
actual results could differ materially from thos#ieipated or implied by the forward-looking statembs.

You should not unduly rely on these forwlraking statements, which speak only as of the déthis Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Unless required by law, we undertake no obligatiopublicly update or revise any forward-lookingtstments to reflect new information or
future events or otherwise. You should, howeveriese the factors and risks we describe in the respae will file from time to time with the
SEC after the date of this Annual Report on ForakK10

Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 2. Properties

Our corporate headquarters and operati@keated in Cambridge, Massachusetts, wheref Rea@ember 31, 2010, we lease and occupy
approximately 170,679 rentable square feet of effind laboratory space at 301 Binney Street. ImU2ep 2011, we amended our lease at 301
Binney Street to lease an additional 23,307 reatafuare feet of office space that we do not yetimg. The term of our lease at 301 Binney
Street expires on January 31, 2016, with an opgtia@xtend the term of the lease for two additidiva year periods. We believe that our
facilities are suitable and adequate for our néedthe foreseeable future.

Iltem 3. Legal Proceedings
None.
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tem 4. Reserved
Executive Officers of the Registrant

The following table sets forth the nameg agd position of each of our executive officersfalslarch 15, 2011:

Name Age Position

Peter M. Hecht, Ph.D 47 Chief Executive Officer, Directc

Michael J. Higgins 48 Senior Vice President, Chief Operating Officer &idef
Financial Officer

Mark G. Currie, Ph.D. 56 Senior Vice President, R&D and Chief Scientific iOffr

Thomas A. McCour 53 Senior Vice President, Marketing and Sales andf(

Commercial Officel

Peter M. Hechthas served as our chief executive officer andectbr since our founding in 1998. Prior to foundirepwood, Dr. Hecht
was a research fellow at Whitehead Institute fanBdical Research. Dr. Hecht serves on the boaddexdtors of Whitehead Institute. He also
serves on the Leadership Council for The David BclKInstitute for Integrative Cancer Research atMiassachusetts Institute of Technology.
Dr. Hecht earned a B.S. in mathematics and an M.&iology from Stanford University, and holds aPhin molecular biology from the
University of California at Berkeley.

Michael J. Higginshas served as our senior vice president, chiefatipgrofficer and chief financial officer since g Ironwood in
2003. Prior to 2003, Mr. Higgins held a varietysehior business positions at Genzyme Corporatimmding vice president of corporate
finance. Mr. Higgins earned a B.S. from Cornell émsity and an M.B.A. from the Amos Tuck SchooBafsiness Administration at
Dartmouth College.

Mark G. Currie serves as our senior vice president of researcldewelopment and chief scientific officer, and leasour R&D efforts
since joining us in 2002. Prior to joining Ironwqdte directed cardiovascular and central nervostesy disease research as vice president of
discovery research at Sepracor Inc. Previously{Drrie initiated, built and led discovery pharmlagy and also served as director of arthritis
and inflammation at Monsanto Company. Dr. Currimed a B.S. in biology from the University of Sodtlabama and holds a Ph.D. in cell
biology from the Bowman-Gray School of MedicineVdike Forest University.

Thomas A. McCourtas served as our senior vice president of maxketil sales and chief commercial officer sinceifginronwood ir
2009. Prior to joining Ironwood, Mr. McCourt ledettd.S. brand team for denosumab at Amgen Inc. #pnil 2008 to August 2009. Prior to
that, he was with Novartis AG from 2001 to 2008 enhhe directed the launch and growth of Zelnomite treatment of patients with IBS-C
and CC and held a number of senior commercial ralekiding vice president of strategic marketimgl @perations. Mr. McCourt was also |
of the founding team at Astra Merck Inc., leadihg tlevelopment of the medical affairs and sciei@gon group and then serving as brand
manager for Prilosec. Mr. McCourt has a degreeharmacy from the University of Wisconsin.
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PART Il
ltem 5. Market For Registrant's Common Equity, Related Skbolder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Seities

Shares of our Class A common stock aresttamh the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the lB3giiIRWD." Our shares have only
been publicly traded since February 3, 2010; tleeegfthe following table shows the high and lowesadrice for our Class A common stock as
reported by NASDAQ for each quarter in the yeareghDecember 31, 2010.

Class A Common Stock

2010
High Low
First Quartel $ 1491 $ 11.2(
Second Quarte $ 150 % 9.7:
Third Quartel $ 1312 $ 8.9(C
Fourth Quarte $ 11.4¢  $ 10.0¢

As of March 15, 2011, there were 42 stotdéis of record of our Class A common stock and st®8kholders of record of our Class B
common stock. The number of record holders is baped the actual number of holders registered erbtoks of the company at such date
and does not include holders of shares in "stragtas” or persons, partnerships, associations, i@ipas or other entities identified in secu
position listings maintained by depositories.

We did not purchase any of our equity siéiesrduring the period covered by this report. Tdllowing sets forth information regarding -
unregistered securities issued during the lasaffigear:

1. From January 1, 2010 through December 31, 201G@ssued options to purchase 1,541,000 shares daflass A common stock
to our employees, consultants and directors withxatcise price of $11.25 per share.

2. From January 1, 2010 through December 31, 201Gssueed 58,551 shares of our Class B common stook thpe exercise ¢
stock options to our employees, consultants aretttirs.

These issuances of restricted securitiee deemed to be exempt from registration undeStwirities Act in reliance upon Rule 701
promulgated under Section 3(b) of the Securitiesdhd 933, as amended, or the Securities Act,aassactions pursuant to a written
compensation benefit plan and contracts relatingptopensation as provided under Rule 701.

In February 2010, we completed our IPOwf@lass A common stock pursuant to a registragtatement on Form S-1, as amended (File
No. 33:-163275) that was declared effective on FebruaB020. There has been no material change in oanpthuse of proceeds from the
IPO from that described in the final prospectusdiith the SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b) under gmuBties Act on February 4, 2010. As of
December 31, 2010, approximately $72.3 millionhaf het proceeds remained available and were irv@steguid, short-term, interedtearing
funds, pending their use to fund our operationsc&bpur IPO, we estimate that we have used theepdscin the following way:

. approximately $28.0 million to fund the developmantl commercialization of linaclotid

. approximately $18.3 million to fund both researcdid @evelopment of early stage product candidatdgeeclinical research in
multiple therapeutic areas, including gastrointestdisease, pain and inflammation, respiratorgatie, and cardiovascular
disease; and

. approximately $84.6 million for general corporategmses.

Subject to preferences that may apply tosiares of preferred stock outstanding at the,tthreeholders of Class A common stock and
Class B common stock are entitled to share equabyy
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dividends that our board of directors may deterniinissue from time to time. In the event a dividésnpaid in the form of shares of common
stock or rights to acquire shares of common sttiekholders of Class A common stock will receivagslA common stock, or rights to acquire
Class A common stock, as the case may be, andtterks of Class B common stock will receive ClassoBimon stock, or rights to acquire
Class B common stock, as the case may be.

We have never declared or paid any casdetids on our capital stock, and we do not curyeatticipate declaring or paying cash
dividends on our capital stock in the foreseealere. We currently intend to retain all of ourdrg earnings, if any, to finance operations. .
future determination relating to our dividend pgligill be made at the discretion of our board o&diors and will depend on a number of
factors, including future earnings, capital requiests, financial conditions, future prospects, @mtual restrictions and covenants and other
factors that our board of directors may deem reieva

The information required to be disclosedteyn 201(d) of Regulation S-K, "Securities Auttzerd for Issuance Under Equity
Compensation Plans," is referenced under Item Badflll of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Corporate Performance Graph

The following performance graph and reldatédrmation shall not be deemed to be "solicitimgterial” or to be "filed" with the SEC, nor
shall such information be incorporated by referente any future filing under the Securities Acttbe Exchange Act, except to the extent that
we specifically incorporate it by reference intelsdiling.

The following graph compares the perfornegaotour Class A common stock to the NASDAQ Stockrkét (U.S.) and to the NASDAQ
Pharmaceutical Index from February 3, 2010 (thet fiate that shares of our Class A common stock weblicly traded) through
December 31, 2010. The comparison assumes $100wested after the market closed on February 30 20bur Class A common stock and
in each of the foregoing indices, and it assumesestment of dividends, if any.

COMPARISON OF 10-MONTH CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
Among the NASDAQ Stock Market (U.S.),
the NASDAQ Pharmaceutical Index,
and Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
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Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data

You should read the following selected ficial data together with our consolidated finanstatements and the related notes appearing
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Weehderived the consolidated statements of opermtiata for the years ended
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 and the consedidetiance sheet data as of December 31, 2010088dfdm our audited financial
statements included elsewhere in this Annual Repoform 10-K. We have derived the consolidatettstant of operations data for the years
ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 and consolidatedde sheet data as of December 31, 2008, 200Z0&&dfrom our audited financial
statements not included in this Annual Report omFd0K. Our historical results for any prior period awet necessarily indicative of results
be expected in any future period.

Years Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
(in thousands, except share and per share dat
Consolidated Statement o
Operations Data:
Collaborative arrangements
revenue $ 43857 $ 34,32 $ 1838: $ 460¢ $ —
Operating expense
Research and developméﬁt 77,45¢ 76,10( 51,421 50,42« 29,55¢
General and administrati® 27,16¢ 19,03; 15,26¢ 8,87: 7,15¢
Total operating expens 104,62: 95,131 66,69( 59,29¢ 36,71
Loss from operation (60,76¢€) (60,81¢) (48,30 (54,68%) (36,719
Other income (expense
Interest expens (19€) (318 (297 (232 (19¢)
Interest and investment incotl 614 24C 2,08¢ 3,87: 2,27¢
Remeasurement of forwa
purchase contrac — 60C (900 60C —
Other income 99z — — — —
Other income (expense), r 1,411 522 897 4,24( 2,07¢
Net loss from continuin
operations before income te
benefit (59,355 (60,299 (47,410 (50,44 (34,639
Income tax benef (2,944 (29¢) — — —
Net loss from continuin
operations (56,41)) (59,999 (47,410 (50,44 (34,639
Net income (loss) fror
discontinued operatiort¥ 4,551 (13,319 (7,627 (2,712 (2,640
Net loss (51,860 (73,31 (55,03) (53,160 (37,279
Net (income) loss fror
discontinued operations
attributable to noncontrolling
interest (2,121 2,127 1,157 40¢€ 99
Net loss attributable t
Ironwood
Pharmaceuticals, Inc $ (52,98) $ (71,18Y $ (53,879 $ (52,75) $ (37,18()
Net income (loss) per sha
attributable to Ironwood
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.—bas
and diluted:
Continuing operation $ (0.63) $ (8.43) $ (6.8¢) $ (757 $ (5.40)
Discontinued operatior 0.04 (1.57) (0.99) (0.39) (0.39)
Net loss per shal $ (059 $ (10.00 $ (7.82) $ (79) $ (5.79
Weighted average number
common shares used in net
income (loss) per share
attributable to Ironwood
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.—bas
and dilutec 89,653,36. 7,116,77- 6,889,81 6,666,60. 6,417,49'

(1)

Includes share-based compensation expense astetlioahe following table:



Research and

developmen $ 4112 $ 2372 $ 1627 $ 672 $ 31€
General ar

administrative 3,38¢ 2,72% 991 35¢ 638
Discontinue

operations 59 14¢ 17¢€ 122 —

41




Table of Contents

December 31,
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
(in thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Date
Cash, cash equivalents and

available-for-sale securitie $ 248,02 $ 122,30¢ $ 88,37t $ 87,86( $ 47,42
Working capital of continuin

operations (excluding deferred

revenue 234,69¢ 107,48 86,02: 101,03t 36,02¢
Assets of discontinued operatic — 2,34¢ 3,815 4,94¢ 7,84%
Total asset 301,36 162,45: 138,37: 135,63¢ 57,52(
Deferred revenue, including curre

portion 102,43: 126,00: 66,00¢ 74,39: —
Long-term debt, including current

portion — 1,762 1,81¢ 2,75z 2,24:
Capital lease obligations, includin

current portior 59C 25E 30¢€ — —
Liabilities of discontinuec

operations — 2,301 1,323 78€ 1,00¢
Total liabilities 141,81 162,44: 95,38: 90,20 9,90(
Convertible preferred stoc — 298,35( 273,40( 223,80: 173,85:
Noncontrolling interes — 3,212 5,33¢ 6,49¢ 6,90:
Total stockholders' equity (defici 159,55 (298,34() (230,41) (178,379 (126,23)

Iltem 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financiab@dition and Results of Operations
Forward-Looking Information

The following discussion of our financiaindition and results of operations should be reazbnjunction with our financial statements
and the notes to those financial statements appealsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-KisThscussion contains forward-looking
statements that involve significant risks and utadeties. As a result of many factors, such asedfset forth under "Risk Factors" in Item 1A of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K, our actual resoitsy differ materially from those anticipated iresle forward-looking statements.

Overview

We are an entrepreneurial pharmaceutiqalpemy that discovers, develops and intends to caoiatiee differentiated medicines that
improve patients' lives. To achieve this, we aridding a team, a culture and processes centereteating and marketing important new drt
We believe that linaclotide, our GC-C agonist bailegeloped for the treatment of patients with IB&#CC, could present patients and
healthcare practitioners with a unique therapyafanajor medical need not yet met by existing thesaplLinaclotide is our only product
candidate that has demonstrated clinical proobotept. In addition to linaclotide, we have a pipelof early stage, pre-proof of concept
development candidates in multiple therapeuticgnegluding gastrointestinal disease, pain anldmmfation, and respiratory disease. We are
also conducting early stage, preclinical reseandheése therapeutic areas, as well as in the &iegrdiovascular disease. We have pursued a
partnering strategy for commercializing linaclotith@at has enabled us to retain significant corgvelr linaclotide's development and
commercialization, share the costs with high-gualillaborators whose capabilities complement camsgl, retain approximately half of
linaclotide's future long-term value in the majbiapmaceutical markets, should linaclotide meetsalgs expectations.

We were incorporated in Delaware as Micaphic. (which was the name of our formerly majodtvned subsidiary), on January 5, 1998.
On April 7, 2008, we changed our name to Ironwobdrfaceuticals, Inc.

Prior to September 2010, we held a majantyership interest in Microbia, Inc. (formerly kmo as Microbia Precision Engineering), a
subsidiary formed in September 2006. Microbia,,IncMicrobia, engaged in a specialty biochemitaisiness based on a proprietary strain-
development platform. On September 21, 2010, we cot interest in Microbia to DSM Holding CompangA), Inc., or DSM, in exchange f
cash proceeds of $9.5 million, the payment of agprately
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$1.1 million of Microbia debt and interest by DSkdafuture contingent consideration based on the aigbroducts incorporating Microbia's
technology.

We currently operate in one reportable fess segment—human therapeutics. Our human theicpsegment consists of the
development and commercialization of our produatidates, including linaclotide. Prior to the safeur interest in Microbia, we also
operated in the biomanufacturing segment. Our brufacturing segment, which comprised a much smpHetrof our business, consisted of
our majority ownership interest in Microbia. Oumhan therapeutics segment represented 100% and B8t wtal assets at December 31,
2010 and 2009, respectively, while our biomanufiactusegment represented approximately 1% of daf &ssets at December 31, 2009. For
the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2888ts of operations of our biomanufacturing segraemincluded in net income (loss)
from discontinued operations in our financial sta¢ats.

To date, we have dedicated substantidllgfadur activities to the research and developnoémiur product candidates. We have not
generated any revenue to date from product satbsare incurred significant operating losses sowgeinception in 1998. We incurred net
losses attributable to Ironwood Pharmaceuticals,dhapproximately $53.0 million, $71.2 milliond®$53.9 million in the years ended
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectivelypfAecember 31, 2010, we had an accumulated defieipproximately $367.5 million ai
we expect to incur losses for the foreseeable dutur

Financial Overview

Revenue. Revenue to date from our human therapeutiosieapis generated primarily through our collabamtgreement with Forest
and our license agreements with Almirall and AstelThe terms of these agreements include paymestdf one or more of the following:
nonrefundable, up-front license fees; milestonenpants; and royalties on product sales. Revenue tnanthuman therapeutics segment is
shown in our consolidated statements of operatisnsllaborative arrangements revenue. Revenuedtorhiomanufacturing segment was
generated by our former subsidiary, Microbia, whiell entered into research and development seagie=ments with various third parties.
These agreements generally provided for fees &mareh and development services rendered. As i oésiie sale of our interest in Microbia,
revenue from our biomanufacturing segment is inetlish net income (loss) from discontinued operatidie expect our revenue to fluctuate
for the foreseeable future as our collaborativaregements revenue is principally based on the aeiment of clinical and commercial
milestones.

Research and development expensResearch and development expense consistpensas incurred in connection with the discovery
and development of our product candidates. Thegeresses consist primarily of compensation, benafitsother employee related expenses,
research and development related facility coststiind-party contract costs relating to researohpiulation, manufacturing, preclinical study
and clinical trial activities. The costs of revematated to the Microbia services contracts andscassociated with Microbia's research and
development activities are included in net incolosg) from discontinued operations. We chargeesiéarch and development expenses to
operations as incurred. Under our Forest collabmratgreement we are reimbursed for certain rebemrd development expenses and we net
these reimbursements against our research andogeveht expenses as incurred.

43




Table of Contents

Our lead product candidate is linaclotidd & represents the largest portion of our redeard development expense for our product
candidates. Linaclotide is a first-in-class compbuarrently in Phase 3 clinical development for titeatment of IBS-C and CC and is our only
product candidate that has demonstrated clinicafpsf concept. In September and November 2010ameunced the positive top-line results
from each of the two Phase 3 clinical trials assgsthe safety and efficacy of linaclotide in patgewith IBS-C, and in November 2009, we
announced that we achieved positive results in efolir Phase 3 CC trials. We have a pipeline diyestage, pre-proof of concept
development candidates in multiple therapeuticanealuding gastrointestinal disease, pain anidmmfation, and respiratory disease. We are
also conducting early stage, preclinical reseandhése therapeutic areas, as well as in the &iesrdiovascular disease.

The following table sets forth our reseaacl development expenses related to our prodpetipé for the years ended December 31,
2010, 2009 and 2008. These expenses relate pymamixternal costs associated with manufactugpneglinical studies and clinical trial costs.
Costs related to facilities, depreciation, shareedlacompensation and research and developmentrssppdces are not directly charged to
programs.

Years Ended December 31,
2010 2009 2008
(unaudited)

(in thousands)

Demonstrated clinical proof

concepl $ 26,68 $ 41,05 $ 13,58t¢
Early stage 13,06" 5,74z 10,91%
Early stage, preclinic: 6,134 5,701 3,72¢

We began tracking program expenses foclatae in 2004, and research and development prmgxpenses from inception to
December 31, 2010 were approximately $123.4 millidre expenses for linaclotide include both reinsbuments to us by Forest as well as our
portion of costs incurred by Forest for linaclotated invoiced to us under the cost-sharing promssiaf our collaboration agreement.

The lengthy process of securing FDA appiof@ new drugs requires the expenditure of sutithresources. Any failure by us to obte
or any delay in obtaining, regulatory approvals ldauaterially adversely affect our product devel@minefforts and our business overall.
Accordingly, we cannot currently estimate with alggree of certainty the amount of time or money Wewill be required to expend in the
future on linaclotide or our other product candédaprior to their regulatory approval, if such apa is ever granted. As a result of these
uncertainties surrounding the timing and outcomanyf approvals, we are currently unable to estirpegeisely when, if ever, linaclotide, or
any of our other product candidates will generateenues and cash flows.

We invest carefully in our pipeline, an@ tommitment of funding for each subsequent stdgeirndevelopment programs is dependent
upon the receipt of clear, supportive data. In taldj we are actively engaged in evaluating extigrrtiscovered drug candidates at all stage
development. In evaluating potential assets, wdyapp same criteria as those used for investmaritgernally-discovered assets.

The majority of our external costs are $emnlinaclotide, as costs associated with lategetclinical trials are, in most cases, more
significant than those incurred in earlier stagesus pipeline. We expect external costs relatethéolinaclotide program to begin decreasing
provided that no other clinical trials are necegsarobtain regulatory approval in the U.S. If atiner product candidates are successful in
stage clinical trials, we would expect externaltede increase as the programs progress throughdtge clinical trials. The remainder of our
research and development expense is not trackedojpgct as it consists primarily of our internaktsy and it benefits multiple projects that are
in earlier stages of development and which typycsifiare resources.
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The successful development of our prodantaates is highly uncertain and subject to a rermobrisks including, but not limited to:

. The duration of clinical trials may vary substaliyiaccording to the type, complexity and novelfytlte product candidate.

. The FDA and comparable agencies in foreign countrigose substantial requirements on the introdnaif therapeuti
pharmaceutical products, typically requiring lernygémd detailed laboratory and clinical testing gaheres, sampling activities
and other costly and time-consuming procedures.

. Data obtained from nonclinical and clinical acied at any step in the testing process may be sehaerd lead to discontinuati
or redirection of development activity. Data ob&drfrom these activities also are susceptible tging interpretations, which
could delay, limit or prevent regulatory approval.

. The duration and cost of discovery, nonclinicatigts and clinical trials may vary significantly ovie life of a produc
candidate and are difficult to predict.

. The costs, timing and outcome of regulatory revig\a product candidate may not be favorable.

. The emergence of competing technologies and preduntt other adverse market developments may nebaimpact us

As a result of the uncertainties discussaale, we are unable to determine the duratiorcasts to complete current or future preclinical
and clinical stages of our product candidates agrwlor to what extent, we will generate revenuesifthe commercialization and sale of an
our product candidates. Development timelines, bdly of success and development costs vary widale anticipate that we will make
determinations as to which additional programsuxspe and how much funding to direct to each pmgra an ongoing basis in response to
the scientific and clinical data of each productdidate, as well as ongoing assessments of sudug@roandidate's commercial potential.

We expect our research and developmens ¢ostontinue to be substantial for the foreseefablee and to increase with respect to our
product candidates other than linaclotide as waade those product candidates through precliniadies and clinical trials. Additionally, our
research and development costs will increase asilveind full-time equivalents for Protagonist'sudj discovery activities under the terms of
our collaboration agreement.

General and administrative expenseGeneral and administrative expense consistsguilly of compensation, benefits and other
employee related expenses for personnel in ourragirative, finance, legal, information technologusiness development, commercial and
human resource functions. Other costs includeadallcosts of pursuing patent protection of oweliettual property, general and
administrative related facility costs and professidees for accounting and legal services. Asalt®f our IPO in February 2010, we have
experienced and will likely continue to experieimereases in general and administrative expenaénglto operating as a public company.
These increases include legal fees, accounting éeets associated with implementing and complwith the requirements of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 and the Dodd-Frank Wall Streefd®Rm and Protection Act of 2010 and fees for ingeselations services. We also
anticipate substantial increases in expenses defatdeveloping the organization necessary to comiadéze linaclotide.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our finanodemdition and results of operations is based upanconsolidated financial statements preg
in accordance with generally accepted accountimgiples in the U.S., or GAAP. The preparationtage financial statements requires us to
make certain
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estimates and assumptions that affect the repartexiints of assets and liabilities and the repatedunts of revenues and expenses durin
reported periods. These estimates and assumpiti@hsling those related to revenue recognitionjlaibe-for-sale securities, impairments of
longived assets, income taxes including the valuatitmwance for deferred tax assets, research anel@@went expenses, contingencies,
share-based compensation are monitored and anadyzesifor changes in facts and circumstancesnaatdrial changes in these estimates
could occur in the future. Prior to our IPO, weoadvaluated our estimates and judgments regartleéptr value assigned to our common
stock. These critical estimates and assumptionbased on our historical experience, our observahtends in the industry, and various ot
factors that are believed to be reasonable unéecitbumstances and form the basis for making juefgmabout the carrying values of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent frother sources. Actual results may differ from ostireates under different assumptions or
conditions.

We believe that our application of the daling accounting policies, each of which requignfficant judgments and estimates on the part
of management, are the most critical to aid inyfulhderstanding and evaluating our reported firelmeisults. Our significant accounting
policies are more fully described in NoteSymmary of Significant Accounting Policids our consolidated financial statements appgarin
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

As a result of the sale of our interestfiicrobia, we have presented the assets, liabilibpgsrations, and cash flows of Microbia as
discontinued operations for all periods presentaat po the sale.

Revenue Recognitio

Our revenue is generated primarily throagleborative research and development and licagssements. The terms of these agreements
typically include payment to us of one or morelad following: nonrefundable, up-front license feslestone payments; the sale of drug
substance to our collaborators; and royalties odyst sales. In addition, prior to September 20d®generated services revenue through
agreements that generally provided for fees fozassh and development services rendered.

We recognize revenue when there is pergaa&siidence that an arrangement exists, servicgslegen rendered or delivery has occurred,
the price is fixed or determinable, and collectineasonably assured. We evaluate revenue froeeamnts that have multiple elements and
account for those components as separate elembststive following criteria are met:

. the delivered items have value to the customer stam-alone basis
. there is objective and reliable evidence of falueaof the undelivered items; a
. if there is a general right of return relative he telivered items, delivery or performance ofuhdelivered items is considered

probable and within our control.

The determination that multiple elementaiinarrangement meet the criteria for separats ohéccounting requires us to exercise our
judgment.

The determination of whether we should geize revenue on a gross or net basis involvesmeddg based on the relevant facts and
circumstances, which relate primarily to whetherageas a principal or agent in the process of igeimg revenues from our collaboration and
licensing arrangements.

For certain of our arrangements, partidulaur license agreement with Almirall, it is reqed that taxes be withheld on payments to us.
We have adopted a policy to recognize revenuefrtbiege tax withholdings.
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Up-Front License Fees

We recognize revenues from nonrefundalgdrant license fees related to collaboration doerse agreements, including the
$70.0 million up-front license fee under the Foasdtaboration agreement entered into in Septer@®8r and the $40.0 million up-front
license fee, of which $38.0 million was received aieforeign withholding taxes, under the Almirdlense agreement entered into in April
2009, on a straight-line basis over the contraotegstimated period of performance due to our oot involvement in research and
development. The period of performance over whighrevenues are recognized is typically the pewiget which the research and/or
development is expected to occur. As a result, fienare required to make estimates regarding dewglopment and commercialization
timelines for compounds being developed pursuaatdollaboration or license agreement. Becausdrilng development process is lengthy
our collaboration and license agreements typicalyer activities over several years, this apprdashresulted in the deferral of significant
amounts of revenue into future periods. In addjtlmecause of the many risks and uncertainties edéedavith the development of drug
candidates, our estimates regarding the perio@dbpmance may change in the future. Any changmiimestimates could result in substantial
changes to the period over which the revenues &momp-front license fee are recognized. To datehave had no material changes to our
estimated periods of continuing involvement undesteng collaboration and license agreements. éndéise where we cannot reliably estimate
the period of performance due to our continued lve/ment in research and development, we deferdherencement of revenue recognition
of the up-front license fee until the earlier aher (i) the expected performance period of ountjsteering committee obligations can be
reasonably and reliably estimated or (ii) we ardomger contractually obligated to perform all jogteering committee duties. As a result, at
December 31, 2009, we deferred the entire $30.0omilipfront licensing fee received from Astellas in Nou®n 2009. We began recogniz
revenue from this up-front payment from Astelladdarch 2010, when an estimate of the developmengeould be derived.

Milestones

At the inception of each agreement thauites contingent milestone payments, we evaluatgivein the contingencies underlying each
milestone are substantive and at risk to both gmripecifically reviewing factors such as therdiie and other risks that must be overcome to
achieve the milestone, as well as the level ofreffnd investment required. If we do not considaril@stone to be substantive and at risk to
both parties, the revenues from the related mitesftayment cannot be recognized when the milessomehieved, but must be recognized on a
straight-line basis over the remaining performameeod. All of the milestones that have been adtteto date under our Forest collaboration
agreement and our Almirall license agreement haen lzonsidered substantive. As of December 31,,204 ®ad not achieved any milestones
under our Astellas license agreement.

In those circumstances where a substantilestone is achieved, collection of the relatezkieable is reasonably assured and we have
remaining obligations to perform under the collatimn arrangement, we recognize as revenue ondtieetide milestone is achieved an amount
equal to the applicable percentage of the perfocmgeriod that has elapsed as of the date thetonikess achieved, with the balance being
deferred and recognized over the remaining periggedformance.

Payments received or reasonably assured@dtformance obligations are fully met are re@gphas earned. Because the recognition of a
substantive milestone under a collaboration agreétgpically requires the completion of a numbemrofivities conducted over a significant
period of time, the expenses related to achie\liegnilestone often are incurred prior to the peioathich the milestone payment is
recognized. When we do achieve milestones thatomsider substantive under any of our collaboratisrssmay experience significant
fluctuations in our
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collaborative revenues from quarter to quarteryeat to year depending on the timing of achievinchssubstantive milestones.
Services Revenue

Prior to September 2010, services reveragenacognized when there was persuasive evideatartharrangement existed, services had
been rendered or delivery had occurred, the preefixed or determinable, and collection was reaBhynassured. Revenue from research and
development services rendered was recognized diseewere performed. As a result of the sale ofioierest in Microbia in September 20
services revenue is included in net income (lasshfdiscontinued operations.

Research and Development Exper

All research and development expensesxgrensed as incurred. Research and developmentsegpeamprise costs incurred in
performing research and development activitieduging compensation, benefits and other employséscshardsased compensation exper
laboratory supplies and other direct expenseslitiasiexpenses; overhead expenses; contractuatssy including clinical trial and related
clinical manufacturing expenses; and other extegrpénses. In addition, research and developmeetnese includes reimbursements from
Forest for services performed pursuant to our bolation agreement. Clinical trial expenses inclegeenses associated with CROs. The
invoicing from CROs for services rendered can kxesal months. We accrue the cost of services redde connection with CRO activities
based on our estimate of site management, morgtadsts, project management costs, and investi§sgsr We maintain regular
communication with our CRO vendors to gauge thearableness of our estimates. Differences betwetealeclinical trial expenses and
estimated clinical trial expenses recorded havéoaeh material and are adjusted for in the pernaaghich they become known. Under our
Forest collaboration agreement, we are reimburseddrtain research and development expenses anétieese reimbursements against our
research and development expenses as incurredefdodable advance payments for research and deweldyactivities are capitalized and
expensed over the related service period or assyae@received.

Share-based Compensation Expense

Prior to January 1, 2006, we accountecfoployee share-based awards, including stock apttoremployees using the intrinsic value
method. Under the intrinsic value method, compéosaxpense was measured on the date of aware aliftérence, if any, between the
deemed fair value of our common stock and the apiercise price, multiplied by the number of optiggranted. The option exercise prices
and fair value of our common stock were determimgdur management and board of directors basedreview of various objective and
subjective factors. No compensation expense wasded for stock options issued to employees pddanuary 1, 2006 for awards with fixed
amounts and with fixed exercise prices at leasaikeiguthe fair value of our common stock at theedztgrant.

Effective January 1, 2006, we recognize gensation expense for all share-based awards grantalified, repurchased or cancelled on
or after January 1, 2006, based on the grant datedlue. These costs are recognized on a striighbasis over the requisite service period
for all time-based vested awards. We continue toaat for share-based awards granted prior to Jgriy&2006 under the intrinsic value
method.

We record the expense of services rendeyatn-employees based on the estimated fair \altiee stock option using the Bla8chole:
option-pricing model as of the respective vestiatedFurther, we expense the fair value of eoployee stock options over the vesting terr
the underlying stock options.

For employee share-based awards subseguéanuary 1, 2006, we estimate the fair valudefshare-based awards, including stock
options, using the Black-Scholes option-pricing mlo®etermining
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the fair value of share-based awards requiresgheftihighly subjective assumptions, includingekpected term of the award and expected
stock price volatility. The weighted average asstioms used in calculating the fair value of shbased awards granted in 2010, 2009 and
are set forth below:

Years Ended
December 31,
2010 2009 2008
Volatility 578 62.2% 64.(%
Dividend yield —% —% —%
Expected life of options (in year 6.5 6.5 6.5
Risk-free interest rat 2.9% 2.7% 3.1%

The assumptions used in determining threvilue of share-based awards represent managsrbest'estimates, but these estimates
involve inherent uncertainties and the applicabbmanagement judgment. As a result, if factoraigleaand we use different assumptions, our
share-based compensation could be materially diften the future. The risk-free interest rate usedach grant is based on a zero-coupon
U.S. Treasury instrument with a remaining term kimio the expected term of the share-based aBathuse we do not have a sufficient
history to estimate the expected term, we useithplisied method for estimating the expected tefithe simplified method is based on the
average of the vesting tranches and the contralifieialf each grant. Because there was no publikketdor our common stock prior to our
initial public offering, we lacked company-specifitstorical and implied volatility information. Thefore, we estimate our expected stock
volatility based on that of publicly-traded peemgmanies, and we expect to continue to use thisadetbgy until such time as we have
adequate historical data regarding the volatilftpur publicly-traded stock price. For purposesdeitifying publicly-traded peer companies,
we selected publicly-traded companies that arbérbiopharmaceutical industry, have products odgpecbcandidates in similar therapeutic
areas (gastrointestinal dysfunction and pain mamagé) and stages of preclinical and clinical depgient as us, have sufficient trading his
to derive a historic volatility rate and have senivesting terms as our granted options. We hateaid and do not anticipate paying cash
dividends on our shares of common stock; theretbeeexpected dividend yield is assumed to be X#¥malso recognize compensation
expense for only the portion of options that arpeeted to vest. Accordingly, we have estimated etgueforfeitures of stock options based on
our historical forfeiture rate, adjusted for knoteends, and used these rates in developing a ftatheture rate. Our forfeiture rates were
5.5%, 5.8% and 4.4% as of December 31, 2010, 2602@08, respectively. If our actual forfeitureergiries from our historical rates and
estimates, additional adjustments to compensatiparese may be required in future periods.

We have historically granted stock optiahgxercise prices not less than the fair valuguofcommon stock as determined by our boal
directors, with input from management. Due to theemce of an active market for our common stodky po our initial public offering on
February 2, 2010, our board of directors has licstly determined, with input from management, éiséimated fair value of our common stock
on the date of grant based on a number of objeatidesubjective factors, including:

. the prices at which we sold shares of convertibbdgured stock

. the superior rights and preferences of securigasos to our common stock at the time of each grant

. the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event suab an initial public offering or sale of our comgan

. our historical operating and financial performaaoé the status of our research and product developeiforts;
. achievement of enterprise milestones, includingemering into collaboration and license agreememd

. external market conditions affecting the bioteclgglindustry sector.
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In connection with the preparation of tlk@solidated financial statements for the years @fderember 31, 2009 and 2008, our board of
directors also considered valuations provided bpagament in determining the fair value of our commatock. Such valuations were prepared
as of March 31, June 30, October 28 and Decemhe&208B, and March 31, June 30, September 30, Nogegthbnd December 31, 2009, and
valued our common stock at $4.33, $4.67, $4.98%465.00, $5.48, $7.36, $11.75 and $12.05 peeshaspectively. The valuations have t
used to estimate the fair value of our common stxckf each option grant date and in calculatirgeshhased compensation expense. Our
board of directors has consistently used the nexstnt quarterly valuation provided by managementdébermining the fair value of our
common stock unless a specific event occurredntbegssitated an interim valuation.

The valuations were prepared consisterit thi¢ American Institute of Certified Public Accaants Practice Aidyaluation of Privately-
Held Company Equity Securities Issued as Compene, or the Practice Aid. We used the guideline corggarthod and the similar
transaction method of the market approach, whichpaoe our company to similar publicly-traded coniparr transactions, and an income
approach, which looks at projected future cash $law value our company from among the alternatiliesussed in the Practice Aid. In
addition, as we had several series of convertitdéepred stock outstanding prior to our initial palffering in February 2010, it was also
necessary to allocate our company's value to tHeugclasses of stock, including stock optionspfsvided in the Practice Aid, there are
several approaches for allocating enterprise valweprivately-held company among the securitidd imea complex capital structure. The
possible methodologies include the probability-virtégl expected return method, the option-pricinghmeétand the current value method.

We used the probability-weighted expecttdm method described in the Practice Aid to afleche enterprise values to the common
stock. Under this method, the value of our comntonlsis estimated based upon an analysis of futahges for our company assuming vari
future outcomes, the timing of which is based anglans of our board of directors and managememdebtlthis approach, share value is based
on the probability-weighted present value of expdduture investment returns, considering eachefbssible outcomes available to us, as
well as the rights of each share class. We estiirthefair value of our common stock using a praigbweighted analysis of the present ve
of the returns afforded to our stockholders un@deheof four possible future scenarios. Three ofstenarios assumed a stockholder exit, either
through an IPO or a sale of our company. The foset#nario assumed a sale of our company at a thatiés less than the cumulative amounts
invested by our preferred stockholders.

For the March 31, 2008 valuation, we uitiza one product IPO scenario reflecting only liotde advancing in the clinic at the time of
IPO. Beginning with the October 28, 2008 valuatiwr,included two separate IPO scenarios to bedferat our company's risk profile at that
time. The linaclotide program was by then advanamnigvo indications, CC and IBS-C. We believed tthet IBS-C indication had a
significantly higher market value and higher clalicisk for [ronwood. To better reflect the potetiquidity outcomes for linaclotide, the first
IPO scenario included an assumption of successfas® 3 clinical trials for both the CC and IBS-@igations at the time of an IPO, and the
second IPO scenario reflected successful Phasgei@atlrials in only the CC indication at the ti&the IPO. For both IPO scenarios and the
sale scenario, the estimated future values of onmeon stock were calculated using assumptionsdiirodu the expected pre-money or sale
valuations based on the market approach, and tioeni@ approach using the discounted cash flow methtithe expected dates of the future
expected IPO or sale. For the sale at an assuntlless than the liquidation preference scenémmestimated future and present values ¢
common stock were calculated using assumptionadimay the estimated aggregate enterprise valuecthadl be attained through such a sale
and the estimated expected date of the future Takepresent values of our common stock under seehario were then calculated using a
risk-adjusted discount rate. Finally, the calcudgpeesent values for our common stock were proipgdvieighted based on our
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estimate of the relative occurrence of each scenarnierive the concluded value of our common stock

There are significant judgments and eseématherent in the determination of these valuatidimese judgments and estimates included
assumptions regarding our future performance,ithe to completing an IPO or other liquidity evesmd the timing of and probability of
launching our product candidate as well as detetitns of the appropriate valuation methods. Ithad made different assumptions, our
share-based compensation expense, net loss alubsiger share could have been significantly deffier

We have also granted performance-baseé sguitons with terms that allow the recipients &stin a specific number of shares based
upon the achievement of performance-based milestasespecified in the grants. Share-based compemsaipense associated with these
performance-based stock options is recognizeciptirformance condition is considered probablebifevement using management's best
estimates of the time to vesting for the achievaméthe performance-based milestones. If the déttisievement of the performance-based
milestones varies from our estimates, share-basegensation expense could be materially diffedeamtwhat is recorded in the period. The
cumulative effect on current and prior periods ahange in the estimated time to vesting for penforce-based stock options will be
recognized as compensation cost in the periodeofdtiision, and recorded as a change in estimate.

We have also granted time-accelerated siptikns with terms that allow the accelerationasting of the stock options upon the
achievement of performance-based milestones spddifithe grants. Share-based compensation expsaseiated with these time-accelerated
stock options is recognized over the requisiteiserperiod of the awards or the implied servicaqekrif shorter.

While the assumptions used to calculateaaedunt for share-based compensation awards egpisamianagement's best estimates, these
estimates involve inherent uncertainties and thiegtion of management's judgment. As a resutgvisions are made to our underlying
assumptions and estimates, our share-based contipersgpense could vary significantly from periadperiod.

The total estimated compensation costedltd non-vested stock options and stock awardh, time-based vesting, not yet recognized
was approximately $18.6 million, $9.4 million an@.4 million as of December 31, 2010, 2009 and 208&ectively. The weighted-average
period over which this expense is expected to begmized is approximately 3.36 years. At Decemide2810, approximately $3.9 million of
additional share-based compensation related torgpubject to performance-based milestone vestirggnot yet recognized. See Notes 2 and
16 to our consolidated financial statements locatetis Annual Report on Form 10-K for furtherdission of share-based compensation.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

In September 2007, we entered into a cotktion agreement with Forest, which included diocgent equity investment in the form of a
forward purchase contract, which required Foregutechase 2,083,333 shares of our Series G cobleepieferred stock at a price of $12.00
per share if we achieved a specific clinical midest This preferred stock, which was issued to $taneSeptember 2009, had rights and
conditions substantially identical to our outstamdpreferred stock prior to the issuance. Theseestaf convertible preferred stock converted
into 2,083,333 shares of our Class B common stottkeatime of our IPO in February 2010.

In April 2009, we entered into a licenseesgnent with Almirall, which also included a comamt equity investment in the form of a
forward purchase contract, which required Almitalpurchase 681,819 shares of our Series | coblegreferred stock, if a specific clinical
milestone was met, at a price of $22.00 per sfdre .milestone in this agreement was a differenéstine from the one contained in the Fc
collaboration agreement. This preferred stock, tviwias issued to Almirall and
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for which we received $15.0 million of cash proceed November 13, 2009, had rights and conditiobstantially identical to our outstandi
preferred stock. These shares of convertible medestock converted into 681,819 shares of oursdasommon stock at the time of our 1P(
February 2010.

We evaluated both of these financial inseats and determined that because we may haveréeeined to settle these instruments by
transferring assets to Forest and Almirall duedieemed liquidation™ provisions of the preferrectktdhese instruments should have been
considered assets or liabilities. Each continggottg investment was assessed at fair market \atlits inception. A significant input in the
valuation of the forward purchase contracts waddhevalue of our convertible preferred sharesalihivere estimated using the probability-
weighted expected return method. Under the proibhadikeighted expected return method, the valuewfaonvertible preferred shares was
calculated based on an analysis of potential futahees of our company assuming various futuredity events, the timing and amount of
which were based on estimates from our companymgemnent. The resulting preferred share value wssdon the probability-weighted
present value of the expected future returns, denisig each of the possible outcomes as well agghes of each preferred share class. At
measurement date, assumptions used in the prdabdighted expected return model, including futuagues, liquidity dates and scenario
weightings, were consistent with the assumptiomsi iis our common stock valuations at such timelezeribed above. The calculated disct
or premium from the pre-determined price paid byeBband Almirall for their shares in excess ofék@mated fair value of our convertible
preferred stock at the expected time of meetingeébpective milestone was then discounted usirargany risk-adjusted rate consistent with
the common stock valuations being performed atithe to arrive at the present value of the respedtirward purchase contract.

At the inception of the Forest collaboratagreement, the fair value of our convertible @nefd stock to be issued upon the achievement
of the milestone was equal to the sum of the pritibalwveighted present values for the four iderdipossible exit scenarios—initial public
offering (either one-product IPO or two-product IBOater a one-indication IPO and two-indicati®Ol), sale and sale at an assumed price
below the liquidation preference, all with June 3009 as the expected milestone achievement dagepibability weight assigned to the two-
product IPO scenario was 20% and the probabilitigiteassigned to the orgroduct IPO scenario was 70%. The probability weagsigned t
the sale scenario was 5% and the probability weighigned to the sale at an assumed price lesshddiquidation preference scenario was
5%. The resulting enterprise values for each seemasre discounted to an estimated investment afa@xctober 31, 2008, using a risk-adjusted
discount rate of 20%. Based on this calculatioa,ftir value of the convertible preferred stocké&issued upon achievement of the Forest
milestone was valued at $5.32 per share. The negulifference of $6.68 per share between thevidue of $5.32 and the purchase price of
$12.00 per share represented the estimated preFouest would pay above the fair value of the cotilvler preferred stock. This per share
premium was then adjusted by the probability ofi@dhg the milestone, which was estimated at 808sel on clinical risk, resulting in a
probability adjusted premium of $5.34 per sharee fdsulting total premium was then discounted &epitember 12, 2007 using a company
risk-adjusted discount rate of 20%. As a resuét, Ebrest contingent equity investment was valugteainception of the agreement to be
$9.0 million, which represents the fair value of gremium that Forest would pay for shares of tagksshould the milestone be achieved.

The fair value of our convertible prefersgdck to be issued upon the achievement of thaérAlhmilestone at the inception of the license
agreement in April 2009 was equal to the sum oftfodability-weighted present values for the faleritified possible exit scenarios—one-
indication IPO, two-indication IPO, sale and salamassumed price less than the liquidation peefas, all with September 30, 2010 as the
expected event date. The resulting enterprise sdbreeach scenario were discounted as of the imesgt date which was estimated to be
October 15, 2009. Based on this calculation, tirevEdue of the convertible preferred stock to &suied upon achievement of the
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Almirall milestone was estimated at $9.23 per sh@he resulting difference of $12.77 per share betwthe estimated fair value of $9.23 and
the purchase price of $22.00 per share is the attahpremium Almirall will pay above the fair valogthe convertible preferred stock. This
per share premium was then adjusted by the pratyabilachieving the milestone, which was estimaaed5%, resulting in a probability
adjusted premium of $9.58 per share. The resultita premium was then discounted as of April 3@ at 20%. As a result, the Almirall
contingent equity investment was valued at theptioa of the agreement to be $6.0 million, whichresents the fair value of the premium
Almirall would pay for shares of our stock shoube tmilestone be achieved.

In addition to valuing these instrumentthair inception, we were also required to remeasiue fair value of our contingent equity
investments at each reporting period, using cumsstimptions, with changes in value recorded as atbome or expense. At December 31,
2008, we remeasured the fair value of the Foradtirogent equity investment using valuation methodas consistent with those used at
inception, updated for current assumptions. Basetthese calculations, the fair value of the conblkeripreferred stock to be issued upon
achievement of the Forest milestone was estimat$d.46 per share. The resulting difference of $48r share was then adjusted by an
updated probability of achieving the milestone, atthivas now estimated at 90%, resulting in a prdipabidjusted premium of $4.35 per she
The resulting total premium was then discountedfddecember 31, 2008 using a risk-adjusted discoatetof 19%. As a result, the Forest
contingent equity investment was valued at DecerBlheP008 to be $8.7 million.

On July 22, 2009, we achieved the Forekistune, thus triggering the Forest equity investmas a result, we remeasured the fair value
of the equity investment as of July 22, 2009 usialgiation methodologies consistent with those wddecember 31, 2008, updated for cur
assumptions including a change to the investmetettdaJuly 22, 2009. Based on these calculatitrsfdir value of the convertible preferred
stock to be issued upon achievement of the Foréastone was calculated at $7.76 per share. Thatires difference of $4.24 per share was
not adjusted by a probability discount as the rntoles was achieved. The resulting total premium tivas discounted as of July 22, 2009 using
a risk-adjusted discount rate of 20%. As a residt,Forest contingent equity investment was vahtellly 22, 2009 to be $8.8 million and at
that time we reclassified the forward purchaseremtias a reduction to convertible preferred st@rkSeptember 1, 2009, we received from
Forest $25.0 million for the 2,083,333 shares afeSeG convertible preferred stock.

On November 2, 2009, we achieved the Allinindlestone, thus triggering the Almirall equityviestment. As a result, we remeasured the
fair value of the equity investment as of Novembg2009 using valuation methodologies consistettt thiose used at April 30, 2009, updated
for current assumptions including a change to tivestment date to November 2, 2009. Based on taselations, the fair value of the
convertible preferred stock to be issued upon aelment of the Almirall milestone was estimatedH.41 per share. The resulting difference
of $9.59 per share was not adjusted by a probgbiiitcount as the milestone was achieved. Thetiegubtal premium was then discounted as
of November 2, 2009 using a risk-adjusted discoata of 15%. As a result, the Almirall contingeqtiy investment was valued at
November 2, 2009 to be $6.5 million and at thaktiwe reclassified the forward purchase contraet sluction to convertible preferred sto
On November 13, 2009, we received from Almirall $i&nillion for the 681,819 shares of Series | catilike preferred stock.
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Results of Operations

The following discussion summarizes the fators our management believes are necessaanfonderstanding of our consolidated
financial statements.

Years Ended December 31
2010 2009 2008
(in thousands)

Collaborative arrangemer

revenue $ 43,857 $ 34,32. $ 18,38!
Operating expense

Research and

developmen 77,454 76,10( 51,42
General ant
administrative 27,16¢ 19,03% 15,26¢
Total operating expens: 104,62: 95,13 66,69(
Loss from operation (60,76¢)  (60,81¢) (48,309
Other income (expense
Interest expens (29¢) (319 (297)
Interest and investme
income 614 24C 2,08¢

Remeasurement of
forward purchase

contracts — 60C (900)
Other income 99z — —
Other income (expense), 1,411 522 897

Net loss from continuin
operations before

income tax benef (59,355 (60,299 (47,410
Income tax benef (2,949 (29¢) —
Net loss from continuin

operations (56,417) (59,999 (47,410
Net income (loss) fror

discontinued operatior 4,551 (13,319 (7,627)
Net loss (51,86() (73,317  (55,03)

Net (income) loss fror

discontinued operatior

attributable to

noncontrolling interes (1,12 2,127 1,157
Net loss attributable t

Ironwood

Pharmaceuticals, Inc ~ $ (52,987) $ (71,18%) $ (53,879

Year Ended December 31, 2010 Compared to Year Erdecember 31, 2009
Revenue

Years Ended
December 31, Change
2010 2009 $ %
(dollars in thousands)

Collaborative
arrangements
revenue $ 43,857 $ 34,32: $ 9,53 27.&%

Collaborative Arrangements. The increase in revenue from collaborativerggesanents for the year ended December 31, 2010 gechpa
to the year ended December 31, 2009 was primauniytd increases in revenue from the Almirall lieagreement, which we entered into in
April 2009, and the Astellas license agreementgcivive entered into in November 2009, offset by el@ses in revenue from the Forest
collaboration. In the year ended December 31, 2@&Xecognized approximately $10.6 million of revencompared with approximately
$7.0 million of revenue in 2009, related to the $3&illion up-front license payment received in M2309 from Almirall and the amortization
of the deferred revenue resulting from recordirgitiitial $6.0 million valuation of the Almirall faovard purchase contract. Additionally in
2010, we recognized approximately $7.6 million®fenue associate
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with the $19.0 million milestone payment, net ofds, received in December 2010 under the Almiredinse agreement. In the year ended
December 31, 2010, we recognized approximately B2l&n of revenue related to the $30.0 million-fipnt license payment received in
November 2009 from Astellas, compared with non20df9, as the development period and related amatidizdid not commence until Mar
2010. Additionally, in the year ended DecemberZ1,0 we recognized approximately $1.3 million frehipments of clinical trial materials to
both Almirall and Astellas compared to approximat®0.3 million in 2009. This was offset by a dem®# revenue recognized in relation to
the Forest collaboration primarily due to the aehiment of a $20.0 million milestone in July 200ribg the year ended December 31, 2010,
we recognized approximately $4.0 million relatedhis milestone compared to approximately $9.2iarilduring 2009, of which
approximately $7.5 million was recognized upon aebiment, resulting in a decrease of approximatglg #illion from 2010 to 2009.

Operating Expenses

Years Ended
December 31, Change
2010 2009 $ %
(dollars in thousands)

Operating expense
Research an

developmen $ 77,45 $ 76,10( $ 1,35¢ 1.8%
General and

administrative 27,16¢ 19,037 8,132 42.1%
Total operating

expense: $ 104,620 $ 95,137 $ 9,48¢ 10.(%

Research and Development Expens&he increase in research and development egpdrapproximately $1.4 million for the year en
December 31, 2010 compared to the year ended Dexe3ih2009 was primarily due to an increase of@pmately $4.3 million in
compensation, benefits, and employee related eggassociated mainly with increased headcounhaaadse of approximately $1.8 million
due to the implementation in the first quarter 81@ of our employee incentive plan, an increasappfoximately $1.7 million in share-based
compensation expense primarily related to our anstoak option grant made in February 2010, andgase of approximately $2.9 million in
research and development related facilities andrattsearch and development support costs largelyalincreased rent and depreciation
expense associated with the additional space vgedeat our 301 Binney Street facility in Februa®yl@ and an increase of approximately
$0.8 million in internal research costs, such asiatory supplies, to support the development ofpipeline, offset by a decrease of
approximately $10.2 million in support of linackb, primarily resulting from lower clinical triatollaboration and manufacturing expenses as
we completed the efficacy portion of linaclotidé&sselopment program.

General and Administrative ExpenseThe increase in general and administrative esp®f approximately $8.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 2010 compared to the year édelmember 31, 2009 was primarily due to an incredsg@proximately $2.3 million in
compensation, benefits and other employee relateenses associated with increased headcount, aaseof approximately $0.7 million in
share-based compensation expense primarily refatedr annual stock option grant made in Febru@d02an increase of approximately
$0.8 million due to the implementation in the figstarter of 2010 of our employee incentive planinenease of approximately $1.2 million in
general and administrative related facilities csisiarily due to increased rent expense associatthdthe additional space we leased at our
301 Binney Street facility in February 2010, anréase of approximately $0.8 million in expenses tdugeing a public company, such as audit
and tax fees, filing fees, and directors' and effitinsurance and an increase in external conguitists of approximately $2.2 million
primarily associated with preparing to commercilinaclotide and public company requirements, sagcmvestor relations, Sarbanes-Oxley
compliance and stock administration offset by amease of approximately $0.8 million in the reimrdgement from Forest on our collaborative
commercial activities.
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Other Income (Expense), Net

Years Ended
December 31, Change
2010 2009 $ %
(dollars in thousands)

Other income (expense

Interest expens $ (19€) $ (31f) $ 12z 38.4%
Interest and investme

income 614 24C 374 155.¢%
Remeasurement

forward purchase

contracts — 60C (600) (100.0%
Other income 995 — 995 100.(%
Total other income

(expense), ne $ 1,411 $ 52z $ 88¢ 170.2%

Interest Expense. The decrease in interest expense of approxiyn®fel million for the year ended December 31,@206@mpared to the
year ended December 31, 2009 was primarily thdtreéa reduction in lon-term debt, partially offset by early payment faezurred in
connection with the repayment of the long-term del8eptember 2010.

Interest and Investment IncomeThe increase in interest and investment incofregproximately $0.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2010 compared to the year ended Dexe3h2009 was due to higher average cash, casbadents and investment balances,
partially offset by lower prevailing interest rathsring the period.

Remeasurement of Forward Purchase ContracfBhe decrease in the remeasurement of forwaichpse contracts of approximately
$0.6 million for the year ended December 31, 20dfgared to the year ended December 31, 2009 rddubte the final settlement of the
Forest forward purchase contract in July 2009 aedAmirall forward purchase contract in Novemb@62. The Forest forward purchase
contract was remeasured in July 2009 when Forederita equity investment and the Almirall forwangkrghase contract was remeasured at
November 2, 2009 when Almirall made its equity isiveent, resulting in total respective gains on @sneement of $0.1 million ar
$0.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2@39a result of the final settlements of both fordvaurchase contracts, there were no
corresponding remeasurements during 2010.

Other Income. The increase in other income for the year erdecember 31, 2010 compared to the year ended Deredi, 2009 was
primarily due to approximately $978,000 in grantsaeded to us under the Qualifying Therapeutic Disty Project Program in 2010. There
was no corresponding award in 2009.

Income Tax Benefit. The approximately $2.6 million increase in in@tax benefit for the year ended December 31, 20fifpared to
the year ended December 31, 2009 was relatedrtperiod income tax allocation requirements foioltwe recorded a benefit for income
taxes from continuing operations of approximateyddmillion, offset by an identical income tax pigien from discontinued operations for the
year ended December 31, 2010. The -period income tax allocation considers discontthaperations for purposes of determining the
amount of tax benefit that results from our lossrfrcontinuing operations.

Net Income (Loss) From Discontinued Operadi  The approximately $17.9 million increase in imebme (loss) from discontinued
operations for the year ended December 31, 201@ared to the year ended December 31, 2009 was nilsirttee result of the approximately
$12.2 million gain recognized on the sale of Mideoim September 2010 and lower operating expenfsklcoobia resulting from reduced
headcount and rent expense associated with Micsodimvember 2009 restructuring activities, panialifset by the tax provision related to the
intra-period tax allocation.
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Net (Income) Loss From Discontinued OperadiAttributable to Noncontrolling Interest. The approximately $3.2 million increase in
income from discontinued operations attributabladacontrolling interest for the year ended Decen®ie 2010 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2009 was primarily due to an incrégaset income for Microbia due to a gain recognipadhe settlement of intercompany
balances immediately prior to the sale of Micrabi&eptember 2010 and lower operating expensedabba resulting from reduced
headcount and rent expense associated with Mi¢soiiaember 2009 restructuring activities.

Year Ended December 31, 2009 Compared to Year Erdecember 31, 2008
Revenue

Years Ended
December 31, Change
2009 2008 $ %
(dollars in thousands)

Collaborative
arrangements
revenue $ 34,327 $ 18,38: $ 15,93¢ 86.™%

Collaborative Arrangements. The increase in revenue from collaborativeragesnents of approximately $15.9 million for the iyeadec
December 31, 2009 compared to the year ended Dexe3tib2008 was primarily due to increases in reegnom the Forest collaboration and
the Almirall license agreement. During the yearezh®ecember 31, 2009, we recognized approxima® Sillion of revenue related to a
$20.0 million Forest milestone payment we receiveduly 2009, and a total of approximately $7.0lianl of revenue related to the
$38.0 million up-front license payment receivediirdimirall in May 2009 and the amortization of teferred revenue resulting from
recording the initial $6.0 million valuation of tidmirall forward purchase contract. Additionalip, 2009, we recognized approximately
$0.3 million in revenue related to the initial safedevelopment material to Almirall. These incressvere partially offset by an incremental
approximately $0.6 million of revenue recognizedhia year ended December 31, 2008 related to it iecognition upon achievement of a
clinical milestone in September 2008 under the $tarellaboration.

Operating Expenses

Years Ended
December 31, Change
2009 2008 $ %
(dollars in thousands)

Operating expense
Research and

developmen $ 76,100 $ 51,427 $ 24,67¢ 48.(%
General ant

administrative 19,031 15,26¢ 3,76¢  24.1%
Total operating

expense: $ 95137 $ 66,69( $ 28,447 42.1%

Research and Development Expensé&he increase in research and development egpdrapproximately $24.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2009 compared to the year édeleember 31, 2008 was primarily due to an incredsg@proximately $21.4 million in
expenses primarily associated with the Phase Ralitrials for linaclotide and an increase of apfimately $3.3 million in spending for
compensation, benefits and other employee relagednses resulting from an increase in headcousugport our linaclotide program.

General and Administrative ExpenseThe increase in general and administrative esp®f approximately $3.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2009 compared to the year édelmember 31, 2008 was primarily due to increasedpemsation, benefits and other
employee related expenses of approximately $2.Bomilelated to an increase in headcount to supparbverall growth, increased general
and administrative related facilities costs of apmately $0.8 million
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associated with new office space and increased ¢egts of approximately $0.7 million primarily assated with intellectual property and
other corporate legal matters, partially offsetdpproximately $0.6 million decrease in professidaak primarily associated with marketing
related activities.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Years Ended
December 31, Change
2009 2008 $ %
(dollars in thousands)

Other income (expens:

Interest expens $ (318 $ (291) ¢ 27 (9.9%
Interest anc

investment incom 24C 2,08¢ (1,848 (88.5)%
Remeasurement |

forward purchase

contracts 60C (900) 1,500 166.7%
Total other incom:

(expense), ne $ 522 $ 897 $ (375 (41.9%

Interest Expense. The increase in interest expense for the yedee December 31, 2009 compared to the year endeeniber 31, 2008
was a result of additional borrowings in 2009 unaier debt facility as well as two new capital leaigat we entered into in 2008.

Interest and Investment IncomeThe decrease in interest and investment indomihe year ended December 31, 2009 compareckto th
year ended December 31, 2008 was due to lower geemsh balances and lower prevailing interess idueing the perioc

Remeasurement of Forward Purchase ContracfBhe increase in the fair value of the forwandghase contracts for the year ended
December 31, 2009 compared to the year ended Dexe3th2008 resulted from changes in the fair vafube Forest and Almirall forward
purchase contracts at the time of remeasuremeatvadluation of the Forest forward purchase confiacdhe year ended December 31, 2009
increased $0.1 million as compared to a decrea$8.8fmillion for the year ended December 31, 200 large decrease in the valuation of
the Forest forward purchase contract was primarilgsult of an increase in the fair value of ounastible preferred stock at the time of
remeasurement. This increase was driven by higitenated enterprise values and a lower risk-adjlistierest rate assumption used in our
valuation. As a result, at December 31, 2008, #igation of the Forest forward purchase contractetesed. The Almirall forward purchase
contract valuation increased $0.5 million in tharyended December 31, 2009 without a corresporatingge in the year ended December 31,
2008 as we entered into the license agreementAditirall in April 2009.

Income Tax Benefit. The approximately $0.3 million increase in inetax benefit for the year ended December 31, 2@39related to
a refundable federal research and developmentéaitcWe received approximately $0.2 million oisthefund in October 2009 and we
received approximately $0.1 million in October 2010

Net Loss Attributable to Discontinued Ogimas. The approximately $5.7 million increase in lvss attributable to discontinued
operations for the year ended December 31, 2009ared to the year ended December 31, 2008 wadukatger net loss associated with
our former subsidiary, Microbia. Revenue associatid this segment declined approximately $2.1ionllduring 2009 primarily due to the
winding down of service contracts, while expensesdased approximately $2.3 million. In Novembed2Microbia implemented a strategic
restructuring plan and recorded approximately $8ilBon of expense related primarily to a workfoneluction and approximately $0.9 milli
related to impairments of long-lived assets.

Net Loss Attributable to Noncontrollingérgst. The approximately $1.0 million increase in lusts attributable to noncontrolling
interest was due to the larger net loss for Miaas a result of lower
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revenue and increased expenses, including itigsting expense, during the year ended Decemhe&t(8B compared to the year ended
December 31, 2008.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
The following table sets forth the majousues and uses of cash for each of the periodsrsetbelow:

Years Ended December 31,
2010 2009 2008
(in thousands)

Net cash (used in) provide

by:

Operating activitie! $ (67,899 $ (3,445 $ (25,51)

Investing activities (213,049  17,75¢ (25,079)

Financing activitie: 202,95¢ 41,66: 48,56
Net increase in cash a

cash equivalent $ (77,98%) $ 5597¢ $ 7,97¢

We have incurred losses since our incepiodanuary 5, 1998 and, as of December 31, 204 0ad a cumulative deficit of
approximately $367.5 million. We have financed operations to date primarily through the sale efgmred stock and common stock,
including approximately $203.2 million of net precks from our IPO, payments received under collalvararrangements, including
reimbursement of certain expenses, debt finan@ngsinterest earned on investments. At Decembe2@®10, we had approximately
$248.0 million of unrestricted cash, cash equivislemd available-for-sale securities. Our cashwvedgmts include amounts held in money
market funds, stated at cost plus accrued intasdsth approximates fair market value and amoustd n certain U.S. government sponsored
securities. Our available-for-sale securities idelamounts held in U.S. Treasury securities and gb%rnment sponsored securities. We
invest cash in excess of immediate requiremenas@ordance with our investment policy, which linthe amounts we may invest in any one
type of investment and requires all investmentd hglus to be A+ rated so as to primarily achiegeidlity and capital preservation.

Cash Flows From Operating Activities

Net cash used in operating activities tatapproximately $67.9 million for the year endegt®mber 31, 2010. The primary uses of cash
were our net loss from continuing operations ofragimately $56.4 million, approximately $6.0 milfiaused in operating activities from
discontinued operations and a decrease of appreeiyr21.3 million in working capital resulting prarily from changes in deferred revenue
associated with the recognition of revenue fromfeanest collaboration agreement and our Almirall Astellas license agreements, as well as
the achievement of the milestone associated wéhAtmirall agreement. These uses of cash weregtigrtffset by non-cash items of
approximately $15.8 million.

Net cash used in operating activities tatadpproximately $3.4 million for the year endeat&waber 31, 2009. The primary uses of cash
were our net loss from continuing operations ofragimately $60.0 million and approximately $11.9lian included in net cash used in
operating activities from discontinued operatiarfset by approximately $9.6 million in non-casénits and an increase of approximately
$58.5 million in working capital. The increase iorking capital was due primarily to an increaseéferred revenue resulting from the
$38.0 million up-front cash payment associated withAlmirall license agreement, the $30.0 millignfront payment associated with the
Astellas license and the $20.0 million milestongmpant related to the Forest collaboration agreeppamtially offset by reductions in deferred
revenue as revenue was recognized from our Foo#aboration and our Almirall license agreement.
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Net cash used in operating activities tatapproximately $25.5 million for the year endegt®mber 31, 2008. The primary uses of cash
were our net loss from continuing operations ofragimately $47.4 million and approximately $4.0 lioih included in net cash used in
operating activities from discontinued operatiarféset by approximately $5.8 million in non-casénits and approximately $20.1 million
increase in working capital. The increase in wagkiapital was due primarily to a decrease in actsorgteivable as we collected the up-front
payment associated with the Forest collaboratiod26f0 million in 2008, an increase in deferrecerase resulting from the receipt of the
$10.0 million milestone payment in our Forest dofleation partially offset by revenue recognizedwad as an increase in deferred rent
primarily as a result of having received approxieha®$6.6 million in cash reimbursements for tenargrovements.

Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities for tiearyended December 31, 2010 totaled approximagdg.® million and resulted primarily from
the purchase of approximately $441.8 million ofiséies related to the investment of the net prdeesf our IPO and the purchase of
approximately $17.2 million of property and equipmerimarily leasehold improvements, associatetth e expansion of our 301 Binney
Street facility. These uses of cash were partiafiget by the sale and maturity of approximatel3&3 million in investments and $9.5 million
in proceeds received from DSM for the sale of oteriest in Microbia.

Cash provided by investing activities floe tyear ended December 31, 2009 totaled approxy&it&.8 million and resulted primarily
from the sales and maturities of securities of epipnately $48.5 million, partially offset by the qmhase of approximately $26.7 million of
securities, the purchase of approximately $4.0ionilbf property and equipment of which approximatk0.5 million is included in net cash
provided by (used in) investing activities fromabstinued operations.

Cash used by investing activities for tearyended December 31, 2008 totaled approximafdéyl$nillion and resulted primarily from t
purchase of approximately $82.6 million of secastithe purchase of approximately $22.9 milliopmperty and equipment of which
approximately $1.5 million is included in net cagsbvided by (used in) investing activities fromabstinued operations, partially offset by the
sales and maturities of securities of approxima$&.5 million. The property and equipment purclklase2008 primarily related to the
leasehold improvements for our new facility at Bdney Street and the purchase of laboratory egeigrfor the facility.

Cash Flows From Financing Activities

Cash provided by financing activities foetyear ended December 31, 2010 totaled approxyt263.0 million and resulted primarily
from the net proceeds of our IPO of approximat@@%2 million and approximately $2.0 million in bagrovided by stock option exercises,
partially offset by approximately $2.2 million imsh used for payments of the long term debt, oElwhpproximately $0.3 million was
repayment of debt from discontinued operations.

Cash provided by financing activities feay ended December 31, 2009 totaled approximatdly7$million, primarily resulting from
approximately $40.3 million in proceeds from théesaf preferred stock and approximately $1.1 millreceived from net borrowings under
debt facility, of which approximately $1.3 millias included in net cash (used in) provided by fuiag activities from discontinued operatio
We received a total of $25.0 million of proceedsnirthe sale of 2,083,333 shares of our Series @ettible preferred stock to Forest,
$15.0 million of proceeds from the sale of 681,8mhAres of our Series | convertible preferred stockimirall and approximately $0.2 million
of proceeds from the sale of 20,833 shares ofsétieonvertible preferred stock.

Cash provided by financing activities fbetyear ended December 31, 2008 totaled approxiyrd8.6 million primarily resulting from
approximately $49.6 million in proceeds from théesaf 4,141,586 shares of our Series H converpbéerred stock offset by approximately
$1.0 million in payments made under our debt facili
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Funding Requirements

To date, we have not commercialized anglpets and have not achieved profitability. We apéte that we will continue to incur
substantial net losses for the next several yeavgeafurther develop and prepare for the potentiaimercial launch of linaclotide, continue to
invest in our pipeline, develop the organizatioguieed to sell our product candidates and operste @ublicly traded company.

We have generated revenue from servicefomp license fees and milestones, but have noegeged any product revenue since our
inception and do not expect to generate any pragwenue from our collaborative arrangements ostte of products unless we receive
regulatory approval for commercial sale of linaitlet We believe that our cash on hand as of the afathis Annual Report on Form 10-K and
additional cash milestone payments we may receora bur current and future collaborators give Usstantial strategic optionality and will
enable us to operate the company in a productive theough at least 2014. Our forecast of the gkabtime through which our financial
resources will be adequate to support our opemtiocluding the underlying estimates regardingdh&ts to obtain regulatory approval and
costs to commercialize linaclotide, is a forwarddimg statement that involves risks and uncertegtand actual results could vary materially
and negatively as a result of a number of facioduding the factors discussed in the "Risk Fatsection of this Annual Report on Form 10-
K. We have based our estimates on assumptionsidaprove to be wrong, and we could utilize ourilatée capital resources sooner than we
currently expect.

Due to the numerous risks and uncertairtiseciated with the development of our productlickates, we are unable to estimate precisely
the amounts of capital outlays and operating exjpers$ necessary to complete the development dff@obtain regulatory approval for,
linaclotide and our other product candidates fbofthe indications for which we believe each protdcandidate is suited. Our funding
requirements will depend on many factors, includimgt not limited to, the following:

. the time and costs involved in obtaining regulatapyprovals for our product candidates;

. the rate of progress and cost of our commercidtinactivities;

. the success of our research and development el

. the expenses we incur in marketing and sellingpooduct candidates;

. the revenue generated by sales of our product dated;

. the emergence of competing or complementary teolgicd! development:

. the costs of filing, prosecuting, defending andecihg any patent claims and other intellectuapprty rights;
. the terms and timing of any additional collaborafikcensing or other arrangements that we mayksita and
. the acquisition of businesses, products and teokres.

Contractual Commitments and Obligations

Under our collaborative agreement with Boreve share equally with Forest all developmedt@mmercialization costs related to
linaclotide in the U.S. The actual amounts thatpag Forest or that Forest pays to us will dependwnerous factors outside of our control,
including the success of our clinical developmdfures with respect to linaclotide, the content dmding of decisions made by the FDA, the
reimbursement and competitive landscape aroundltitide and our other product candidates, and ddwetors described under the heading
"Risk Factors."
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Our most significant clinical trial expetdies are to CROs. The contracts with CROs genesedl cancellable, with notice, at our option
and do not have any cancellation penalties. Thesesiare not included in the table below.

In June 2010, we entered into a commestipply agreement with a contract manufacturing miegdion for the purchase of a portion of
the linaclotide API that will be used to seek regoty approval of linaclotide in the U.S., Canadd/ar Mexico, and, depending on such
approval, that would be used for commercial salesuch countries. The commercial supply agreemamams minimum purchase
requirements that commence with the commercialdawfi linaclotide and that are dependent upon st commercial requirements. Since,
at this time, linaclotide has not yet been apprdeedommercialization and future commercial dem#ordinaclotide is unknown, the table
below does not include an estimate of our futuneimiim purchase requirements under the commerqglgagreement.

In connection with our collaboration agresmnwith Protagonist entered into in February 2d are obligated to make an up-front
payment to Protagonist. We will also fund full-tiraquivalents for Protagonist's drug discovery dtigis. Due to the uncertainties involved in
the discovery phase of a product candidate, weigable to determine the duration and costs requiredmplete Protagonist's drug discovery
activities and as a result, we have not includegé¢hamounts in the table below. Pending the acmiertof certain development and
commercialization milestones, we will make certaiitestone and royalty payments. As these paymeatsantingent upon the occurrence of
certain future events and, given the nature ofdle®nts, it is unclear when, if ever, we may lgiired to pay such amounts and as a result,
these contingent payments have not been includdtitable below.

The following table summarizes our contmatbbligations at December 31, 2010 (excludingriegt):

Payments Due by Period

Less Than 1-3 3-5 More Than
Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years
(in thousands)
Capital lease obligatior $ 59C $ 197 $ 35¢ % 34 % —
Operating lease obligatiol 48,53t 8,671 29,72 10,13¢ —
Total contractual obligatior $ 49,12t $ 8,86¢ $ 30,08« $ 10,17 $ =

Our commitment for capital lease obligatigalates to leased computer and office equipment.

Our commitments for operating leases ratatur lease of office and laboratory space in Bdaige, Massachusetts. In February 2011
entered into a fourth amendment to our lease farEd@ney Street. Under the amended lease, we leasadditional 23,307 square feet of the
301 Binney Street building. Rent for the additiospace commences no later than February 2012 aedréat will be $42.50 per rentable
square foot per year, and will increase annuall$®p0 per rentable square foot. The landlord pvibvide us with a finish work allowance of
$40.00 per rentable square foot of additional spanted pursuant to this amendment. The amendnoast bt change the January 31, 2016
expiration date of the original lease.

Related Party Transactions

We have and currently obtain legal services a law firm that is an investor of ours. Wedoapproximately $0.3 million, $0.1 million
and $0.1 million in legal fees to this investoridgrthe years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 aridl 28€pectively.
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In September 2009, Forest became a repetetyl when we sold to them 2,083,333 shares otonvertible preferred stock at a price of
$12.00 per share for cash proceeds of $25.0 milkonest accounted for approximately 50%, 79% @64 of our revenue from continuing
operations for the years ended December 31, 2@0® &nd 2008, respectively.

In November 2009, Almirall became a relgtadty when we sold to them 681,819 shares of onvertible preferred stock at a price of
$22.00 per share for cash proceeds of $15.0 milAdmirall accounted for approximately 43% and 2d%our revenue from continuing
operations for the years ended December 31, 200 @@D9, respectively.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any relationships with ursodidated entities or financial partnerships, sastentities often referred to as structured
finance or special purpose entities, that wouldeHasen established for the purpose of facilitatifidhalance sheet arrangements (as that term
is defined in Item 303(a)(4)(ii) of Regulation S-&) other contractually narrow or limited purposés.such, we are not exposed to any
financing, liquidity, market or credit risk thatwd arise if we had engaged in those types oficglahips. We enter into guarantees in the
ordinary course of business related to the guaeasiteur own performance and the performance okabsidiaries.

New Accounting Pronouncements

From time to time, new accounting pronoumeats are issued by the Financial Accounting Staisd@oard, or FASB, or other standard
setting bodies that are adopted by us as of thefigabeffective date. Unless otherwise discussezbelieve that the impact of recently issued
standards that are not yet effective will not havaaterial impact on our consolidated financialifpas or results of operations upon adoption.

Recently Issued Accounting Standar

In October 2009, the FASB issued Accountitgndards Update No. 2009-Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements ASU
2009-13. ASU 2009-13 amends existing revenue reétiograccounting pronouncements that are currenttlin the scope of FASB
Accounting Standards Codification Subtopic 60542%®yiously included within EITF 00-2Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliveral
("EITF 00-21"). The consensus to ASU 2009-13 presidccounting principles and application guidancevbether multiple deliverables exist,
how the arrangement should be separated, and tisgdernation allocated. This guidance eliminatesduygiirement to establish the fair value of
undelivered products and services and instead ges\ior separate revenue recognition based upoagearent's estimate of the selling price
for an undelivered item when there is no other redardetermine the fair value of that undelivetedni. EITF 00-21 previously required that
the fair value of the undelivered item be the patéhe item either sold in a separate transadigtween unrelated third parties or the price
charged for each item when the item is sold seplgray the vendor. Under EITF 00-21, if the faituaof all of the elements in the
arrangement was not determinable, then revenuelefasred until all of the items were delivered air f/alue was determined. This new
approach is effective prospectively for revenuargements entered into or materially modified $cdl years beginning on or after June 15,
2010 and allows for retrospective application. lAis guidance is applicable to future transactimesgdo not expect the implementation to have
a material impact on our consolidated financialifp@s or results of operations.

In April 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 201D, Revenue Recognition—Milestone Method ASU 2010-017. ASU 2010-017 provides
guidance in applying the milestone method of reeeracognition to research or development arrangsmeinder this guidance management
may recognize revenue contingent upon the achienteai@ milestone in its entirety, in the periodahich the milestone is
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achieved, only if the milestone meets all the datevithin the guidance to be considered substaniihis ASU is effective on a prospective
basis for research and development milestones\ahia fiscal years, beginning on or after June2l8,0. Early adoption is permitted,;
however, adoption of this guidance as of a daterdtien January 1, 2011 requires application sfghidance retrospectively effective as of
January 1, 2010 and disclosure of the effect af gidance as applied to all previously reportéerim periods in the fiscal year of adoption.
As we plan to implement ASU No. 2010-17 prospetyivihe effect of this guidance will be limited figture transactions.

In December 2010, the FASB issued ASU Nd.(2027 Fees Paid to the Federal Government by Pharmacautlanufacturers or
ASU 2010-027, which provides guidance on how t@gaize and classify the fees mandated by the R&mection and Affordable Care Act
as amended by the Health Care and Education Réietioti Act, together the Acts. The Acts imposeaaimual fee for each calendar year
beginning on or after January 1, 2011. The liapfiir the fee should be estimated and recordedlirupon the first qualifying sale with a
corresponding deferred cost that is amortized pepge using a straight-line method of allocatioerdlie calendar year that it is payable. As
we do not currently have a commercial product gffiect of this guidance will be limited to futunahsactions.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about MakRisk
Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to market risk related smglkes in interest rates. We invest our cash irriatyaof financial instruments, principally
deposits, securities issued by the U.S. governiaueaits agencies and money market instrumentsgdhaks of our investment policy are
preservation of capital, fulfillment of liquidityeeds and fiduciary control of cash and investmafitsalso seek to maximize income from our
investments without assuming significant risk.

Our primary exposure to market risk is iagt income sensitivity, which is affected by chesiqn the general level of interest rates,
particularly because our investments are in slesrivimarketable securities. Due to the short-termatéhn of our investment portfolio and the
low risk profile of our investments, an immediafé thange in interest rates would not have a matifiect on the fair market value of our
portfolio. Accordingly, we would not expect our epeng results or cash flows to be affected to sigpificant degree by the effect of a sudden
change in market interest rates on our investmeritgio.

Recently, there has been concern in thditarearkets regarding the value of a variety of tgage-backed and auction rate securities and
the resulting effect on various securities markéts.do not currently have any auction rate se@sitWe do not believe our cash, cash
equivalents and available-for-sale investments Iséysificant risk of default or illiquidity. Whileve believe our cash, cash equivalents and
available-for-sale securities do not contain exeesssk, we cannot provide absolute assuranceithdie future our investments will not be
subject to adverse changes in market value. Irtiaddive maintain significant amounts of cash, caghivalents and available-for-sale
securities at one or more financial institutionatthre in excess of federally insured limits. Gitlea current instability of financial institutions,
we cannot provide assurance that we will not exymee losses on these deposits.

Our capital lease obligations bear inteatst fixed rate and therefore have minimal exppsoichanges in interest rates.
Foreign Currency Risk
We have no operations outside the U.S.dandot have any foreign currency or other derivafimancial instruments.
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Effects of Inflation

We do not believe that inflation and chawggprices over the years ended December 31, 2009, 2nd 2008 had a significant impact on
our results of operations.

Item 8. Consolidated Financial Statements and SupplementBrgta

Our consolidated financial statements, tlogrewith the independent registered public acdagrfirm report thereon, appear at pages F-1
through F-48, respectively, of this Annual RepartFmrm 10-K.

Iltem 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants orcéwnting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As required by Rule 13a-15(b) of the SamsiExchange Act of 1934, or the Exchange Act,roanagement, including our principal
executive officer and our principal financial o#fic conducted an evaluation as of the end of thegeovered by this Annual Report on
Form 10-K of the effectiveness of the design aneraion of our disclosure controls and proceduBased on that evaluation, our principal
executive officer and principal financial officesrecluded that our disclosure controls and procexlare effective at the reasonable assurance
level in ensuring that information required to bigctbsed by us in the reports that we file or suhmter the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the pien@ds specified in the SEC's rules and formsclDgire controls and procedures include,
without limitation, controls and procedures desijteensure that information required to be dissdosy us in the reports we file under the
Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated tenaumagement, including our principal executiveagffiand principal financial officer, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regardinguiegd disclosure.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Finangal Reporting

Our management is responsible for estahlisand maintaining adequate internal control awerfinancial reporting. Internal control o\
financial reporting is defined in Rules 13a-15(fidal5d-15(f) under the Exchange Act as the prodesigned by, or under the supervision of,
our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial O, and effected by our board of directors, manaent and other personnel, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilityuofioancial reporting and the preparation of donahcial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting iplgs; and includes those policies and procedinas t

Q) pertain to the maintenance of records that, inaralsle detail, accurately and fairly reflect thengactions and dispositions
assets;

2) provide reasonable assurance that transactiome@reded as necessary to permit preparation ofiiahstatements i
accordance with generally accepted accounting iptes; and that receipts and expenditures are bamg only in accordance
with the authorizations of management and directord

3) provide reasonable assurance regarding the preventitimely detection of unauthorized acquisitiose or disposition of asst
that could have a material effect on our finanstatements.

Under the supervision and with the parttign of our management, including our Chief ExamuOfficer and Chief Financial Officer, v
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our

65




Table of Contents

internal control over financial reporting basedtba framework provided imternal Control—Integrated Framewoiksued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Comimis8Based on this evaluation, our management aded that our internal control over
financial reporting was effective as of DecemberZ110.

This Annual Report on Form 10-K does netude an attestation report of our independenstergd public accounting firm regarding
internal control over financial reporting. Manager®report was not subject to attestation by ndependent registered public accounting
pursuant to an exemption under Section 989G obithdd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Praiachct.

Changes in Internal Control

As required by Rule 13a-15(d) of the Exa®Act, our management, including our principaleesteve officer and our principal financial
officer, conducted an evaluation of the internaitool over financial reporting to determine whethey changes occurred during the quarter
ended December 31, 2010 that have materially &fflecr are reasonably likely to materially affexty internal control over financial reportir
Based on that evaluation, our principal executiffieer and principal financial officer concluded sach changes during the quarter ended
December 31, 2010 materially affected, or wereaeakly likely to materially affect, our internalrool over financial reporting.

Iltem 9B. Other Information

On March 28, 2011, we, along with our dodieation partner Forest, entered into a commestipply agreement with Roche Colorado
Corporation, or RCC. Pursuant to the terms ofs$higply agreement and subject to certain conditionslimits, RCC agrees to manufacture
supply to us and Forest, and we and Forest agneerttiase from RCC, a portion of the linaclotide At will be used to support regulatory
approval of linaclotide in the U.S. and/or Canaata], subject to obtaining such approval, that bélincorporated into finished product that
will be sold commercially in such country. The phase price for the linaclotide API under the sugglyeement is a fixed price for the initial
firm order and thereafter will be a volume-baseidepr

The initial term of the supply agreemend®pon March 28, 2016. The initial term is subjecthree automatic one-year renewals unless a
party to the supply agreement provides writtenagotif non-renewal to the other at least one ydar fir the expiration of the initial term or
any such renewal period. Either party may termitiagesupply agreement following an uncured matériahch by the other party.

We and Forest are party to a collaboragigreement pursuant to which we co-develop andtplan-promote linaclotide in the U.S. for
the treatment of IBS-C and CC. Pursuant to thederhthe collaboration agreement, Forest is resptsamong other things, for completing
the manufacturing process of linaclotide for usthmmU.S., Canada and Mexico, which consists @liing and packaging linaclotide into
capsules.

The foregoing summary of the supply agregtrieequalified in its entirety by reference to ggply agreement, which will be filed as an
exhibit to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q foe tuarter ending March 31, 2011.
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PART Il
Iltem 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governe

We have adopted a code of business corashacethics applicable to our directors, executifieers and all other employees. A copy of
that code is available on our corporate websitétat//www.ironwoodpharma.com. Any amendments dbde of ethics and business
conduct, and any waivers thereto involving our exige officers, also will be available on our corate website. A printed copy of these
documents will be made available upon request.cbment on our website is not incorporated by efee into this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

Certain information regarding our executdficers is set forth at the end of Part | of them 10-K under the heading, "Executive
Officers of the Registrant.” The other informati@guired by this item is incorporated by referefroen our proxy statement for our 2011
Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

ltem 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this item isanporated by reference from our proxy statementfw 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners afitanagement and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this item isanporated by reference from our proxy statementfw 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
ltem 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, abdatector Independence

The information required by this item isanporated by reference from our proxy statemenoéw 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
Iltem 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this item isanporated by reference from our proxy statemenoéw 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(a) List of documents filed as part aétreport

(2) Consolidated Financial Statements listed underIRdtém 8 and included herein by referen

2) Consolidated Financial Statement Sched

No schedules are submitted because they are nlitapp, not required or because the informatioimégtuded in the
Consolidated Financial Statements as Notes to Jidased Financial Statements.

3) Exhibits
Incorporated by reference herein
Number Description Form Date
3.1 Eleventh Amended and RestatedAnnual Report on Form 10-K March 30, 2010
Certificate of Incorporatiol (File No. 00:-34620)
3.2 Fifth Amended and Restated Annual Report on Form 10-K March 30, 2010
Bylaws (File No. 00:-34620)
4.1 Specimen Class A common stc Registration Statement ¢ January 20, 201
certificate Form S-1, as amended
(File No. 33:-163275)
4.2 Eighth Amended and Restated Registration Statement on November 20,
Investors' Rights Agreement, Form S-1, as amended 2009

dated as of September 1, 2009. (File No. 333-163275)
and among Ironwood

Pharmaceuticals, Inc., the

Founders and the Investors nar

therein

10.1# 1998 Amended and Restai Registration Statement ¢ December 23
Stock Option Plan and form Form S-1, as amended 2009
agreements thereunc (File No. 33:-163275)

10.2# Amended and Restated 2002  Registration Statement on December 23,
Stock Incentive Plan and form  Form S-1, as amended 2009
agreements thereunc (File No. 33:-163275)

10.%# Amended and Restated 20 Registration Statement « January 29, 201
Stock Incentive Plan and form  Form S-1, as amended
agreements thereunc (File No. 33:-163275)

10.4# 2010 Employee, Director and  Registration Statement on January 20, 2010

Consultant Equity Incentive Plan Form S-1, as amended
(File No. 33:-163275)

10.4.%#% Form agreement under the 2C  Annual Report on Form -K March 30, 201(
Employee, Director and (File No. 001-34620)
Consultant Equity Incentive Plz
10.5 2010 Employee Stock Purchase Registration Statement on March 5, 2010
Plan Form S-8

(File No. 33-165230)
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Incorporated by reference herein

Number Description Form Date
10.¢# Change of Control Severan Registration Statement « December 23
Benefit Plan Form S-1, as amended 2009
(File No. 33-163275)
10.7%# Director Compensation Plan Registration Statgroe December 23,
Form S-1, as amended 2009
(File No. 33:-163275)

10.& Form of Indemnificatior Registration Statement ( December 23
Agreement with directors and  Form S-1, as amended 2009
officers (File No. 33:-163275)

10.¢%# Consulting Agreement, dated as Registration Statement on December 23,
of November 30, 2009, by and Form S-1, as amended 2009
between Christopher Walsh and (File No. 333-163275)

[ronwood Pharmaceuticals, Ir

10.1(+ Collaboration Agreement, datt  Registration Statement « February 2, 201
as of September 12, 2007, as  Form S-1, as amended
amended on November 3, 2009, (File No. 333-163275)
by and between Forest
Laboratories, Inc. and Ironwood
Pharmaceuticals, In

10.1+ License Agreement, dated as of Registration Statement on February 2, 2010
April 30, 2009, by and between Form S-1, as amended
Almirall, S.A. and Ironwood (File No. 333-163275)
Pharmaceuticals, In

10.1z+ License Agreement, dated as of Registration Statement on February 2, 2010
November 10, 2009, by a1 Form S-1, as amended
among Astellas Pharma, Inc. and(File No. 333-163275)
Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Ir

10.1:+ Commercial Supply Agreement, Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q  August 10, 2010
dated as of June 23, 2010, by andFile No. 001-34620)
among PolyPeptide
Laboratories, Inc. and Polypept
Laboratories (SWEDEN) AB,
Forest Laboratories, Inc. and
[ronwood Pharmaceuticals, Ir

10.1¢ Lease for facilities at 301 Binne  Registration Statement « December 23
St., Cambridge, MA, dated as of Form S-1, as amended 2009
January 12, 2007, as amended ofFile No. 333-163275)
April 9, 2009, by and between
Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
and BMF-Rogers Street LL(

10.14. Second Amendment to Lease forAnnual Report on Form 10-K March 30, 2010

facilities at 301 Binney St., (File No. 001-34620)
Cambridge, MA, dated as of

February 9, 2010, by and betwe

Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

and BMF-Rogers Street LL(
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Incorporated by reference herein
Number Description Form Date

10.14.2* Third Amendment to Lease fi
facilities at 301 Binney St.,
Cambridge, MA, dated as of
July 1, 2010, by and between
Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
and BMF-Rogers Street LL(

10.14.* Fourth Amendment to Lease for
facilities at 301 Binney St.,
Cambridge, MA, dated as of
February 3, 2011, by and betwe
Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
and BMF-Rogers Street LL(

21.7* Subsidiaries of [ronwoo
Pharmaceuticals, In

23.1* Consent of Independe
Registered Public Accounting
Firm

31.7* Certification of Chief Executive
Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14
or 15¢-14 of the Exchange A

31.z¢ Certification of Chief Financie
Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14
or 15¢-14 of the Exchange Au

32.1% Certification of Chief Executive
Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14
(b) or 15d-14(b) of the Exchange
Act and 18 U.S.C. Section 13

32.zf Certification of Chief Financial
Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14
(b) or 15d-14(b) of the Exchange
Act and 18 U.S.C. Section 13!

* Filed herewith.
T Furnished herewitt

+ Confidential treatment granted under 17 C.F.R. 8820(b)(4) and 230.406. The confidential portiohghés exhibit have been omitted
and are marked accordingly. The confidential podibave been provided separately with the SEC patga the confidential treatme
request.

# Management contract or compensatory plan, contoaetgreement.
(b) Exhibits.
The exhibits required by this Item aredisuinder Iltem 15(a)(3).
(c) Financial Statement Schedules.
The financial statement schedules requisethis Item are listed under Item 15(a)(2).
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of SectioorlB5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, ribgistrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduolp authorized, in the City of Cambridge, Commoaiile of Massachusetts, on the 30th day
of March 2011.

Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

By: /sl PETER M. HECHT

Peter M. Hecht, Ph.D.
Chief Executive Office

Pursuant to the requirements of SectionrlB5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 19345 thport has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant amthie capacities and on the date indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ PETER M. HECHT Chief Executive Officer and Direct:

(Principal Executive Officer) March 30, 2011

Peter M. Hech

Chief Operating Officer &
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer &
Principal Accounting Officer

/s/ MICHAEL J. HIGGINS
March 30, 2011

Michael J. Higgins

/s/ BRYAN E. ROBERTS

Chairman of the Board March 30, 2011
Bryan E. Robert
/s/ GEORGE CONRADES
Director March 30, 2011
George Conrade
/s/ JOSEPH C. COOK, JR.
Director March 30, 2011
Joseph C. Cook, J
/s/ DAVID EBERSMAN
Director March 30, 2011
David Ebersmai
/sl MARSHA H. FANUCCI
Director March 30, 2011

Marsha H. Fanucc
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Signature

/sl TERRANCE G. MCGUIRE

Terrance G. McGuir

/s/ GINA BORNINO MILLER

Gina Bornino Miller

/s DAVID E. SHAW

David E. Shav

/sl CHRISTOPHER T. WALSH

Christopher T. Wals

Director

Director

Director

Director

Title
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March 30, 2011

March 30, 2011

March 30, 2011
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying conseliibalance sheets of Ironwood Pharmaceuticalsamof December 31, 2010 and 2009, and
the related consolidated statements of operatamsjertible preferred stock and stockholders' gquiéficit), and cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, Z#xse financial statements are the responsibifithieo Company's management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on thesarftial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance thighstandards of the Public Company Accounting €igat Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet éamdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindecial statements are free of material
misstatement. We were not engaged to perform ai afuithe Company's internal control over finangigborting. Our audits included
consideration of internal control over financigboeting as a basis for designing audit procedurasdre appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion oreffectiveness of the Company's internal contr@rdinancial reporting. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includesréxiag, on a test basis, evidence supporting theusms and disclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the accounting principlesarst significant estimates made by managementeaaldating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statementieneed to above present fairly, in all materialpests, the consolidated financial position of
Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc. at December 31, 2002009, and the consolidated results of itsadjmers and its cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 20@nformity with U.S. generally accepted accongtprinciples.

/s! Ernst & Young LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 30, 2011
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Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

December 31

2010 2009
Assets
Current assett
Cash and cash equivalel $ 4432. $ 122,30
Available-for-sale securitie 203,70t —
Accounts receivabl 19 7
Related party accounts receivable, 2,87¢ 5,212
Prepaid expenses and other as 5,32( 2,67%
Restricted cas 2,832 —
Current assets of discontinued operati — 1,25(
Total current asse 259,07! 131,44¢
Restricted cas 7,647 8,132
Property and equipment, r 34,36¢ 21,75¢
Other asset 274 21
Long-term assets of discontinued operati — 1,09¢
Total asset $ 301,368 $ 162,45
Liabilities and stockholders' equity (deficit)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 430 $ 4,75¢
Accrued research and development c 8,14( 12,40:
Accrued expense 8,93¢ 4,29¢
Current portion of lon-term debi — 93€
Current portion of capital lease obligatic 197 142
Current portion of deferred re 2,79¢ 18C
Current portion of deferred reven 40,05( 32,36(
Current liabilities of discontinued operatic — 1,36¢
Total current liabilities 64,42¢ 56,43"
Long-term debt, net of current portic — 827
Capital lease obligations, net of current port 39¢ 11z
Deferred rent, net of current porti 14,61: 10,48t¢
Deferred revenue, net of current port 62,38 93,64:
Long-term liabilities of discontinued operatio — 937

Commitments and contingencies (Note 12 and Note
Convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value, mares authorized and issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2010 and 74,942,226 shares authaimk89,904,843 shares issued and outstar
at December 31, 2009; liquidation value of $415,a8December 31 2009 (Note ] — 298,35(
Stockholders' equity (deficit
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 75,000,000 sharthorized, no shares issued and outstandini
December 31, 2010 and no shares authorized, issuwkdutstanding at December 31, 2! — —
Class A common stock, $0.001 par value, 500,000sb@@es authorized and 48,202,089 shares i
and outstanding at December 31, 2010 and 98,538/T@@s authorized and no shares issued
outstanding at December 31, 2( 48 —
Class B common stock, $0.001 par value, 100,000s68€es authorized and 50,970,247 shares i
and outstanding at December 31, 2010 and 98,538/T@@s authorized and 7,854,602 shares

issued and outstanding at December 31, : 51 8
Additional paic-in capital 526,99 12,99¢
Accumulated defici (367,54() (314,559
Accumulated other comprehensive incc 1 —

Total Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc. stockholdegsiity (deficit) 159,55: (301,557
Noncontrolling interes — 3,212
Total stockholders' equity (defici 159,55: (298,34()
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity (defjc $ 301,36 $ 162/45:

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Years Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Collaborative arrangements rever $ 43,857 $ 34,327 $ 18,38
Operating expense

Research and developmt 77,45¢ 76,10( 51,42:

General and administrati\ 27,16¢ 19,03 15,26¢
Total operating expens 104,62: 95,13 66,69(
Loss from operation (60,76¢) (60,81¢) (48,307
Other income (expense

Interest expens (19€) (31¢) (297)

Interest and investment incor 614 24C 2,08¢

Remeasurement of forward purchase contt — 60C (900)

Other income 992 — —
Other income (expense), r 1,411 522 897
Net loss from continuing operations before income

benefit (59,35%) (60,299 (47,410)
Income tax benef (2,944) (29¢€) —
Net loss from continuing operatio (56,41)) (59,999 (47,410
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations,afi

tax provision of $2,944 in the year ended

December 31, 201 4,551 (13,319 (7,62))
Net loss (51,860 (73,31 (55,03)
Net (income) loss from discontinued operati

attributable to noncontrolling intere (1,121 2,12 1,157

Net loss attributable to Ironwood Pharmaceutidals, $ (52,98) $ (71,189 $ (53,879

Net income (loss) per share attributable to Irona
Pharmaceuticals, Ir—basic and dilutec

Continuing operation $ (0.69) $ (8.49) $ (6.8¢)
Discontinued operatior 0.0 (1.57) (0.99
Net loss per shai $ (0.59) $ (10.00 $ (7.82)

Weighted average number of common shares usec
net income (loss) per share attributable to Irorvc
Pharmaceuticals, Ir—basic and dilute 89,653,36 7,116,77. 6,889,81

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Convertible Preferred 8tk and Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)

(In thousands, except share amounts)

Convertible
preferred stock
(Note 14)

Class A Class B Additional
common stock common stock ftiona

paid-in

Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount capital

Accumulated

other

Accumulated comprehensivi Noncontrolling

deficit

income (loss)

interest

Total
stockholders

equity
(deficit)

Balance at
December 3:
2007

Issuance of
common
stock upon
exercise of
stock option

Proceeds from
sale of

noncontrollir
interest in
subsidiary

Issuance of
Series H
Convertible
preferred
stock

Share-based
compensatic
expense

related to
issuance of
stock option
to non-
employee:

Issuance of
common
stock awarc

Share-based
compensatic
expense

related to

issuance of
stock option
to employee

Share-based
compensatic
expense
from
discontinuec
operations

Comprehensiv

income

(loss):
Unrealized

gain on

short-term

investment:
Net loss

Total

comprehens
loss

62,977,27 $223,80: =3 6,948,73' $ 7% 4,621

129,44t 17¢

4,141,58  49,59¢

30C

5,00( 25

2,29:

17¢

$

(189,500 $

(53,879

20

6,49t

(1,15

$ (178,379

17¢

30C

25

2,29:

17¢

20
(55,031

(55,01)

Balance at
December 3:
2008

Issuance of
common
stock upon
exercise of
stock option

Issuance of
restricted
common
stock award

Issuance of
Series G
Convertible
preferred
stock

67,118,85 273,40( 7,083,17: 7

255,87!

515,54¢

2,083,33:  25,00(

Settlement of
forward

(243,37)

23

5,33¢

(230,41))



purchase
contract in
connection
with
issuance of
Series G
Convertible
preferred
stock
Issuance of
Series H
Convertible
preferred
stock
Issuance of
Series |
Convertible
preferred
stock
Settlement of
forward
purchase
contract in
connection
with
issuance of
Series |
Convertible
preferred
stock
Share-based
compensatic
expense
related to
issuance of
stock option
to non-
employee:
Share-based
compensatic
expense
related to
issuance of
stock option
to employee
Share-based
compensatic
expense
from
discontinuec
operations
Restricted
common
stock shares
subject to
repurchass
Comprehensiv
income
(loss):
Unrealized
loss on
short-term
investments
Net loss

Total

comprehens
loss

— (8800 — = = — — — _ _

20,83¢ 25C — — — — — — — _

681,81¢ 15,00( — — — — — — — _

— (6500 — — — — — — — —

= = = = = = 301 = = =

— S — — — —  a7% — — —

— S — — — — (111) — — —

— 23 —
_ _ _ — — — (71,185 = (2,129)

301

4,794

14¢

(112)

(239

(73,31%)

(73,33Y

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Convertible Preferred 8tk and Stockholders' Equity (Deficit) (Continued)

(In thousands, except share amounts)

Accumulated Total
Additional other stockholders
Accumulated comprehensive Noncontrolling
paid-in equity
Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount capital deficit income (loss) interest (deficit)

Convertible preferred Class A Class B
stock (Note 14) common stock common stock

Balance at

December 3:

2009 69,904,84 $ 298,35( —$% — 7,854,60: % 8% 12,99¢$ (314,559 $ — $ 3,212 $ (298,34
Issuance of

common

stock upon

exercise of

stock option

and

employee

stock

purchase

plan — — 30,43¢ — 1,746,18 2 2,021 — — — 2,02:¢
Issuance of

common

stock award — — 22,82t — — — 25¢ — — — 25¢
Cancellation o

restricted

common

stock award — — — — (40,000 — — — — — —
Conversion of

convertible

preferred

stock into

common

stock upon

initial public

offering (69,904,84) (298,35() — — 70,391,62 70  298,28( — — — 298,35(
Issuance of

shares upon

initial public

offering, net

of offering

costs of

approximate

$12.4 millior — — 19,166,66 19 — —  203,14¢ — — — 203,16
Conversion of

Class B

common

stock to

Class A

common

stock — — 28,982,15 29 (28,982,15) (29) — — — — —
Share-based

compensatic

expense

related to

issuance of

stock option

to non-

employee: — — — — — — 12z — — — 12¢
Share-based

compensatic

expense

related to

issuance of

stock option

to employee

and

employee

purchase

plan — — — — — — 7,11« — — — 7,11¢
Share-based

compensatic

expense

from

discontinuec

operations — — — — — — 59 — — — 59
Restricted

common

stock no

longer

subject tc



repurchass
Decrease in
noncontrollir
interest in
subsidiary
Comprehensiv
income
(loss):
Unrealized
gain on
short-term
investments
Net loss
Total
comprehens
loss
Balance at
December 3:
2010

= = = = = 55 = = = 55
_ —_ — — — 2,93: — — (4,339 (1,400
— — — — — — — 1 — 1
— — — — — — (52,987 — 1,121 (51,860

(51,859
—$ 48,202,08% 48 50,97024$ 51% 526,99:$ (367,54() $ 1$ —$ 159,55

F-6
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Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands)

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $ (51,86() $ (73,31) $ (55,03)
Income (loss) from discontinued operati 4,551 (13,31 (7,627)
Loss from continuing operatiol (56,417) (59,99¢) (47,410
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities
Depreciation and amortizatic 6,161 4,767 2,62(
Loss (gain) on disposal of property and equipn 474 80 Q)
Remeasurement of forward purchase conti — (600) 90C
Shar-based compensation expel 7,49¢ 5,09t 2,61¢
Accretion of discount/premium on investment se@s 1,61¢ 23¢ (367)
Changes in assets and liabiliti:
Accounts receivabl 2,32¢ (64¢€) 20,11¢
Restricted cas (2,34¢) (44¢€) (4,72¢)
Prepaid expenses and other current a: (2,647) (464) (504)
Other asset (259) 50 (46)
Accounts payable and accrued expel 2,740 1,732 (97)
Accrued research and development c (4,267) 2,99( 4,37:
Deferred revenu (23,56¢) 53,99: (8,387)
Deferred ren 6,74¢ 1,27¢ 9,37(
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activifiesn continuing operatior (61,930 8,06t (21,537)
Net cash used in operating activities from discurgd operation (5,969) (11,510 (3,979
Total net cash used in operating activi (67,899 (3,445 (25,517
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of availal-for-sale securitie (441,799 (26,679 (82,619
Sales and maturities of availa-for-sale securitie 236,47" 48,45¢ 90,46¢
Purchases of property and equipm (17,220 (3,524 (21,465
Proceeds from sale of property and equipn 1 21 5
Proceeds from sale of subsidi: 9,50( — —
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activiffesn continuing operatior (213,047 18,27¢ (13,60¢)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activifiesn discontinued operatiol 1 (521) (1,465)
Total net cash (used in) provided by investingwatitis (213,047) 17,75¢ (15,079
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock, netsofince cos — 40,25( 49,59¢
Proceeds from initial public offerir 203,16° — —
Proceeds from exercise of stock options, stockhasge plan and issuance of restrict
stock 2,02: 27z 17¢
Proceeds from borrowing — 1,07¢ —
Payments on borrowing (1,957) (1,250 (1,004
Net cash provided by financing activities from é¢oning operation: 203,23: 40,35: 48,77
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activifiesn discontinued operatiol @277 1,317 (210
Total net cash provided by financing activit 202,95¢ 41,66 48,56
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equis (77,985 55,97¢ 7,97¢
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of pe 122,30t 66,33( 58,35
Cash and cash equivalents, end of pe $ 4432: $ 122,30t $ 66,33(
Supplemental cash flow disclosures:
Cash paid for interest (includes cash paid by Mi@k $ 328§ 41z % 33¢
Cash paid for income tax $ — 3 (159 $ —
Settlement of forward purchase contre $ — $ (15300 $ =
Purchases under capital lea $ 52¢ % 67 $ 37z
Debt and interest paid by purchaser of subsic $ 1,07t $ — $ —

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
1. Nature of Business

Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the "ConyJais an entrepreneurial pharmaceutical compaay discovers, develops and intends to
commercialize differentiated medicines that imprpedients' lives. Linaclotide, the Company's guate/tyclase type-C ("GC-C") agonist
being developed for the treatment of patients wittable bowel syndrome with constipation ("IBSJ@r chronic constipation ("CC") is
currently in Phase 3 clinical development. The Canmypalso has a pipeline focused on both reseatidevelopment of early stage product
candidates and preclinical research in multiplegpeutic areas, including gastrointestinal disepai® and inflammation, respiratory disease,
and cardiovascular disease.

Prior to September 2010, the Company heldrity ownership interest in Microbia, Inc. (foerly known as Microbia Precision
Engineering), a subsidiary formed in September 2806robia, Inc. ("Microbia") engaged in a spegjdiiochemicals business based on a
proprietary strain-development platform. On Septen#i, 2010, the Company sold its interest in Mi@do DSM Holding Company
USA, Inc. ("DSM") in exchange for cash proceed$®H million, the payment of approximately $1.1lmail of Microbia debt and interest by
DSM and future contingent consideration based ers#ie of products incorporating Microbia's techggl

The Company was incorporated in Delawardamuary 5, 1998. On April 7, 2008, the Companynged its name from Microbia, Inc. to
Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc. The Company cutyesikerates in one reportable business segment,rthmeapeutics. Prior to
September 21, 2010, the Company operated in twartadge business segments, human therapeuticsiamauufacturing (Note 20).

The Company has generated an accumulafait és of December 31, 2010 of approximately $3G7illion since inception. In February
2010, the Company completed its initial public dfig of Class A common stock and raised a totapgroximately $203.2 million in net
proceeds (Note 3).

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation

During 2006, the Company formed Microbiaag00% wholly owned subsidiary of the CompanySéptember 2006, Microbia sold
additional equity interests to a third party, whiehluced the Company's ownership interest in Miertto85% (Note 22). The accompanying
consolidated financial statements of Ironwood Pleenticals, Inc. include the assets, liabilitiesenue, and expenses of Microbia, over
which the Company exercised control until Septen2de2010, when the Company sold its interest iorbbia to DSM. The Company
recorded noncontrolling interest in its consolidies¢atements of operations for the ownership istesEthe minority owners of Microbia. All
intercompany transactions and balances are elipdriatconsolidation.

Sale of Subsidiary and Discontinued Operations

As a result of the sale of its interesMitrobia, the Company ceased to have any finanmaiatest in Microbia. The Company maintains
further investment in Microbia and has recordedhia g@n the sale of Microbia in its statements cfraions based on current accounting
guidance as the difference between the sum ofaih@dlue of the consideration received, the cagyialue of the noncontrolling interest in-
subsidiary at the date of sale, the fair valuéhefretained noncontrolling interest (which was yarwd the carrying amount of Microbia's assets
and liabilities. The consideration
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Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contired)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Corihued)

received includes $9.5 million in cash as well &MWs payment of Microbia's approximately $1.1 roifliin debt and interest immediately pi
to the sale. The gain on the sale of Microbia ¢duded in income from discontinued operations Bm@ompany's consolidated statements of
operations.

The calculation of the gain on the sal&afrobia is calculated as follows (in thousands):

Consideration receive $ 10,57¢
Carrying value of noncontrolling intere 1,40(

11,97¢
Net liabilities of Microbia 187
Gain on sale of Microbi $ 12,16:

The net liabilities of Microbia on SeptemB4, 2010, prior to the sale, consisted of thiofaihg (in thousands):

Assets

Prepaid expenses and other as $ 52
Restricted cas 30
Property and equipment, r 64¢
Total asset 73C
Liabilities

Accounts payabl 19¢
Accrued expense 724
Total liabilities 917
Net liabilities $ 187

Additionally, in accordance with the applite accounting standards, the operations andflcags of Microbia have been eliminated from
the ongoing operations. The agreement includesddontingent consideration in the form of a royalh future sales of products incorporal
Microbia's technology through the earlier of a) 20R) the invalidity of any Microbia patent, ortbe maximum agreed upon amount is
reached. The cash flows from the future contingensideration are indirect cash flows, as the Campes no continuing involvement with
Microbia after the sale, and as such, they reptespeassive royalty interest and therefore the flasts are considered to be eliminated from
the ongoing operations. As a result, Microbia méstsrequirements for presentation as discontirgedations and the Company has class
the assets, liabilities, operations, and cash flofAdicrobia as discontinued operations for allipds presented prior to the sale. The Company
has elected as its accounting policy to accounthferfuture contingent consideration, if any, @min contingency as the proceeds have not
been received and the receipt of royalty incomenisertain. As a result, proceeds will only be rdedrin future earnings as they are earned. As
of December 31, 2010, no amounts have been recéodélte contingent consideration in the Compafigancial statements.
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Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contired)
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Corihued)
Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financiateaments in accordance with generally accepteduanting principles in the U.S. requires the
Company's management to make estimates and judgtinaitmay affect the reported amounts of assetslities, revenues and expenses, and
related disclosure of contingent assets and ltgsliOn an on-going basis, the Company's manadesnatuates its estimates, including those
related to revenue recognition, available-for-saeurities, impairment of long-lived assets, incdenes including the valuation allowance for
deferred tax assets, valuation of forward purcltasgracts, research and development, contingeranesshare-based compensation. The
Company bases its estimates on historical expe¥iand on various other assumptions that are believbe reasonable, the results of which
form the basis for making judgments about the dagryalues of assets and liabilities. Actual resutiay differ from these estimates under
different assumptions or conditions. Changes imedes are reflected in reported results in théogen which they become known.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquideéstment instruments with an original maturity wipeimchased of three months or less to be
cash equivalents. Investments qualifying as caslvalgnts primarily consist of money market funds @ertain U.S. government sponsored
securities. The carrying amount of cash equivalepggoximates fair value. The amount of cash edgita included in cash and cash
equivalents was approximately $39.2 million andG&2nillion at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respelsti

Restricted Cash

The Company is contingently liable undensed letters of credit with a bank, related toGloenpany's facility lease agreements and credit
card arrangements, in the amount of approximatelySmillion and $8.4 million as of December 311@@nd 2009, respectively. As a result,
the Company has restricted cash of approximately3tillion and $8.4 million as of December 31, @@&hd 2009, respectively, securing
these letters of credit. At December 31, 2009, axiprately $0.3 million was related to Microbia corments and is included in long-term
assets of discontinued operations. The cash wilebgicted until the termination of the leases aradlit card arrangements. In January 2011,
approximately $2.8 million of restricted cash wakeased due to the expiration of the 320 Bent Staedity lease in December 2010. As of
December 31, 2010, the $2.8 million is shown asreeat asset on the Company's consolidated bakirests.

Available-for-Sale Securities

The Company classifies all short-term inresnts with an original maturity when purchasedrefater than three months as available-for-
sale. Available-for-sale securities are carriethatvalue, with the unrealized gains and lossesmred in other comprehensive income (loss).
The amortized cost of debt securities in this catggs adjusted for amortization of premiums andration of discounts to maturity. Such
amortization is included in interest and investmianbme. Realized gains and losses, and declineslire judged to be other than temporar
available-for-sale securities, are included inri@t¢ and investment income.
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Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contired)
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Corihued)

The cost of securities sold is based orsfieeific identification method. Interest and dendls on securities classified as available-for-sale
are included in interest and investment incomed@®rmine whether an other-than-temporary impaitragists, the Company considers
whether it has the ability and intent to hold theestment until a market price recovery, and whretireence indicating the recoverability of
the cost of the investment outweighs evidenceecatntrary. There were no other-than-temporary impents for the years ended
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008.

Accounts Receivable and Related Valuation Account

The Company makes judgments as to itstahdicollect outstanding receivables and proviaesllowance for receivables when
collection becomes doubtful. Provisions are madedaipon a specific review of all significant oatsting invoices and the overall quality ¢
age of those invoices not specifically reviewede Tompany's receivables primarily relate to amotgitabursed under its collaboration and
license agreements. The Company believes thatteigkl associated with these collaborators aresigmificant. To date, the Company has not
had any write-offs of bad debt, and as such, thegamy does not have an allowance for doubtful atisoas of December 31, 2010 and 2009.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that subject the Canypto credit risk primarily consist of cash andltaquivalents, restricted cash, available-for-
sale securities, and accounts receivable. The Coynpaintains its cash and cash equivalent balanitbshigh-quality financial institutions
and, consequently, the Company believes that suasfare subject to minimal credit risk. The Conymavailable-for-sale investments
potentially subject the Company to concentratidngredit risk. The Company has adopted an investmpelicy which limits the amounts the
Company may invest in any one type of investmemd, r@quires all investments held by the Comparheté+ rated, thereby reducing credit
risk concentration.

Accounts receivable primarily consist ofamts due under the collaboration agreement witk$t@nd license agreements with
Almirall, S.A. ("Almirall") and Astellas Pharma In€'Astellas") (Note 5) for which the Company daeg obtain collateral. Effective
September 1, 2009, Forest became a related pady thie Company sold to Forest 2,083,333 shardseedCdompany's Series G convertible
preferred stock and effective November 2, 2009, irdihbecame a related party when the Company tsotdem 681,819 shares of its Series |
convertible preferred stock.

Forest accounted for approximately 50%, #9%b 100% of the Company's revenue from continoperations for the years ended
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectivelyirAlhaccounted for approximately 43%, 21% and (®the Company's revenue from
continuing operations for the years ended Decer@bgP010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. Astellagpacted for approximately 7% of the
Company's revenue from continuing operations ferytsar ended December 31, 2010. Tate & Lyle Invests) Ltd. ("T&L") accounted for
approximately 98%, 100% and 57% of the Companyemee from discontinued operations for the yeadedrbecember 31, 2010, 2009 and
2008, respectively. For the years ended Decemhe2®D, 2009 and 2008, no additional customersuatted for more than 10% of the
Company's revenue from continuing operations anth®year ended December 31, 2008 one additiarsbmer accounted for approximately
30% of revenue from discontinued operations.
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Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contired)
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Corihued)

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, accountsivable from Forest, net of any payables due Fpaesbunted for approximately 89% and
94%, respectively, of the Company's total accoatsivable. At December 31, 2010 and 2009, Almaetiounted for approximately 10% and
6%, respectively, of the Company's total accouedgivable.

Revenue Recognition

The Company's revenue is generated priyndmibugh collaborative research and developmeatiaensing agreements. The terms of
these agreements typically include payment to thia@any of one or more of the following: nonrefuni@alip-front license fees; milestone
payments; sale of drug substance to its collabosadmd royalties on product sales. In additiomgrmpto September 2010, the Company
generated services revenue through agreementgehatally provided for fees for research and deraknt services rendered.

The Company recognizes revenue when tkgrersuasive evidence that an arrangement exéstécas have been rendered or delivery
occurred, the price is fixed and determinable, @itection is reasonably assured. The Company atedurevenue from agreements that have
multiple elements and accounts for the componenteparate elements when the following criterianaet

. the delivered items have value to the customer stam-alone basis
. there is objective and reliable evidence of falueaof the undelivered items; and
. if there is a general right of return relative lte telivered items, delivery or performance ofdhdelivered items is considered

probable and within the Company's control.
Collaborative Arrangements Revenue
Up-front License Fees

The Company recognizes revenues from nondztble, up-front license fees for which the sefpamacriteria were not met due to
continuing involvement in the performance of reshand development services on a straight-linestaser the contracted or estimated period
of performance, which is typically the researclievelopment term.

Milestones

At the inception of each agreement thauides milestone payments, the Company evaluatethetheach milestone is substantive and at
risk to both parties on the basis of the contingettire of the milestone, specifically reviewingttas such as the scientific and other risks that
must be overcome to achieve the milestone, asasedthe level of effort and investment required.dgibnes that are not considered substantive
are accounted for as license payments and recafoiza straight-line basis over the remaining pkabperformance.

In those circumstances where a substantilestone is achieved, collection of the relatezkneable is reasonably assured and the
Company has remaining obligations to perform urnldercollaboration arrangement, the Company recegras revenue on the date the
milestone is achieved an amount equal to the egdgiicpercentage of the performance period thaelapsed as of the date the milestone is
achieved, with the balance being deferred and m@zed on a straight-line basis over the remainiegqal of performance.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Corihued)

Payments received or reasonably assured@dtformance obligations are fully satisfied mr@ognized as earned. For certain of the
Company's arrangements, particularly the Compdicgiase agreement with Almirall, it is required tttexes be withheld on payments made to
the Company. The Company has adopted a policyctigréze revenue net of these tax withholdings.

The Company receives research and develapfitneding under the Forest collaboration agreemaedtconsiders the factors or indicators
within this arrangement to determine whether répgrsuch funding on a gross or net basis is apfatprThe Company records revenue
transactions gross in the consolidated statemémigearations if it is deemed the principal in thenisaction, which includes being the primary
obligor and having the risks and rewards of owriprsh

Active Pharmaceutical Ingredient Shipme

The Company produces clinical materialst®rcollaborators and is reimbursed for its céstgroduce the active pharmaceutical
ingredient ("API"). The Company recognizes reveaoelinical materials when the materials have pasdlequality testing required for
collaborator acceptance, delivery has occurrdd,ditd risk of loss have transferred to the collatw, the price is fixed or determinable, and
collection is reasonably assured.

Services Revenue

The Company recognized services revenuethere was persuasive evidence that an arrangemisted, services had been rendered or
delivery had occurred, the price was fixed andmeitgable, and collection was reasonably assuredeiRee from research and development
services rendered was recognized as services wei@ped. As a result of the sale of the Compaingtsest in Microbia in September 2010,
services revenue is included in net income (lasshfdiscontinued operations.

Research and Development Costs

The Company expenses research and devetbmosts to operations as incurred. The Compargrsl@id capitalizes nonrefundable
advance payments made by the Company for reseadctievelopment activities until the related goodsraceived or the related services are
performed.

Research and development expenses are isathjof costs incurred in performing research aagtbpment activities, including salary
and benefits; share-based compensation expenseataty supplies and other direct expenses; fasliéxpenses; overhead expenses;
contractual services, including clinical trial aredated clinical manufacturing expenses; and odléside expenses. As a result of the sale ¢
Company's interest in Microbia in September 2008t of revenue related to the Microbia servicegrests and costs associated with
Microbia's research and development activitiesraskided in net income (loss) from discontinuedragions.

The Company has entered into a collabaratgreement in which it shares research and develnpexpenses with a collaborator. The
Company records the expenses for such work asrodsead development expense. Because the collamoetangement is a cost-sharing
arrangement, the Company records the paymentsebgollaborator for their share of the developmdiatreas a reduction of research and
development expense.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Corihued)
Share-Based Compensation

Sharévased compensation is recognized as an expense fim&ncial statements based on the grant datedhie. Compensation exper
recognized relates to stock awards, restricteckstad stock options granted, modified, repurchasezincelled on or after January 1, 2006.
Stock options granted to employees prior to thmaetcontinue to be accounted for using the intrimaloe method. Under the intrinsic value
method, compensation associated with share-basadiaw employees was determined as the differéfnamy, between the fair value of the
underlying common stock on the date compensaticnmeasured, generally the grant date, and the @nieenployee must pay to exercise the
award. For awards that vest based on service ¢onslithe Company uses the straight-line methadlécate compensation expense to
reporting periods. The grant date fair value of@y granted is calculated using the Black-Schop®npricing model, which requires the t
of subjective assumptions including volatility, exped term and the fair value of the underlying @ stock, among others.

The Company records the expense for stptibrogrants subject to performanisased milestone vesting over the remaining sepac&d
when management determines that achievement aofitestone is probable. Management evaluates whenachievement of a performance-
based milestone is probable based on the relaiv&action of the performance conditions as ofréporting date.

The Company records the expense of servézetered by non-employees based on the estimaitechfue of the stock option using the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The fair vabfeunvested non-employee awards are remeasurediatreporting period and expensed
over the vesting term of the underlying stock amio

Accounting for Sabbatical Leave

The Company accrues an employee's rigatdmmpensated absence under a sabbatical, orsithikar benefit arrangement that requires
the completion of a minimum service period andiibeefit increases with additional years of sernémeumulates, and for arrangements in
which the individual continues to be a compensatagloyee and is not required to perform dutiegHerentity during the absence. Therefore,
the compensation cost associated with a sabbatiagher similar benefit arrangement should bewertiover the requisite service period.
During the years ended December 31, 2010, 2002@08, the Company recorded expense for sabbatietd of approximately $0.3 million,
$0.1 million and $0.2 million, respectively. Thesdues exclude any amounts recorded for sabbatiss from discontinued operations.

Noncontrolling Interest

Noncontrolling interest represents the moilling stockholder's proportionate share ofiggand net income or net loss of the
Company's former consolidated subsidiary, Microbia.September 21, 2010, the Company sold its istémneMicrobia, resulting in the
deconsolidation of its former subsidiary bringihg noncontrolling interest balance to zero. Immietligorior to the sale, the Company
converted certain intercompany debt and payabtespreferred stock of Microbia, which resulted mapproximately $2.9 million decrease in
the noncontrolling interest. The noncontrollingctioolder's proportionate share of the equity inrgliia of approximately $3.2 million as of
December 31, 2009 is reflected as noncontrollingrast in the Company's consolidated balance shsetxomponent of stockholders' equity
(deficit).
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Corihued)

The proportionate share of the net logthatiable to noncontrolling interest is reflectedhe accompanying consolidated statements of
operations. The following table is a roll-forwartitbe noncontrolling interest (in thousands):

Balance at December 31, 2C $ 6,49t
Proceeds from sale of noncontrolling interes

subsidiary 1
Net loss from discontinued operations attributdol

noncontrolling interes (1,157
Balance at December 31, 2C 5,33¢
Net loss from discontinued operations attributdol

noncontrolling interes (2,127)
Balance at December 31, 2C 3,21z
Net income from discontinued operations attribugi

to noncontrolling interes 1,121
Change in noncontrolling interest due to additional

investment by Company in subsidie (2,937
Sale of subsidiar (1,400
Balance at December 31, 2C $ —

Net Loss Per Share

The Company calculates basic and dilutedass per common share by dividing the net lostheyweighted average number of common
shares outstanding during the period. The Compasyekcluded unvested restricted stock and shaaearth subject to repurchase by the
Company from the weighted average number of comshamnes outstanding. The Company's potentiallyidduthares, which include
convertible preferred stock, outstanding commonlstiptions and unvested shares of restricted staoke not been included in the
computation of diluted net loss per share for afigrs as the result would be antidilutive. Theslatiributable to the noncontrolling interest is
included in the net income (loss) per share froseatitinued operations.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, including leaselmlgrovements, are recorded at cost, and are depedavhen placed into service using the
straight-line method based on their estimated lisigks as follows:

Estimated Useful Life
Asset Description (In Years)

Laboratory equipmer
Computer and office equipme
Furniture and fixture
Software

w~Nwao

Included in property and equipment is thstof internally developed software. Costs inadigaring the application development stage
are capitalized and amortized over the estimatetulikfe
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of the software. Leasehold improvements are aneattwer the shorter of the estimated useful lifthefasset or the lease term. Costs for
capital assets not yet placed into service hava bapitalized as construction in progress, andheltiepreciated in accordance with the above
guidelines once placed into service. Maintenanckrapair costs are expensed as incurred.

Income Taxes

The Company provides for income taxes utitetiability method. Deferred tax assets andiliiéds are determined based on differences
between financial reporting and tax bases of assetdiabilities and are measured using the endetethtes in effect when the differences are
expected to reverse. Deferred tax assets are reédiyca valuation allowance to reflect the uncetiaassociated with their ultimate realization.

The company accounts for uncertain taxtjpos recognized in the consolidated financialestants by prescribing a more-likely-than-not
threshold for financial statement recognition areasurement of a tax position taken or expectee taken in a tax return.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company regularly reviews the carryangount of its long-lived assets to determine wheithdicators of impairment may exist,
which warrant adjustments to carrying values onesed useful lives. If indications of impairmenxist, projected future undiscounted cash
flows associated with the asset are compared todirging amount to determine whether the assaligevs recoverable. If the carrying value
of the asset exceeds such projected undiscounsédfloavs, the asset will be written down to itsrastted fair value. There were no indicators
of impairment at December 31, 2010. At Decembe2B0D9, the Company concluded that impairments déirelong-lived assets existed at its
former subsidiary, Microbia, resulting from its trecturing in the fourth quarter of 2009 (Note 22uch long-lived assets were written down to
their estimated fair value, which resulted in argeeaof approximately $0.9 million. This chargeliman as part of net income (loss) from
discontinued operations. There were no indicatbmnhpairment at December 31, 2008.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

All components of comprehensive incomegjase required to be disclosed in the consoliduteshcial statements. Comprehensive
income (loss) is defined as the change in equity lofisiness enterprise during a period from trdies; and other events and circumstances
from non-owner sources and currently consists bfass and changes in unrealized gains and lossesailable-for-sale securities.

Segment Information

Operating segments are components of arpige for which separate financial informatiomigilable and is evaluated regularly by the
Company in deciding how to allocate resources arabsessing performance.

Prior to the sale of its interest in Micimlin September 2010, the Company had two repertab$iness segments: human therapeutics ant
biomanufacturing (Note 20). Revenue from the Comgfsainuman therapeutics segment is shown in theotidated statements of operations as
collaborative

F-16




Table of Contents

Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contired)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Corihued)

arrangements revenue. Revenue from the Compamyisabufacturing segment is presented as a compoh#re net income (loss) from
discontinued operations.

New Accounting Pronouncements

From time to time, new accounting pronoumests are issued by the FASB or other standarhgédtbdies that are adopted by the
Company as of the specified effective date. Untglssrwise discussed, the Company believes thairthact of recently issued standards that
are not yet effective will not have a material iropan its consolidated financial position or resuf operations upon adoption.

Recently Issued Accounting Standar

In October 2009, the FASB issued ASU N®@2Q3,Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangeme(itaSU 2009-13"). ASU 2009-13,
amends existing revenue recognition accountingqunoements that are currently within the scopeASEB Accounting Standards
Cadification ("ASC") Subtopic 605-25 (previouslycinoded within EITF 00-21Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliveralfl&dTF 00-
21"). The consensus to ASU 2009-13 provides acaogiprinciples and application guidance on whethattiple deliverables exist, how the
arrangement should be separated, and the consiheadibcated. This guidance eliminates the reeuéet to establish the fair value of
undelivered products and services and instead ges\ior separate revenue recognition based upoagearent's estimate of the selling price
for an undelivered item when there is no other reeéardetermine the fair value of that undelivetedhi EITF 00-21 previously required that
the fair value of the undelivered item be the patéhe item either sold in a separate transadigtween unrelated third parties or the price
charged for each item when the item is sold seplgray the vendor. Under EITF 00-21, if the faitueof all of the elements in the
arrangement was not determinable, then revenuelefasred until all of the items were delivered air falue was determined. This new
approach is effective prospectively for revenuargements entered into or materially modified scdil years beginning on or after June 15,
2010 and allows for retrospective application. s guidance is applicable to future transactitims,Company does not expect the
implementation to have a material impact on itssofidated financial position or results of operatio

In April 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 201D, Revenue Recognition—Milestone MetlfgdSU 2010-017"). ASU 2010-017 provides
guidance in applying the milestone method of reeeraecognition to research or development arrang&mender this guidance management
may recognize revenue contingent upon the achieneai@ milestone in its entirety, in the periodathich the milestone is achieved, only if
the milestone meets all the criteria within thedguice to be considered substantive. This ASU ectffe on a prospective basis for research
and development milestones achieved in fiscal yéaginning on or after June 15, 2010. Early adopis permitted; however, adoption of this
guidance as of a date other than January 1, 2@fdres the application of this guidance retrospetyi effective as of January 1, 2010 and
disclosure of the effect of this guidance as appigeall previously reported interim periods in fiezal year of adoption. As the Company pl
to implement ASU No. 2010-17 prospectively, theeffof this guidance will be limited to future teactions.

In December 2010, the FASB issued ASU Nd(2027 Fees Paid to the Federal Government by Pharmacautianufacturerg"ASU
2010-027") which provides guidance on how to reiogand
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Corihued)

classify the fees mandated by the Patient Proteetiml Affordable Care Act as amended by the He2dile and Education Reconciliation Act
(together, the "Acts"). The Acts impose an annaalfbr each calendar year beginning on or aftenalgnl, 2011 payable by branded
prescription drug manufacturers and importers emtded prescription drugs. The liability for the &wuld be estimated and recorded in full
upon the first qualifying sale with a correspondifeerred cost that is amortized to expense usstgaight-line method of allocation over the
calendar year that it is payable. ASU 2010-02#fective for calendar years beginning on or aftecBmber 31, 2010, when the fee initially
becomes effective. As the Company does not cugrdiatye a commercial product, the effect of thisdgace will be limited to future
transactions.

Reclassifications

Amounts associated with the Company's forsnbsidiary, Microbia, have been presented a®diswed operations for all periods in the
consolidated financial statements.

3. Initial Public Offering

In February 2010, the Company completeahit@l public offering of Class A common stockrguant to a registration statement that was
declared effective on February 2, 2010. The Compafhy 19,166,667 shares of its Class A common stebich included 2,500,000 shares of
the Company's Class A common stock sold pursuzaent iwver-allotment option granted to the underwsitat a price to the public of $11.25
per share. As a result of the initial public offeyj the Company raised a total of $215.6 millioginss proceeds, and approximately
$203.2 million in net proceeds after deducting undli¢éing discounts and commissions of $10.5 millanmd offering expenses of approximately
$1.9 million. Costs directly associated with then@any's initial public offering were capitalizeddarecorded as deferred offering costs pric
the closing of the initial public offering. Thesests have been recorded as a reduction of the gutegeceived in arriving at the amount to be
recorded in additional paid-in capital.

Upon the closing of the initial public offieg, 69,904,843 shares outstanding of the Compaoyivertible preferred stock automatically
converted into 70,391,620 shares of its Class Bnsomstock.
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4. Net Loss Per Share
Basic and diluted net loss per share isutaied as follows (in thousands, except sharegpandhare amounts):

Years Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Numerator:

Net loss from continuing operation $ (56,41) $ (59,999 $ (47,410
Net income (loss) from discontinued operati 4,551 (13,319 (7,627)
Less: net (income) loss from discontinued opera

attributable to noncontrolling intere (2,127 2,127 1,157

Net income (loss) from discontinued operati

attributable to Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, i 3,43( (11,18)) (6,464
Net loss attributable to Ironwoc
Pharmaceuticals, Inc $ (52,98) $ (71,189 $ (53,879
Denominator
Weighted average number of common shares us:
net loss per share attributable to Ironwood
Pharmaceuticals, Ir—basic and dilute: 89,653,36 7,116,77. 6,889,81
Net loss per share associated with contini
operations $ (0.69) $ (8.49 $ (6.8¢)
Net income (loss) per share from discontin
operations attributable to Ironwood
Pharmaceuticals, Inc 0.04 (1.57) (0.99
Net loss per share attributable to Ironw¢
Pharmaceuticals, Ir—basic and dilute: $ (059 $ (10.00) $ (7.82)

The following potentially dilutive secuss have been excluded from the computation ofatiluteighted average shares outstanding as o
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, as they woushtialilutive:

Years Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Convertible preferre
stock — 69,904,84 67,118,85
Options to purchas
common stocl 14,603,22 13,691,57 11,505,86
Shares subject to
repurchasi 284,96( 434,15¢ 65,99(

14,888,18 84,030,57 78,690,71

5. Collaboration and License Agreements
Forest Laboratories, Inc.

In September 2007, the Company enteredaimmtollaboration agreement with Forest to jointywelop and commercialize linaclotide, a
drug candidate for the treatment of IBS-C, CC atmtolower gastrointestinal conditions, in North Amca. Under the terms of this
collaboration agreement, the Company shares equélyForest all development costs, as well asm@kfuture profits and losses from the
development and sale of linaclotide in the U.S. Tlepany will receive royalties
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5. Collaboration and License Agreements (Continued)

from Forest for sales in Canada and Mexico. The @ retained the rights to commercialize linadetbutside of North America. Forest
made non-refundable, up-front payments totaling ndillion to the Company in order to obtain righddinaclotide in North America. These
payments were made in two tranches, one of $5dImpaid in September 2007, and the second of@&dllion, which was paid in January
2008. Because of the Company's continuing involverirethe development program, the Company is reizing the up-front license fee as
revenue on a straight-line basis over five yealtschvis the Company's estimate of the period ovgckwlinaclotide will be jointly developed
under the collaboration. The collaboration agredraégo includes contingent milestone payments,e&kag a contingent equity investment
based on the achievement of specific clinical asdroercial milestones. These payments, includingifitéront license fee, could total up to
$330.0 million, of which $125.0 million has alrealdgen received, if certain development and salésstones are achieved for linaclotide. In
September 2008, the Company achieved a clinicastahe which triggered a $10.0 million milestongrpant from Forest. The Company
recognized revenue of approximately $2.1 milliomwachievement of the milestone. This amount reprtssthe portion of the milestone
payment equal to the applicable percentage of ¢hpnance period that had elapsed as of the Datmilestone was achieved. The remainder
of the balance was deferred, and is being recodromea straight-line basis over the remaining dgwalent period. At December 31, 2010,
approximately $23.9 million and $3.4 million of tbp-front license fee and milestone payment, raspyg, remain deferred and are being
recognized on a straight-line basis over the reimgiastimated development period.

The collaboration agreement included aiogent equity investment, in the form of a forwararchase contract, which required Forest to
purchase 2,083,333 shares of the Company's cableeptieferred stock, when a specific clinical ntibee was met, at a price of $12.00 per
share. The Company evaluated this financial instntrand determined that because the Company megghbeed to settle the instrument by
transferring assets to Forest due to "deemed kidquid" provisions of the preferred stock, it shob&considered an asset or liability, which is
required to be carried at fair value. The changdair value are recorded as other income or ex@€érise contingent equity investment was
valued at inception at its estimated fair valuesignificant input in the valuation of the forwardrphase contract was the fair value of the
Company's convertible preferred shares which wstiemated using the probability-weighted expectadrremethod under the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants Practiiel, Valuation of Privately-Held Company Equity Secestissued as Compensatighe
"Practice Aid"). Under the probability-weighted exqbed return method, the value of the Company'sertible preferred shares was estimated
based on an analysis of potential future valugh®fCompany assuming various future liquidity esettte timing and amount of which was
based on estimates from the Company. The resudtinge value was based on the probability-weightedamt value of the expected future
returns, considering each of the possible outcaasesell as the rights of each share class. Thelleddtl discount or premium from the pre-
determined price paid by Forest for their sharesxitess of the estimated fair value of the Comgacgnvertible preferred stock at the expe
time of meeting the milestone was discounted tivast the present value of the forward purchasgraot.
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After applying the methodology discussedwa the Company valued the contingent equity itmeat in September 2007 at $9.0 million,
which represented the value of the premium thag$tawill pay for shares of the Company's stock ghthe milestone be achieved. The
$9.0 million was recorded as an asset and increxhdaferred revenue at the inception of the arrarege. The $9.0 million of incremental
deferred revenue, together with the $70.0 million-mefundable up-front payments, are being rec@ghas revenue on a straight-line basis
over the period of the Company's continuing involeat, which was estimated to be five years fromiribeption of the arrangement. At
December 31, 2010, approximately $3.1 million & tihcremental deferred revenue associated witedh&éngent equity investment remains
deferred and is being recognized on a straightdiass over the remaining estimated developmeinbgher

In addition, the Company was required toeasure the fair value of the contingent equitgtment at each reporting period using
valuation methodologies consistent with the Pracficd and using current assumptions. The resutthranges in value were then recorded as
other income or expense. At December 31, 2008Ctrapany remeasured the fair value of the contingguity investment using current
assumptions and as a result, the contingent ebigstment was valued at December 31, 2008 atr$i8lién. During the year ended
December 31, 2008, the Company recognized approgiyn®0.9 million of other expense in relation be remeasurement of the Forest
forward purchase contract.

On July 22, 2009, the Company achievedlingcal milestone in the Forest collaboration agnent, thus triggering the equity investm
As a result, the Company remeasured the fair vafltliee contingent equity investment as of July ZX)9 using assumptions as of that date.
The resulting final fair value of the contingenuéy investment was $8.8 million. The increase ghr@ximately $0.1 million in the fair value
of the contingent equity investment from DecembkrZD08 was recorded to other income (expensépatime and the Company reclassified
the forward purchase contract as a reduction teextible preferred stock. The Company issued tB82 333 shares to Forest on September 1,
2009. Additionally, the achievement of the clinicgilestone triggered a $20.0 million milestone paptfrom Forest that was received on
August 20, 2009, of which approximately $7.5 millizwas recognized upon achievement of the milestbiis.amount represents the portiol
the milestone payment equal to the applicable pgage of the performance period that had elapsed the date the milestone was achieved.
The remainder of the balance was deferred, andiigylrecognized on a straight-line basis over émeaining development period. At
December 31, 2010, approximately $6.8 million & thilestone payment remains deferred.

The Company recognized approximately $2dilBon, $27.0 million and $18.4 million in revenassociated with the Forest collaboration
agreement during the years ended December 31, 2000,and 2008, respectively.

Further, because the Company shares dawelupcosts equally with Forest, payments from Rosith respect to research and
development costs incurred by the Company are dedoas a reduction to expense, and not as revAsweresult of the cost-sharing
arrangements under the collaboration, the Comp#egtapproximately $15.5 million, $15.1 milliond®11.8 million during the years ended
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectivelynsigesearch and development expense.

F-21




Table of Contents

Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contired)
5. Collaboration and License Agreements (Continued)
Almirall, S.A.

In April 2009, the Company entered intacahse agreement with Almirall for European rigiatslevelop and commercialize linaclotide
for the treatment of IBS-C, CC and other lower gastestinal conditions. Under the terms of thetise agreement, Almirall is responsible for
the expenses associated with the development antheccialization of linaclotide in the European itemny. The license agreement requires the
Company to participate on a joint development cotramiover linaclotide's development period. The @any will receive escalating royalties
from the sales of linaclotide in the European teryi. In May 2009, the Company received a $38.0ionilpayment from Almirall representing
$40.0 million non-refundable up-front payment netaseign withholding taxes. The Company electedetcord the non-refundable up-front
payment on a net basis. Because of the Companytsiaimg involvement in the development prograne, @ompany is recognizing the up-
front license fee as revenue on a straight-lingskager fifty months, which is the Company's estienaf the period over which linaclotide will
be developed under the license agreement for thepEan territory. At December 31, 2010, approxity$22.8 million of the up-front license
fee remains deferred. The license agreement atbadies contingent milestone payments, as well@néingent equity investment based on
achievement of specific clinical and sales milesgmhese payments could total up to $55.0 milli@fore foreign tax withholdings, including
the contingent equity investment discussed beldwyhich $34.0 million, net of foreign withholdingtes, has already been received, if certain
development and sales milestones are achievethémidtide.

The license agreement included a contingguity investment, in the form of a forward pursh&ontract, which required Almirall to
purchase 681,819 shares of the Company's conweplibferred stock when a specific clinical milesteras met, at a price of $22.00 per share.
The Company evaluated this financial instrument@et@rmined that because the Company may be reoirgettle the instrument by
transferring assets to Almirall, it should be caoesed an asset or liability. The contingent equntyestment was valued at inception at its fair
value. The valuation was prepared using the santkeadelogy that the Company used to value the Faestingent equity investment. After
applying this methodology, the Company valued th@iagent equity investment at April 30, 2009 atObillion, which represented the value
of the premium that Almirall would pay for shardslte Company's stock should the milestone be aeklieThe $6.0 million was recorded as
an asset and incremental deferred revenue atdtketion of the arrangement. The $6.0 million ofémental deferred revenue, is being
recognized as revenue on a straight-line basistheeperiod of the Company's continuing involvemeuttich is estimated to be fifty months.

At December 31, 2010 approximately $3.6 milliortle# incremental deferred revenue remains deferred.

On November 2, 2009, the Company achielrectlinical milestone in the Almirall license agmeent, thus triggering the equity
investment. As a result, the Company remeasureththealue of the contingent equity investmenbédlovember 2, 2009 using assumptions
as of that date. The resulting final fair valugta# contingent equity investment was $6.5 millibhe increase of approximately $0.5 million in
the fair value of the contingent equity investmieaim April 30, 2009 was recorded to other incomepénse) at that time and the Company
reclassified the forward purchase contract as aatégh to convertible preferred stock. On Novemb&r2009, the Company received
$15.0 million from Almirall for the 681,819 sharekconvertible preferred stock.

In November 2010, the Company achievedrdcel milestone which resulted in a $19.0 millipayment, representing the $20.0 million
milestone, net of foreign withholding taxes. Thenany
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5. Collaboration and License Agreements (Continued)

recognized revenue of approximately $7.2 milliomuachievement of the milestone. This amount reptssthe portion of the milestone
payment equal to the applicable percentage of ¢éni®pnance period that had elapsed as of the datmilestone was achieved. The remainder
of the balance was deferred, and is being recodromea straight-line basis over the remaining dgwalent period. At December 31, 2010,
approximately $11.4 million of the milestone paymesmains deferred.

The Company recognized approximately $b@IBon and $7.4 million in total revenue from tiAémirall license agreement during the
years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, respgciiveluding approximately $0.7 million and $0.3llioin, respectively, from the sale
clinical materials to Almirall.

Astellas Pharma Inc.

On November 9, 2009, the Company enteredaicense agreement with Astellas. Astellasthagight to develop and commercialize
linaclotide for the treatment of IBS-C, CC and atpastrointestinal conditions in Japan, South Kofedwan, Thailand, Philippines, and
Indonesia. Under the terms of the agreement, Astglaid the Company an up-front licensing fee & @3nillion on November 16, 2009. The
license agreement requires the Company to parteipa a joint development committee over linaclegdlevelopment period. The agreement
includes additional development milestone paymgrascould total up to $45.0 million. In additidche Company will receive escalating
royalties on linaclotide sales should Astellas rez@pproval to market and sell linaclotide in fedan market. Astellas will be responsible for
activities relating to regulatory approval and coenamlization. Because of the Company's continiivglvement in the development progr:
the Company is recognizing the up-front licensedgeevenue on a straight-line basis over 115 nsomthich is the Company's estimate of the
period over which linaclotide will be developed endhe license agreement for the Asian market. étddnber 31, 2010, approximately
$27.4 million of the up-front license fee remairgadred. During the year ended December 31, 20&0Cbmpany recognized approximately
$3.2 million, in revenue from the Astellas liceragreement, including approximately $0.6 millionrfréhe sale of clinical materials to Astell
The Company did not recognize any revenue assdordgth the Astellas agreement in 2009 becausexpeated performance period of the
Company's significant continuing obligations conotit be reasonably and reliably estimated untiffitts¢ quarter of 2010.

6. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The tables below present information altbetCompany's assets that are measured at fa@ wala recurring basis as of December 31,
2010 and 2009 and indicates the fair value hiesaohthe valuation techniques the Company utilitedetermine such fair value. In general,
fair values determined by Level 1 inputs utilizesetvable inputs such as quoted prices in activé&etafor identical assets or liabilities. Fair
values determined by Level 2 inputs utilize datmfsothat are either directly or indirectly obsdrle such as quoted prices, interest rates and
yield curves. Fair values determined by Level duisputilize unobservable data points in which thedétle or no market data, which requ
the Company to develop its own assumptions foaset or liability.

The Company's investment portfolio includeany fixed income securities that do not alwaggéron a daily basis. As a result, the pri
services used by the Company applied other availalidrmation as applicable through processes aadienchmark yields, benchmarking of
like securities, sector groupings and matrix pddio prepare evaluations. In addition, model preessvere used to
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6. Fair Value of Financial Instruments (Continued)

assess interest rate impact and develop prepaysoenarios. These models take into consideratievaat credit information, perceived ma
movements, sector news and economic events. Thgsiimo these models may include benchmark yie&srted trades, broker-dealer
guotes, issuer spreads and other relevant data.

The following tables present the assethmpany has measured at fair value on a recubasds (in thousands):

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using

Quoted Prices in Significant Other Significant
Active Markets for Observable Unobservable
December 31 Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
Description 2010 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Money market funds (include
in cash and cash equivaler $ 36,22¢ $ 36,22¢ $ — $ —
U.S. governmel-sponsore(
securities (included in cash
and cash equivalent 2,99¢ — 2,99¢ —
U.S. Treasury securitie 116,21¢ 116,21¢ — —
U.S. government-sponsored
securities 87,48 — 87,48 —
Total $ 24293 $ 152,44° $ 90,48t $ —
Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using
Quoted Prices in Significant Other Significant
Active Markets for Observable Unobservable
December 31, Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
Description 2009 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Money market funds (included
in cash and cash equivaler $ 102,580 $ 102,58! $ — $ —
U.S. government-sponsored
entities (included in cash an
cash equivalents 18,04¢ — 18,04¢ —
Total $ 12063. $ 102,58 $ 18,04¢ $ —

During the years ended December 31, 20a2808, the Company held forward purchase contessgsciated with the Company's
collaboration agreement with Forest and licenseemgent with Almirall, as described in Note 5. Tigeeements required Forest and Almirall
to purchase shares of the Company's convertibfernpeel stock at a pre-determined price upon meefiegific development milestones. The
values of the forward purchase contracts repredehteestimated probability weighted value of thensium above fair value that Forest and
Almirall paid for the convertible preferred shastmuld the milestones be achieved. The Companyat&td the fair value of the convertible
preferred stock using methods consistent with tlaetize Aid as discussed in Note 5. The Companyeesured the fair value of the forward
purchase contracts at each reporting period usingmt assumptions, with changes in value recoedeather income or expense.

F-24




Table of Contents

Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contired)
6. Fair Value of Financial Instruments (Continued)

The following table is a roll-forward ofdHair value the forward purchase contracts, wiadresalue is determined by Level 3 inputs (in
thousands):

Balance at December 31, 2C $ 8,70(
Issuance of Almirall forward purchase contr 6,00(
Increase in fair value of forward purchase consrac

upon remeasurement included in other income

(expense 60C
Settlement of forward purchase contrz (15,300

Balance at December 31, 20 $ —

Cash equivalents, accounts receivable gidegxpenses and other current assets, accourdblpagccrued expenses and the current
portion of capital lease obligations at December28110 and December 31, 2009, and the currentgmoati long-term debt at December 31,
2009 are carried at amounts that approximate &irevdue to their short-term maturities.

Capital lease obligations at December 8102and December 31, 2009 and long-term debt a¢mker 31, 2009, approximate fair value
as they bear interest at a rate approximating &ehamterest rate.

As a result of the strategic restructuriten implemented by Microbia in November 2009 (N2i#¢, the Company identified certain assets
as impaired and at December 31, 2009 had classifesxk assets measured at fair value on a noniregbasis as follows (in thousands):

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Usin

Quoted Prices in Significant Other Significant
Active Markets for Observable Unobservable
December 31 Identical Assets Inputs Inputs Total Gains
Description 2009 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) (Losses)
Long-lived asset:
heldand use $ 657 $ — 3 657 $ — $ (890)

The long-lived assets held and used haea blassified as Level 2. These assets were Igitialued at cost and when identified as
impaired, valued at estimated selling price. ThenBany used observable inputs such as selling poicgimilar equipment in similar conditic
The impaired assets are associated with the biofaainwing segment and are included in long-ternetssf discontinued operations on the
consolidated balance sheets and the loss assouidtethe restructuring and impairment is showmpas of net income (loss) from
discontinued operations on the consolidated stateswa# operations. The assets held at fair value wesluded in the sale of the Company's
interest in Microbia to DSM and thus were not releated for impairment at December 31, 2010.
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The following is a summary of available-Eale securities at December 31, 2010 (in thougands

Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized
Amortized Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
December 31, 2010
U.S. governmel-sponsored entitie $ 87,50: $ 3 3 (19) $ 87,48
U.S. Treasury securitie 116,20( 24 (5) 116,21¢
Total $ 203,700 $ 27 $ (24) $ 203,70t

The Company did not have any availablesfale securities at December 31, 2009.

The contractual maturities of all secustield at December 31, 2010 are one year or l&sseTwere thirty-one investments classified as
available-for-sale securities in an unrealized jossition at December 31, 2010, none of which heehltin an unrealized loss position for more
than twelve months. The aggregate fair value afatsecurities was approximately $94.7 million. Tmanpany reviews its investments for
other-thantemporary impairment whenever the fair value ofrerestment is less than amortized cost and evidemnteates that an investme!
carrying amount is not recoverable within a reabtsmperiod of time. To determine whether an impaintris other-than-temporary, the
Company considers whether it has the ability atehitto hold the investment until a market priceoreery and considers whether evidence
indicating the cost of the investment is recovezahltweighs evidence to the contrary. The Compahyat hold any securities with an other-
than-temporary impairment at December 31, 2010.

The cost of securities sold is determinasklol on the specific identification method for msgs of recording realized gains and losses.
Gross realized gains and losses on the sales e$timents have not been material to the Compangsotidated results of operations.

8. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consisted of thiefohg (in thousands):

December 31

2010 2009
Laboratory equipmer $ 11378 $ 9,67¢
Computer and office equipme 3,19¢ 2,66
Furniture and fixture 1,481 972
Software 3,29¢ 1,79C
Construction in proces 2,701 1,861
Leasehold improvemen 29,24¢ 17,18¢

51,30: 34,14¢

Less accumulated depreciation and
amortization (16,939 (12,399
$ 3436¢ $ 21,75«
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In both the years ended December 31, 26tiMecember 31, 2009, the Company entered intdaddpases for certain computer and
office equipment. As of December 31, 2010 and Ddxr31, 2009, the Company had approximately $1lilomiand $0.4 million of assets
under capital lease with accumulated amortizatimarices of approximately $0.4 million and $0.2 iwil| respectively.

Depreciation and amortization expense opprty and equipment associated with continuingatpns, including equipment recorded
under capital leases, was approximately $6.2 millit.8 million and $2.6 million for the years edd@ecember 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008,
respectively. Approximately $0.1 million, $0.5 nolh and $0.2 million in depreciation and amortiaatexpense associated with property and
equipment of Microbia, included in net income (JoBem discontinued operations, was recorded inytsrs ended December 31, 2010, 2009
and 2008, respectively. In the year ended DeceBbe2009, the Company recorded a charge for impaitrof long-lived assets of
approximately $0.9 million, which was required tjust certain assets at Microbia to their fair eadu the time Microbia implemented its
strategic restructuring plan. This amount is ineltiéh net income (loss) from discontinued operatifam the year ended December 31, 2009.

9. Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses consisted of the followinghousands):

December 31,

2010 2009
Salaries and benefi $ 506 $ 1,87¢
Professional fee 83€ 697
Other 3,03¢ 1,727

$ 8,93t $ 4,29¢

This table does not reflect accruals frastohtinued operations. At December 31, 2009, aaitiabilities from discontinued operations
contained approximately $0.6 million in accruedexges, primarily for salary and benefits.

10. Patent Costs

The Company incurred and recorded as dpgrakpense legal and other fees related to patérigproximately $1.9 million, $1.6 millic
and $1.3 million for the years ended December 81022009 and 2008, respectively. These costs efexrged to general and administrative
expenses as incurred. Additionally, patent costspproximately $0.1 million, $0.2 million and $G1&llion related to Microbia are included in
net income (loss) from discontinued operationgtieryears ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2€€}8;ctively.
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At December 31, 2009, the Company had antihg borrowings under a master loan and secagitgement with a financing company to
finance the purchase of laboratory and other egeiyiraf approximately $3.1 million, of which apprmately $1.3 million is included in
liabilities of discontinued operations. The borrogs had maturity dates ranging from 2010 to 2018 wiweighted average interest rate of
12.2%. In September 2010, the Company repaid &dtanding principal and interest under this agregmkhe Company incurred pre-payment
fees of approximately $67,000 in conjunction whie tepayment of debt of which approximately $31,i808cluded in net income (loss) from
discontinued operations and the remainder is iredud interest expense in the statements of operati

12. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company leases various facilities andmment under leases that expire at varying daresigh 2016. Certain of these leases contain
renewal options, and require the Company to payadipg costs, including property taxes, insuram@eel maintenance.

In January 2007, the Company entered iné@ase agreement for 113,646 rentable square fedfice and lab space at 301 Binney Street,
Cambridge, Massachusetts. The initial term of daesé is eight years expiring in January 2016, e@€Cbmpany has the right to extend the
initial term for two additional terms of five yeagach. The Company's occupancy of the space odcirfeur distinct phases, and rent for e
phase commenced at the earlier of a contractuallgate or the occupancy date. Base rent for theespanges from $49.25 to $60.50 per
rentable square foot per year. Base rent escatafesuary 2012 based upon a formula that is tellé Consumer Price Index. The space was
delivered to the Company in September 2007, andp@yments for the first phase of occupancy commert January 2008. The rent expe
inclusive of the escalating rent payments and fiee period is recognized on a straight-line basey the term of the lease agreement. In
accordance with the terms of the lease agreemetiteisecond quarter of 2010 the Company increthsekbtter of credit securing its
obligations under the lease agreement by approgisn&2.3 million.

The Company entered into two amendmentisedease agreement in February 2010 and July 284pectively (together "the
Amendments"). Pursuant to the Amendments, the Copnleased an additional 57,033 rentable squareofabe 301 Binney Street building,
comprising (a) an initial phase of 35,444 rentadgjeare feet (the "Initial Phase"), and (b) a sequrase of up to 24,556 rentable square feet
(the "Second Phase"). The Fourth Amendment toehgel (Note 24), signed in February 2011, claritiedSecond Phase to consist of 21,589
rentable square feet. Rent for the Initial Phasemenced on July 1, 2010 and rent for the SecondePlwvdl commence no later than July 1,
2011. Initial base rent for the Initial Phase i2 $0 per rentable square foot per year and thialibiase rent for the Second Phase will be
$42.50 per rentable square foot per year. Basdaehbth the Initial Phase and the Second Phabénatiease annually by $0.50 per rentable
square foot. The rent expense, inclusive of thalatng rent payments, is recognized on a strdigbtbasis over the term of the lease
agreement. The Amendments do not change the expirdate of the lease agreement.

The landlord has reimbursed the Companytsaenant improvements for the initial four pheisecupied under the lease agreement at a
set rate per rentable square foot. Under the tefrttee Amendments, the landlord has or will provide Company with an allowance of $55
per rentable square foot for tenant improvementheéninitial Phase and the Second Phase. As ofrbleee31, 2010, approximately
$14.4 million has been paid to the Company as reisgment for tenant
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improvements under the lease agreement, inclutsrgmendments. The reimbursement amount is recaslddferred rent on the consolidated
balance sheets and is being amortized as a reduoti@nt expense over the term of the lease agrneem

The Company elected not to renew its ledsgproximately 39,000 square feet of space atB3#it Street, Cambridge, Massachusetts,
which expired in December 2010.

In June 2010, the Company entered intonancercial supply agreement with a contract manufaajuorganization for the purchase of a
portion of the linaclotide API that will be useddeek regulatory approval of linaclotide in the lJGanada and/or Mexico, and, depending on
any such approval, that would be used for commiesaia in such countries. The commercial supplgagrent contains minimum purchase
requirements that commence with the commercialdawfi linaclotide and that are dependent upon fsterd commercial requirements. Since,
at this time, linaclotide has not yet been apprdeedommercialization and future commercial deménrdinaclotide is unknown, the
Company cannot estimate its future minimum purchegairements under the commercial supply agreement

In the years ended December 31, 2010, 2662008, the Company entered into capital leagabrtg approximately $1.0 million for
certain computer and office equipment. The capat@es expire at various times through June 20tlBeéember 31, 2010 and 2009, the
weighted average interest rate on the outstandipgat lease obligations was 10.6% and 10.3%, risfady.

At December 31, 2010, future minimum lepagments under all non-cancelable lease arrangeraemtis follows (in thousands):

Operating Capital

Leases Leases

2011 $ 8,671 $ 24¢
2012 9,871 18¢
2013 9,91% 14~
2014 9,94: 85
2015 9,971 35
Thereaftel 16¢€ —
Total future minimum lease paymel $ 48,53t 701
Less amounts representing intel (117)
Capital lease obligations at December 3:

2010 59C
Less current portion of capital lease

obligations (297
Capital lease obligations, net of curr

portion $ 39:

Rent expense of approximately $8.9 milli$®,1 million and $10.7 million was charged to éouing operations for the years ended
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectivelyt &erense of approximately $1.3 million, $2.7 moitliand $2.1 million related to Microbia
for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 angl, 28€pectively, is included in net income (logsshf discontinued operations. Sublease
income of approximately $0.4 million related to kibia is recorded as a reduction to rent expensinéoyear ended December 31, 2008 a
included in net income
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(loss) from discontinued operations. The sublegseesment was terminated in November 2008. The Coyngi not record any sublease
income for the years ended December 31, 2010 ad@. 20

Guarantees

As permitted under Delaware law, the Conygademnifies its officers and directors for cemtavents or occurrences while the officer or
director is, or was, serving at the Company's rsgimesuch capacity. The maximum potential amodifiatmre payments the Company could
required to make is unlimited; however, the Complaay directors' and officers' insurance coverageshould limit its exposure and enable it
to recover a portion of any future amounts paid.

The Company is a party to a number of age#s entered into in the ordinary course of bissiribat contain typical provisions that
obligate the Company to indemnify the other pariiesuch agreements upon the occurrence of certaints. Such indemnification obligations
are usually in effect from the date of executionhaf applicable agreement for a period equal tafi@icable statute of limitations. The
aggregate maximum potential future liability of @empany under such indemnification provisionsrisartain.

The Company leases office space under acancelable operating lease. The Company has dasthindemnification arrangement under
the lease that requires it to indemnify its landlagainst all costs, expenses, fines, suits, cladermands, liabilities, and actions directly
resulting from any breach, violation or nonperfonoa of any covenant or condition of the Comparegsé.

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Compad not experienced any material losses retatdtese indemnification obligations and
no material claims with respect thereto were ontiitey. The Company does not expect significantrtdaielated to these indemnification
obligations and, consequently, concluded thatairevhilue of these obligations is negligible. Aseault, the Company has not established any
related reserves.

13. Litigation

In February 2008, Microbia and Teva Pharungical Works, Rt., formerly known as Biogal Phacestical Works, Rt. ("Teva"), entered
into a Settlement Agreement (the "Settlement Ages@t) related to a dispute under two of the Comfsadgvelopment agreements for Teva.
Pursuant to the Settlement Agreement, Teva remitiegyment of approximately $1.2 million to Micrabih March 2008, in settlement of alll
outstanding litigation. The settlement amount @uded in net income (loss) from discontinued opyens for the year ended December 31,
2008 in the consolidated statement of operations.

From time to time, the Company is involredarious legal proceedings and claims, eitheesd or unasserted, which arise in the
ordinary course of business. While the outcomée$é other claims cannot be predicted with cegtaminagement does not believe that the
outcome of any of these other legal matters willcha material adverse effect on the Company's didiased financial statements.
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On February 2, 2010, upon the closing ef@@mpany's initial public offering, 69,904,843 woutstanding of the Company's conver
preferred stock automatically converted into 70,820 shares of its Class B common stock. As of Bie 31, 2010, the Company does not
have any convertible preferred stock authorizesjed or outstanding.

Prior to the closing of the initial pubbifering, the Company's Convertible Preferred Stomksisted of the following (in thousands,
except share and per share amounts):

December 31,
2010 2009

Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, $0.001 pareze8,904,567 shart
authorized, issued and outstanding (liquidatiomealf approximately
$18.4 million) at December 31, 20 $ — $ 979

Series B Convertible Preferred Stock, $0.001 phrerar, 419,355 shares
authorized, issued and outstanding (liquidatiomnealf approximately
$40.3 million) at December 31, 20 — 23,00(

Series C Convertible Preferred Stock, $0.001 parev®,401,523 shares
authorized, issued and outstanding (liquidatiomeaf approximately
$42.6 million) at December 31, 20 — 26,22:

Series D Convertible Preferred Stock, $0.001 phrevd 2,618,296 shares
authorized, issued and outstanding (liquidationealf approximately
$58.2 million) at December 31, 20 — 39,90¢

Series E Convertible Preferred Stock, $0.001 phrev&20,500,000 shares
authorized, 19,633,531 shares issued and outstafidjmidation value of
approximately $98.2 million) at December 31, 2! — 74,927

Series F Convertible Preferred Stock, $0.001 plrev#,000,000 shares
authorized, issued and outstanding (liquidationealf approximately
$61.6 million) at December 31, 20 — 49,95;

Series G Convertible Preferred Stock, $0.001 phrev&,083,333 shares
authorized, issued and outstanding (liquidatiomeaf approximately
$25.7 million) at December 31, 20 — 16,20(

Series H Convertible Preferred Stock, $0.001 phrera8,333,333 shares
authorized, 4,162,419 issued and outstanding ¢legtion value of
approximately $55.1 million) at December 31, 2! — 49,84¢

Series | Convertible Preferred Stock, $0.001 pare:&681,819 shares
authorized, issued and outstanding (liquidatiomnealf approximately
$15.2 million) at December 31, 20 — 8,50(

$ — $ 298,35
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In September 2008, the Company issued £H881shares of Series H Convertible Preferred Savekprice of $12.00 per share for cash
proceeds of approximately $49.6 million, net ofimsce costs of approximately $0.1 million.

In August 2009, the Company issued 20,8@8es of Series H Convertible Preferred Stockmatce of $12.00 per share for cash proceeds
of approximately $0.2 million.

In September 2009, the Company issued 288%hares of Series G Convertible Preferred Sabekprice of $12.00 per share for cash
proceeds of $25.0 million. In July 2009, upon th&lement of the Forest forward purchase cont&&8 million was reclassified from the
forward purchase contract asset to convertiblegpredl stock to offset the $25.0 million of proceesteived.

In November 2009, the Company settled theirall forward purchase contract by selling Alntird81,819 shares of Series | Convertible
Preferred Stock at a price of $22.00 per sharedeh proceeds of $15.0 million. Upon the settleroétite Almirall forward purchase contract,
$6.5 million was reclassified from the forward phaise contract asset to convertible preferred swokfset the $15.0 million of proceeds
received.

15. Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)
Common Stock

In February 2010, in conjunction with ther@pany's initial public offering (Note 3), the Coamy amended its certificate of incorporation
to authorize it to issue 500,000,000 shares ofSAasommon stock, 100,000,000 shares of Class Braamstock and 75,000,000 shares of
preferred stock.

The Company has designated two seriesrofrman stock, Series A Common Stock ($0.001 par vpdureshare), which is referred to as
"Class A Common Stock," and Series B Common St80k001 par value per share), which is referredsttCdass B Common Stock." All
shares of common stock that were outstanding imatelgi prior to August 2008 were converted into skaf Class B Common Stock. The
holders of Class A Common Stock and Class B Com8took vote together as a single class. Class A Gamfatock is entitled to one vote |
share. Class B Common Stock is also entitled tovote per share with the following exceptions: &ftgr the completion of an initial public
offering of the Company's stock, the holders of@ass B Common Stock are entitled to ten voteshare if the matter is an adoption of an
agreement of merger or consolidation, an adoptfanresolution with respect to the sale, leasexahange of the Company's assets or an
adoption of dissolution or liquidation of the Comgaand (2) Class B common stockholders are edtitiden votes per share on any matter if
any individual, entity, or group seeks to obtairhas obtained beneficial ownership of 30% or mdra® Company's outstanding shares of
common stock. Class B Common Stock converts tosdaSommon Stock, on a one-fone basis, if transferred or sold after the connuedf
a public offering. Class B Common Stock can be sblany time and irrevocably converts to Class An@mn Stock upon sale or transfer.
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The Class B Common Stock will be entitlectseparate class vote for the issuance of additghares of Class B Common Stock (except
pursuant to dividends, splits or convertible se@sg), or any amendment, alteration or repeal gf@ovision of the Company's charter. All
Class B Common Stock will automatically converbi@tlass A Common Stock upon the earliest of:

. the later of (1) the first date on which the numbkshares of Class B Common Stock then outstanditess than 25% of the
number of shares of Class B Common Stock outstgridimediately following the completion of an init@ublic offering or
(2) December 31, 2018;

. December 31, 2038; or

. a date agreed to in writing by a majority of thédeos of the Class B Common Sto

The Company has reserved such number oéslad Class A Common Stock as there are outstgratiares of Class B Common Stock
solely for the purpose of effecting the conversidthe Class B Common Stock.

Restricted Stock

In 2005 and 2006, the Company sold an agdeeof 520,000 shares of common stock at par (8Q€01 per share) to independent
members of the board of directors under restristedk agreements in accordance with the termseo€thmpany's 2002 Stock Incentive Plan
("2002 Plan™). The restricted stock was fully velstées of December 31, 2009.

In 2009, the Company granted an aggredadié 549 shares of common stock to independentbeesrof the board of directors under
restricted stock agreements in accordance withettmes of the Company's 2005 Stock Incentive Pl128d5 Plan™) and the Company's director
compensation program. 115,549 shares of restrametunon stock granted in 2009 vested on Decembe2(®Q and the remainder vest ratably
over four years beginning in January 2010. In thenéthat a member of the board of directors cetmsssrve on the Company's board prior to
December 31, 2013, the member shall forfeit allested shares in accordance with the terms of #igated stock agreement.

A summary of the unvested shares of rdsttistock as of December 31, 2010 is presentedvbelo

Weighted-Average

Grant Date

Shares Fair Value
Unvested at December 31, 2C 400,00( $ 5.67
Grantec — —
Vested (90,000 $ 5.6¢
Forfeited (40,000 $ 5.4¢
Unvested at December 31, 2C 270,000 $ 5.6¢
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The Company has several share-based coatp@Englans. Under the 1998 Amended and Restatezk &ption Plan ("1998 Plan"),
options to purchase 3,405,000 shares of commok stere available for grant to employees, directarsl consultants of the Company. The
options were granted under the 1998 Plan at faiketaalue on the grant date, generally vest oyegréod of four years, and expire ten years
from the grant date. There are no shares avaifableiture grant under this plan, as it expirecatordance with its terms in 2008. At
December 31, 2010 and 2009, options for 200,5006&0¢633 shares, respectively, were outstandingmuting 1998 Plan.

Under the Company's 2002 Stock Incentiea 12002 Plan") and 2005 Plan, stock awards mayrdeted to employees, officers,
directors, consultants, or advisors of the Compahyg. 2002 Plan and 2005 Plan provide for the gngraf stock options, restricted stock,
restricted stock units, and other share-based awatdecember 31, 2010, there were 4,700,000 stefreommon stock reserved for issuance
under the 2002 Plan and 12,200,000 shares resentt the 2005 Plan. The 2002 Plan allows for ridwesfer of unused shares from the 1998
Plan. Upon the expiration of the 1998 Plan on 1@ly2008, 382,438 unused shares were transfertbe 2002 Plan. At December 31, 2010,
there were 61,831 shares available for future grader the 2002 Plan and 23,657 shares availabfatfare grant under the 2005 Plan.

On January 21, 2010, the Company's stodenslapproved the 2010 Employee, Director and GamglEquity Incentive Plan ("2010
Plan") and (together with the 2002 Plan and 20@% Rhe "Plans") which became effective upon tlsing of the Company's initial public
offering on February 8, 2010. Under the 2010 Psaock awards may be granted to employees, offid@esctors, or consultants of the
Company. There are 6,000,000 shares of common stitigdly reserved for issuance under the 201PTdhe number of shares available for
future grant under the 2010 Plan may be increardtefirst day of each fiscal year by an amouniaétp the lesser of (i) 6,600,000; (ii) 4%
the number of outstanding shares of Class A comstack on the first day of each fiscal year; anl §ihn amount determined by the board of
directors. Awards that are returned to the Compat®98 Plan, 2002 Plan and 2005 Plan as a resthiefexpiration, cancellation, terminati
or repurchase are automatically made availablesfarance under the 2010 Plan. At December 31, 2b&fe were 5,489,369 shares available
for future grant under the 2010 Plan.

On January 21, 2010, the Company's stodenslapproved the 2010 Employee Stock Purchasg'Parchase Plan") which became
effective upon the closing of the Company's initiablic offering on February 8, 2010. The Purchalem allows eligible employees the righ
purchase shares of common stock at the lower of @¥te fair market value of a share of commonlstart the first or last day of an offering
period. Each offering period is six months. Theeren400,000 shares of common stock initially reseérfor issuance pursuant to the Purchase
Plan. The number of shares available for futur@tgnader the Purchase Plan may be increased dinghday of each fiscal year by an amount
equal to the lesser of (i) 1,000,000 shares, %)df the shares of common stock outstanding otetbteday of the immediately preceding fiscal
year, or (iii) such lesser number of shares agterchined by the board. At December 31, 2010, thvere 369,562 shares available for fut
grant under the Purchase Plan. The initial offegagod, under which 30,438 shares were issuedrbeg July 1, 2010 and ran through
December 31, 2010. During the year ended Decenthe23 0, approximately $0.1 million of share-basethpensation expense was
recognized related to the Purchase Plan.
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Each plan, other than the Purchase Plawjges for the granting of stock awards wherebyGbenpany's Class B common stock is
issuable upon exercise of options granted pridheoclosing of the Company's initial public offegiand Class A common stock is issuable
upon exercise of options granted after the closinfpe Company's initial public offering. At Deceent81, 2010, options exercisable into
11,881,229 shares of Class B common stock and B@Q@2hares of Class A common stock were outstgndin

The option price at the date of grant iedwined by the board of directors and, in the edsecentive stock options, may not be less than
the fair market value of the common stock at the dh grant. Due to the absence of an active mdokehe Company's common stock, prior to
the Company's initial public offering on February?®10, the board of directors was required tordatee the fair value of the common stock
for consideration in setting exercise prices fa tiptions granted and in valuing the options gidrtedetermining the fair value, the board of
directors considered both quantitative and qualidiactors including prices at which the Compaalshares of its convertible preferred
stock, the rights, preferences and liquidity of @@mpany's convertible preferred and common stiekCompany's historical operating and
financial performance and the status of its redeant product development efforts, achievemenntdrgrise milestones, including the
Company entering into collaboration agreements w/tidrd parties agree to purchase shares of thep@oy's convertible preferred stock at
fixed prices sometime in the future, external madanditions affecting the biotechnology industegt®r, and financial market conditions and,
commencing in 2006, contemporaneous valuationsigedvby management.

The option exercise period may not exteeybind ten years from the date of grant. The Plamgge that, subject to approval by the bc
of directors, option grantees may have the riglex@rcise an option prior to vesting. Shares pgetaipon the exercise of unvested options
will be subject to the same vesting schedule asitigerlying options, and are subject to repurclad$lee original exercise price by the
Company should the employee be terminated or ldev€ompany prior to becoming fully vested in sabhres. At December 31, 2010 and
2009, there were 14,960 and 34,156 shares, regelyctihat had been issued pursuant to the exeofigavested options that remain unvested
and subject to repurchase by the Company. At DeeeBih 2010, the Company does not hold any treashayes. Upon stock option exercise,
the Company issues new shares and delivers théme fmarticipant. The exercise of these sharestisutmstantive and as a result, the cash paid
for the exercise prices is considered a depogitepayment of the exercise price and is recordedliability and was not material to the
consolidated financial statements at December @10 2and 2009.

The Company, from time to time, issuesaiprtime-accelerated stock options to certain egg®#e under the Plans. The vesting of these
time-accelerated stock options accelerates upoadhievement of certain performance-based milestdhéhese criteria are not met, such
options will vest between six and ten years afterdate of grant, and expire at the end of tensy&aring the years ended December 31, 2010
and 2009, 52,500 and 100,000 shares vested aslaakesiilestone or service period achievementspeetively. At December 31, 2010 and
2009, there were 2,279,000 and 2,481,500 shagsectvely, issuable under outstanding and unvdstettaccelerated options. When
achievement of the milestone is not deemed prob#i#eCompany recognizes compensation expenseiaesbwith time-accelerated stock
options initially over the vesting period of thespective stock option. When deemed probable ofaelment, the Company expenses the
remaining unrecognized compensation for the respestock option over the implicit service peridd.December 31, 2010,
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the Company has approximately $1.1 million in ungegized share-based compensation, net of estinateitures, related to these options.

During 2005, the Company granted to empsyaptions to purchase 97,500 shares of commok at@n exercise price of $0.60 per
share, which represented the fair value of theksétb¢hat time. These options are subject to peréoice-based milestone vesting and expire ter
years from the date of grant. The options were @ektm be variable upon grant because the numbstrasés that will vest was not fixed on-
date of grant. The options are therefore remeasatredch reporting period until settlement of tpgan. During 2006, 37,500 shares vested as
a result of milestone achievements. In the yeae@érdkcember 31, 2009, the remaining 60,000 optiested. During the year ended
December 31, 2010, 37,500 shares were exercisedifimb longer be remeasured. The Company recosthede-based compensation related
to these performance-based options of approxim&$di$,000), $0.7 million and $0.3 million duringethiears ended December 31, 2010, 2009
and 2008.

During 2010 and 2009, the Company grantezhiployees options to purchase a total of 67,50012060,000 shares of common stock
subject to performance-based milestone vestingeriwely. The vesting of these stock options wiltur upon the achievement of certain
performance-based milestones. During 2010, 5,080shvested as a result of milestone achievemadtthea Company recorded related share-
based compensation expense of approximately $3fgd@bese options. As of December 31, 2010, thea@my concluded that one additional
performance-based milestone is probable of achiem&énand as a result recognized approximately llibn of share-based compensation
expense related to options subject to this perfacadased milestone. At December 31, 2010, thecagrézed share-based compensation
related to performance-based milestone optionsappsoximately $3.9 million.

The Company also grants options to exteraasultants. During the years ended December@I) and 2009, the Company granted
options for the purchase of 25,000 and 37,000 shaespectively, to external consultants. The weiddaverage grant date fair value per share
of options granted to external consultants durigytears ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 was &7d2%4.97, respectively. Most grants
made to external consultants vest over a periahefyear, and the expense related to these opsidesng charged to share-based
compensation expense over the vesting period daptiens. The amount of share-based compensatipense that may be recognized for
outstanding, unvested options as of December 310 &@&s approximately $0.1 million. The amount adrghbased compensation expense that
will ultimately be recorded will depend on the reaserement of the outstanding awards through tlesiting date. This remaining
compensation expense will be recognized over ahteiyaverage amortization period of 1.2 years aebwer 31, 2010.

In calculating share-based compensatiotsctite Company estimated the fair value of stqaloas using the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model. The Black-Scholes option-pricing mabdias developed for use in estimating the faiugaif short-lived, exchange-traded
options that have no vesting restrictions and altg fransferable. The Company estimates the nurabawards that will be forfeited in
calculating compensation costs. Such costs arerdeagnized over the requisite service period efaards on a straight-line basis.

Determining the fair value of share-basedras using the Black-Scholes option-pricing madguires the use of highly subjective
assumptions, including the expected term of therdwexpected stock price volatility and, up to tleée of the Company's initial public
offering, the fair value of the Company's commarctkt The weighted average assumptions used toastitine fair value of the
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stock options using the Black-Scholes option pgaimodel were as follows for the years ended Dece®be2010, 2009 and 2008:

Years Ended
December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Weighted-average fair value of

common stocl $ 11.2: $ 51¢ $ 3.94
Expected volatility 57.4% 62.% 64.(%
Expected term (in year 6.5 6.5 6.5
Risk-free interest rat 2.S% 2.7% 3.1%
Expected dividend yiel —% —% —%

Expected Volatility

Volatility measures the amount that a stodke has fluctuated or is expected to fluctuatendy a period. As the Company was not
publicly traded prior to February 3, 2010 and tfame had no trading history, stock price volatilitias estimated based on an analysis of
historical and implied volatility of comparable pighcompanies.

Expected Terr

The Company has limited historical inforioatto develop reasonable expectations about futeecise patterns and post-vesting
employment termination behavior for its stock optgrants. As a result, for stock option grants néwkéng the years ended December 31,
2010, 2009 and 2008, the expected term was estinnaiag the "simplified method." The simplified et is based on the average of the
vesting tranches and the contractual life of eaeinty

Risk-Free Interest Rate

The risk-free interest rate used for eawmgis based on a zero-coupon U.S. Treasury im&inti with a remaining term similar to the
expected term of the share-based award.

Expected Dividend Yiel

The Company has not paid and does notipate&paying cash dividends on its shares of comsback in the foreseeable future; theref
the expected dividend yield is assumed to be zero.

Forfeitures

Forfeitures are estimated at the time ahgand revised, if necessary, in subsequent peif@ttual forfeitures differ from the Company's
estimates. Subsequent changes in estimated fodgitue recognized through a cumulative adjustinethe period of change, and will also
impact the amount of share-based compensation sgperiuture periods. The Company uses historiatd tb estimate forfeiture rates. The
Company's forfeiture rates were 5.5%, 5.8% and 44%f December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respéctive
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The following table summarizes the expeesegnized for these shabased compensation arrangements in the consolid&tinents ¢
operations (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008
Ironwood:
Employee stock optior $ 6,54t $ 4,01 $ 2,29¢
Restricted stock awart 46¢ 784 —
Non-employee stock optior 122 301 30C
ESPF 10C — —
Stock awarc 25¢ — 25

7,49¢ 5,09t 2,61¢
Microbia Stock Plan (included
discontinued operation 59 14¢ 17¢€

$ 7555 $ 5244 § 2,794

Sharésased compensation is reflected in the consolidsteteéments of operations as follows for the yeaded December 31, 2010, 2(
and 2008 (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Research and developm $ 4112 $ 2,372 $ 1,62i
General and administratiy 3,38¢ 2,727 991
Net income (loss) fror

discontinued operatior 59 14¢ 17¢€

At December 31, 2010, there were 5,57438%@fes available for future grant under the Plans.

The following table summarizes stock optativity under the Company's stock option plansiuding performance-based options:

Shares of
Common Weighted- Weighted-
Stock Average Average Aggregate
Attributable Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
to Options Price Life Value
(in years) (in thousands)
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 13,691,57 $ 2.4t 6.24 $ 131,45¢
Grantec 2,752,000 $ 11.2¢
Exercisec (1,746,18) $ 1.01
Cancellec (94,16¢) $  6.4F
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 14,603,22 $ 4.2t 6.44 $ 91,57¢
Vested or expected to vest at Decembel
2010 13,322,10 $ 4.17 6.34 $ 84,57
Exercisable at December 31, 2030 6,779,360 $ 2.2C 4.9¢ $ 55,45

(1)  All stock options granted under the 1998 Plan, 2B and 2005 Plan contain provisions allowingtfier early exercise of sus
options into restricted stock. The exercisable ehdisclosed above represent those that are va@steidDecember 31, 2010.
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The weighted-average grant date fair vakereshare of options granted to employees duriay#ars ended December 31, 2010, 2009 anc
2008 was $6.48, $3.17 and $2.44, respectively t@ta intrinsic value of options exercised durihg tyears ended December 31, 2010, 2009
and 2008 was approximately $18.6 million, $1.6 imilland $0.4 million, respectively. Prior to thermany's initial public offering, the
intrinsic value was calculated as the differendsvben the estimated fair value of the Company'sraomstock and the exercise price of the
option issued. The fair value of the Company's comistock was $10.35, $12.05 and $4.89 per shdae@mber 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008,
respectively.

The grantate fair value of the options granted to employeing the years ended December 31, 2010, 2002@D8 was approximate
$17.7 million, $9.1 million and $4.7 million, resgively.

As of December 31, 2010, there was apprateity $1.4 million and $17.2 million of unrecogrizehare-based compensation, net of
estimated forfeitures, related to restricted stawiards and unvested stock option grants with tiaeet vesting, respectively which are
expected to be recognized over a weighted averagedoof 3.36 years. The total unrecognized shaseth compensation cost will be adjusted
for future changes in estimated forfeitures.

Microbia Stock Plar

Under the Microbia Stock Plan, 16,000 apgievere granted to employees during 2010. The giaetfair value of the options granted to
employees during the years ended December 31, 2000,and 2008 was approximately $1,000, $0.1aniléind $0.2 million, respectively.
a result of the sale of the Company's interesticrdbia to DSM in September 2010 the Microbia StBtkn was cancelled, resulting in the
cancellation of all existing shares.

17. Income Taxes

The Company has not recorded a provisiofiefteral or state income taxes as it has had ativelnet operating losses since inception.
However, because of the intra-period income teocalion requirements, the Company recorded a lidnefncome taxes from continuing
operations of $2.9 million for the year ended Deben81, 2010, offset by an identical and correspanohcome tax provision from
discontinued operations. The intra-period inconxeaffocation considers income (loss) from discounith operations for purposes of
determining the amount of tax benefit that resfutimn the loss from continuing operations. The Compiaecognized a federal income tax
benefit of approximately $0.3 million for the yemnding December 31, 2009 related to refundableareBeand development tax credits,
resulting from a provision in the Housing Assistaf@x Act of 2008 that allowed the Company to claimefund for a portion of its unused
pre-2006 research tax credits on its 2008 U.S.rédecome tax return.

F-39




Table of Contents

Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contired)
17. Income Taxes (Continued)

A reconciliation of income taxes from conting operations computed using the U.S. fedeaalisiry rate to that reflected in operations
follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31
2010 2009 2008

Income tax benefit using
U.S. federal statutoryra $ (20,182 $ (20,500 $ (16,119

Permanent difference (3,126 2,047 79
State income taxes, net of

federal benefi (3,427) (3,2872) (2,977
Stock compensatic (243) 1,30C 923
Tax credits (2,047 (4,639 (609)
Expiring net operatin

losses and tax credi 912 57C 501

Effect of change in state t:
rate on deferred tax ass

and deferred tax liabilitie 613 1,744 —
Change in the valuatic

allowance 27,60¢ 22,40( 18,19(
Other (115 58 8
Total before intr-period

allocation — (29¢€) —
Intra-period tax allocatiol (2,949 — —

$ (2949 $ (29 $ —

Components of the Company's deferred tagtasand liabilities are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2010 2009

Deferred tax asset
Net operating loss carryforwar $ 57,251 $§ 33,47¢

Tax credit carryforward 14,53¢ 12,49:
Capitalized research and
developmen 27,87 51,54:
Deferred revenu 35,75¢ 17,09:
Other 12,42 7,257
Deferred tax assets of discontint
operations — 10,01¢
Total deferred tax asse 147,84 131,87¢
Valuation allowanct (147,84°) (131,879
Net current deferred tax as: $ — % —

Management of the Company has evaluatefddhitive and negative evidence bearing upon thkzebility of its deferred tax assets.
Management has considered the Company's histargearkting losses and concluded, in accordancethétlapplicable accounting standards,
that it is more likely than not that the Companyymat realize the benefit of its deferred tax ess&tcordingly, the deferred tax assets have
been fully reserved at December 31, 2010 and 2d@@agement reevaluates the positive and negatidem®se on a quarterly basis.

The valuation allowance increased approteétyab16.0 million during the year ended Decemlier2D10, due primarily to the increase in
the net operating loss carryforwards and deferegdrue. The valuation allowance increased apprdgign®27.9 million during the year end
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17. Income Taxes (Continued)

December 31, 2009, due primarily to the increagbémet operation loss carryforwards, capitalimsarch and development expenses an
credits. The valuation allowance increased $21IBamiduring the year ended December 31, 2008, direarily to the increase in the net
operating loss carryforwards and research and dprent tax credits.

Subject to the limitations described bebivibecember 31, 2010 and 2009, the Company haspeedting loss carryforwards of
approximately $153.2 million and $111.3 millionspectively, to offset future federal taxable incomaich expire beginning in 2018
continuing through 2030. As of December 31, 201d) 2009, the Company has state net operating losg@avards of approximately
$97.7 million and $82.3 million, respectively, tiiset future state taxable income, which have baguexpire and will continue to expire
through 2020. The Company also has tax credit frampards of approximately $15.8 million and $14.#lion as of December 31, 2010 and
2009, respectively, to offset future federal aredestncome taxes, which expire at various timesutgh 2030.

Utilization of net operating loss carryf@amds and research and development credit carryfdsvaay be subject to a substantial annual
limitation due to ownership change limitations thave occurred previously or that could occur mfiliture in accordance with Section 382 of
the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 ("IRC Section'88@ad with Section 383 of the Internal Revenue €0£11986, as well as similar state
provisions. These ownership changes may limit theunt of net operating loss carryforwards and nefeand development credit
carryforwards that can be utilized annually to effiuture taxable income and taxes, respectivalgeneral, an ownership change, as defined
by IRC Section 382, results from transactions iasireg the ownership of certain stockholders oripuroups in the stock of a corporation by
more than 50 percentage points over a three-yeardpdhe Company has completed several financiimge its inception which may have
resulted in a change in control as defined by IRCtBN 382, or could result in a change in contrahe future.

The Company applies ASC 748;ome TaxesASC 740 provides guidance on the accounting fi@ettainty in income taxes recognized
in financial statements and requires the impaet t@fx position to be recognized in the financiatesnents if that position is more likely than
not of being sustained by the taxing authority.aAsult of the implementation of the new guidatice Company recognized no material
adjustment for unrecognized income tax benefitDé&tember 31, 2009 and December 31, 2010, the Qontd no unrecognized tax
benefits.

The Company will recognize interest andaliées related to uncertain tax positions in incdmeexpense. As of January 1, 2009 and
December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2010, the Conifaahno accrued interest or penalties relatechéeniain tax positions and no amounts
have been recognized in the Company's consoligdtéements of operations.

The statute of limitations for assessmeritie Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") and stateatathorities is open for tax years ended
December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009, although camgiat attributes that were generated prior to taar Y007 may still be adjusted upon
examination by the IRS or state tax authoritigbéfy either have been or will be used in a futeeqad. There are currently no federal or state
audits in progress.
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The Company has not, as yet, conducteddy sif its research and development credit carwéods. This study may result in an
adjustment to the Company's research and develdpmresdit carryforwards; however, until a study @npleted and any adjustment is known,
no amounts are being presented as an uncertapostkon. A full valuation allowance has been pd®d against the Company's research and
development credits and, if an adjustment is reglithis adjustment would be offset by an adjustritethe deferred tax asset established for
the research and development credit carryforwaddtlaa valuation allowance.

18. Defined Contribution Plan

The Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 401@yiSgs Plan is a defined contribution plan in thexf of a qualified 401(k) plan in which
substantially all employees are eligible to papéte upon employment. Subject to certain InterrealdRue Code limits, eligible employees r
elect to contribute from 1% to 100% of their comgaion. Company contributions to the plan are aestile discretion of the Company's board
of directors. In 2008, the Company instituted aghig contribution of 50% of the employee's fir6t@0 of contributions. During the years
ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, the Compaagded approximately $0.5 million, $0.4 milliand $0.3 million in net income (los
from continuing operations related to its 401 (kinp@ny match. Included in net income (loss) frontaliginued operations for each of the yi
ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 is appreedyr0.1 million related to the 401(k) company ot

19. Related Party Transactions

The Company has and currently obtains Isgalices from a law firm that is an investor af thompany. The Company paid
approximately $0.3 million, $0.1 million and $0.1llilon in legal fees to this investor during theays ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and
2008, respectively.

In September 2009, Forest became a retetetyl when the Company sold to Forest 2,083,338shaf the Company's convertible
preferred stock and in November 2009, Almirall beeaa related party when the Company sold to Alin@81,819 shares of the Company's
convertible preferred stock (Note 5). Additiondhted party disclosure related to Microbia and Ti&lincluded in Note 22.

20. Segment Reporting

Prior to the sale of its interest in Micimlin September 2010, the Company had two repertab$iness segments: human therapeutics ant
biomanufacturing. The Company had no inter-segmergnues.
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The following table reports revenue and lfsem operations for the Company's reportable segsnfor the years ended December 31,
2010, 2009 and 2008 (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008
Revenue
Human therapeutic $ 43,85 $ 34,327 $ 18,38
Biomanufacturing

(included in

discontinued

operations 1,98t 1,781 3,83t

Total $ 4584: $ 36,10: $ 22,21¢
Loss from operation:
Human therapeutic $ (60,76¢) $ (60,81¢ $ (48,307
Biomanufacturing

(included in

discontinued

operations (4,532 (13,16)) (7,619

Total $ (65,299 $ (73,97) $ (55,92)

December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Total assets
Human therapeutic $ 301,36! $ 160,10 $ 134,55
Biomanufacturing
(included in
discontinued operatior — 2,34¢ 3,817
Total $ 301,36! $ 162,45 $ 138,37:

At December 31, 2010, all of the Compaagsounts receivable related to the human theragzesgigment. At December 31, 2009
approximately $15,000 of the Company's accountsivable related to the Company's biomanufacturégneent and is included in current
assets of discontinued operations and approxim&&® million of the Company's accounts receivablated to the human therapeutics
segment.

21. Federal Grant

In October 2010, the Company was notifteat it was awarded approximately $1.0 million iamfis under the Qualifying Therapeutic
Discovery Project Program which was created in M&@10 as part of the Patient Protection and Afibility Care Act. The total amount
awarded was recognized in the fourth quarter oD281d is recorded as other income on the Compaagsolidated statements of operations.

22. Microbia, Inc.

On September 21, 2010, the Company soldtisest in Microbia to DSM in exchange for casbgeeds of $9.5 million, the payment of
approximately $1.1 million of Microbia debt andén¢st by DSM and future contingent consideratisgedeaon the sale of products
incorporating Microbia's technology (See Note 2).
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Tate & Lyle Investments, Ltd.

In September 2006, the Company enteredaimtollaboration agreement with T&L. The collab@aatagreement had a five-year term with
a one-year notice of termination. In connectiorhwite execution of the collaboration agreementQbmpany also issued T&L 1,823,529
shares of common stock of Microbia, the Companyislly owned subsidiary, at the aggregate purchase pf approximately $2,000, and
issued 7,000,000 shares of convertible preferreeksif Microbia at the aggregate purchase pricg70d million. After the sale of stock to
T&L, the Company retained an 85% majority ownershiprest, and T&L had a 15% noncontrolling intéiasMicrobia. The Company's
ownership interest in Microbia was entirely compdf convertible preferred stock with the samdguemces to that held by T&L. The
ownership of the convertible preferred and commntonksby T&L is recorded as noncontrolling intergsthe consolidated financial stateme

In evaluating whether or not T&L's investmhe Microbia's convertible preferred stock sholié/e been classified as noncontrolling
interest, the Company had to determine whethepbthe convertible preferred stock was in factulstance common stock. In-substance
common stock is an investment in an entity thatrisksand reward characteristics that are substinsimilar to that entity's common stock.
After reviewing the criteria for treatment as imastance common stock, the Company concluded thdighidation preference of the
convertible preferred stock was not substantiviligsobia had little subordinated equity, in therfoof common stock, from a fair value
perspective. As a result, in the event of liquidiatithe convertible preferred stock would partitépa substantially all of Microbia's losses. 1
Company also concluded that T&L's investment inrgliéa’'s convertible preferred stock had the risks wards of ownership. T&L had the
ability to convert the convertible preferred stacto Microbia common stock without any significamstrictions or contingencies that
prohibited them from participating in the capitppaeciation of Microbia in a manner that was sutitsadly similar to Microbia's common stot
Therefore, this conversion feature was an indicthitar the convertible preferred stock was substfipitsimilar to common stock. Additionally,
Microbia's preferred stock did not require Microbiaransfer substantive value to T&L in a manmewhich the common stockholders did not
participate similarly, for example, the preferrédck was not redeemable. As a result, the Compangladed that T&L's investment in
Microbia's convertible preferred stock was in fastinvestment in in-substance common stock andrdicgyy attributed Microbia's losses
based on the relative ownership interests in Mierotepresented by T&L's common and preferred stoakership. This resulted in attributing
15% of Microbia's losses to the noncontrolling it in the Company's consolidated financial stetem

On June 15, 2010, T&L and Microbia enteired an agreement to terminate their collaborafidre terms and conditions of the agreen
included an exchange of intellectual property ana@-time payment to Microbia of approximately $thlion. All current and future
obligations between Microbia and T&L were termirtbées a result of this agreement.

Revenue earned from the T&L collaboratigreement totaled approximately $1.9 million, $1i8iom and $2.2 million during the years
ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respactiMaik revenue is included in net income (losgjrfrdiscontinued operations for all
periods presented. There was no accounts receifrabheT&L at December 31, 2010. Accounts receivdbden T&L was approximately
$10,000 at December 31, 2009 and is included ireatiassets of discontinued operations.
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In conjunction with the sale of Microbial&M in September 2010, the Company sold its istéreMicrobia, resulting in the
deconsolidation of its former subsidiary. As sutie, non-controlling interest balance was reducezkto in conjunction with the sale of the
entity (Note 2).

Strategic Restructuring Plan

In November 2009, Microbia implementedratsigic restructuring plan that included an immediaduction of its workforce by
approximately 40% of its existing workforce, anteduced workweek for an additional 12% of its @rggtvorkforce. Microbia took this actic
to focus on its proprietary strain-developmentfplah and existing service agreements.

In connection with the strategic restruicigmplan, Microbia recorded restructuring chargeapproximately $1.2 million in the year ended
December 31, 2009. Provisions associated withttlagegic restructuring are included in net incomosg) from discontinued operations in the
consolidated statements of operations. Activitigsirst Microbia's restructuring accrual, whichrislided in current liabilities of discontinued
operations in the consolidated balance sheets, agfalows for the years ended December 31, 208®809 (in thousands):

Balance at Balance at
December 31, Asset December 31,
2009 Provisions Payments Impairments 2010
Termination benefit $ 2 3 — $ 2 3% — 3 —
Asset impairmen — — — — —
Other charge — — — — —
Total $ 2 $ — 3 2 % — 3 —
Balance at Balance at
December 31, December 31,
2008 Provisions Payments Asset Impairments 2009
Termination benefit $ — 3 287 $ (28f) % — 3 2
Asset impairmen — 89C — (890 —
Other charge — 30 (30) — —
Total $ — $ 1200 $ (319 $ (890) $ 2

The Company accounts for restructuringscosaccordance with ASC 42Bxit or Disposal Cost Obligation&SC 420 requires that a
liability for a cost associated with an exit orghsal activity be recognized and measured initiatlits fair value in the period in which the
liability is incurred, except for one-time termirat benefits that meet specific requirements.

Termination benefits related to severammka@ntinuation of benefit costs associated witkrblia's workforce reduction.
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The unaudited quarterly financial infornoatiof the Company for the quarter ended Septene2®L0 has been restated in order to
correctly reflect a benefit to income taxes fromtauing operations and an identical income tawision from discontinued operations for an
intra-period income tax allocation. The intra-pdrincome tax allocation considers discontinued afp@ns for purposes of determining the
amount of tax benefit that results from the Compmlgss from continuing operations. The accourfecédd were income tax benefit, net loss
from continuing operations and net income (lossinfdiscontinued operations. This error did not iotpeet loss, net loss attributable to
Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc., or net cash usegarations for the quarter ended September 3@.Z01e Company determined that the
incorrect amounts identified were material in thiudger ended September 30, 2010. Accordingly, tagany has restated its unaudited
quarterly financial information for this quarterander to correct the error for the tax benefite Timpact of the error to the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2010 is reflected below:

Three Months Ended
September 30, 2010

As Originally
Reported As Restated Change
(in thousands, except per share date

Income tax benef $ — $ (2949 $ 2,94«
Net loss from continuin

operations (16,05¢) (13,119 2,94¢
Net income (loss) fror

discontinued operatio 9,311 6,367 (2,944

Net loss per share fro

continuing operation  $ (0.1¢) $ (0.139) $ 0.0¢
Net income (loss) pe

share from

discontinued operatio

attributable to

Ironwood
Pharmaceuticals, Inc 0.0¢ 0.0t (0.09)
Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2010
As Originally
Reported As Restated Change
(in thousands, except per share date
Income tax benef $ — $ (2949 $ 2,94«
Net loss from continuin
operations (47,709 (44,760 2,94
Net income (loss) fror
discontinued operatio 7,49 4,551 (2,944

Net loss per share fro

continuing operation  $ (0.55) $ (0.52) $ 0.0
Net income (loss) pe

share from

discontinued operatio

attributable to

Ironwood

Pharmaceuticals, Inc 0.07 0.0 (0.09)

The following table contains quarterly firtgal information for 2010 and 2009. The Companlelves that the following information
reflects all normal recurring adjustments neceskarg fair presentation of the information for theriods presented. The operating results for
any quarter are not necessarily indicative of tedor any future period. Amounts associated with Company's former
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23. Restatement and Selected Quarterly Financial D& (Unaudited) (Continued)

subsidiary, Microbia, which was sold in Septemb@t@ have been presented as discontinued operébioalt periods shown in the
information below.

Third
First Second Quarter Fourth Total
Quarter Quarter (Restated) Quarter Year
(in thousands, except per share data)
2010
Collaborative arrangementsrever $ 8,83t $ 9,18t $ 9,05¢ $ 16,77 $ 43,85’
Total operating expens 23,33¢ 26,49¢ 25,224 29,561 104,62:
Other income (expense), r 15 14& 107 1,144 1,411
Net loss from continuing operatio (14,48) (17,26 (13,119 (11,65) (56,41)
Net income (loss) from discontinu
operations (1,772 (44) 6,36 — 4,551
Net loss (16,259 (17,209 (6,747  (11,65) (51,860
Net (income) loss from discontinu
operations attributable to
noncontrolling interes 32¢ 73 (1,5279) — (1,12
Net loss attributable to Ironwoc
Pharmaceuticals, Inc (15,929 (17,13¢) (8,270) (11,65) (52,98))
Net loss per share from continui
operations $ 029% (019 $ (019 % (019 $ (0.69
Net income (loss) per share frc
discontinued operations
attributable to Ironwood
Pharmaceuticals, Inc (0.02) — 0.0t — 0.0<
Net loss per share attributable
Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.-
basic and dilute: $ 025 % (@©019$ (00 $ (0198 (059
First Second Third Fourth Total
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year
(in thousands, except per share data)
2009
Collaborative arrangementsrever $ 4,45( $ 6,21 $ 15257 $ 8,40¢ $ 34,32
Total operating expens: 20,32: 21,49t 23,54 29,77 95,13}
Other income (expense), r 20C (300) (44) 66€ 52z
Net loss from continuing operatio (15,677  (15,58Y (8,17¢) (20,559 (59,999
Net income (loss) from discontinu
operations (2,729 (3,337 (3,249 (4,01¢) (13,319
Net loss (18,4000 (18,917 (11,42) (24,579  (73,31)
Net loss from discontinue
operations attributable to
noncontrolling interes 432 532 51¢ 644 2,123
Net loss attributable to Ironwoc
Pharmaceuticals, Inc (17,969 (18,385 (10,909 (23,93() (71,18
Net loss per share from continui
operations $ (22H)¢ (220 % (115 $ (28) $ (849
Net income (loss) per share frc
discontinued operations
attributable to Ironwood
Pharmaceuticals, Inc (0.32) (0.40) (0.39) (0.47) (.57
Net loss per share attributable
Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.-
basic and dilute: $ (256 ¢ (@26) % (159% (330 % (10.00
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State Grant

In December 2010, the Company was notitied it was awarded an approximately $1.0 milliax incentive from the Massachusetts Life
Sciences Center as part of the Life Sciences Teenltive Program. The program was established i8 #00rder to incentivize life sciences
companies to create new sustained jobs in Massattbudobs must be maintained for at least fivesyemring which time the credit can be
recovered by the Massachusetts Department of Reviethe Company does not meet and maintain itcjelation commitments. At
December 31, 2010, the Company had not recognieedredit in its consolidated financial statemdrgsause the award was not finalized t
2011.

Protagonist Therapeutics, Inc.

The Company entered into a collaboratioe@ment with Protagonist Therapeutics, Inc. andaganist Pty Ltd. (collectively
"Protagonist") in January 2011. Under this agrednfémtagonist will use its proprietary technolqdstform to discover peptides against
certain targets and the Company has the righteteldp and commercialize these peptides. In cororeatith entering into the agreement, the
Company made an up-front payment to Protagonist. ddmpany will also fund fullime equivalents for Protagonist's drug discovenyiies,
and will make certain milestone and royalty payragrénding the achievement of certain developmethtammercialization milestones.

Lease Amendment

In February 2011, the Company enteredanf@urth Amendment to its lease for 301 Binneyedtiender the amended lease, the
Company leases an additional 23,307 square fabed01 Binney Street building. Rent for the adudlitil space commences no later than
February 15, 2012 and base rent will be $42.50qre|ble square foot per year, and will increaseially by $0.50 per rentable square foot.
The landlord will provide the Company with a finiglork allowance of $40.00 per rentable square ébatdditional space rented pursuant to
this amendment. The Amendment does not changath&dy 31, 2016 expiration date of the originaséea

Commercial Supply Agreement

In March 2011, the Company, along withcitlaboration partner Forest, entered into a consiakesupply agreement with Roche Color
Corporation for the purchase of a portion of timadilotide API that will be used to support regutptapproval of linaclotide in the United
States and/or Canada, and, pending any such apptteatawill be sold commercially in such countifhe commercial supply agreement
contains a minimum purchase requirement for the @om and Forest that commences in 2012. Sincbisdimne, linaclotide has not yet been
approved for commercialization and future commeidénand for linaclotide is unknown, the Compangrea estimate its actual future
purchase requirements under the commercial sugpgeaent.
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Registration Statement on
Form S-1, as amended (File
No. 33:-163275)

March 30, 201

March 30, 201

January 20, 20!

November 20, 20(

December 23, 20(

December 23, 20(

January 29, 20:

January 20, 20:

March 30, 201

March 5, 201

December 23, 20(

December 23, 20(

December 23, 20(
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10.#

10.1(+

10.11+

10.1z+

10.1%+

10.1¢

10.14.:

10.14.*

Consulting Agreement, dated  Registration Statement «

of November 30, 2009, by and Form S-1, as amended (File
between Christopher Walsh andNo. 33:-163275)

Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Ir

Collaboration Agreement, dat:  Registration Statement ¢

as of September 12, 2007, as Form S-1, as amended (File
amended on November 3, 2009,No. 33:-163275)

by and between Forest

Laboratories, Inc. and Ironwood

Pharmaceuticals, In

License Agreement, dated as of Registration Statement on
April 30, 2009, by and between Form S-1, as amended (File
Almirall, S.A. and Ironwood No. 33:-163275)
Pharmaceuticals, In

License Agreement, dated as  Registration Statement «
November 10, 2009, by a1 Form S-1, as amended (File
among Astellas Pharma, Inc. ¢ No. 33:-163275)

[ronwood Pharmaceuticals, Ir

Commercial Supply Agreemer Quarterly Report on Form -Q
dated as of June 23, 2010, by (File No. 001-34620)

among PolyPeptide

Laboratories, Inc. and

Polypeptide Laboratories

(SWEDEN) AB, Forest

Laboratories, Inc. and Ironwood

Pharmaceuticals, In

Lease for facilities at 301 Binn' Registration Statement «
St., Cambridge, MA, dated as ofForm S-1, as amended (File
January 12, 2007, as amende(¢ No. 33:-163275)

April 9, 2009, by and between

Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

and BMF-Rogers Street LL(

Second Amendment to Lease foAnnual Report on Form 10-K
facilities at 301 Binney St., (File No. 001-34620)
Cambridge, MA, dated as of

February 9, 2010, by and

between Ironwood

Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and BMR-

Rogers Street LL(

Third Amendment to Lease for
facilities at 301 Binney St.,
Cambridge, MA, dated as of
July 1, 2010, by and between
Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
and BMF-Rogers Street LL(

December 23, 20(

February 2, 201

February 2, 201

February 2, 201

August 10, 201

December 23, 20(

March 30, 201
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10.14.* Fourth Amendment to Lease 1
facilities at 301 Binney St.,
Cambridge, MA, dated as of
February 3, 2011, by and
between Ironwood
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and BMR-
Rogers Street LL(

21.7* Subsidiaries of Ironwoo
Pharmaceuticals, In

23.7* Consent of Independe
Registered Public Accounting
Firm

31.7* Certification of Chief Executive
Officer pursuant to Rules 134
or 15¢-14 of the Exchange Au

31.2 Certification of Chief Financie
Officer pursuant to Rules 134
or 15¢-14 of the Exchange Au

32.1% Certification of Chief Executive
Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14
(b) or 15d14(b) of the Exchanc
Act and 18 U.S.C. Section 13

32.2% Certification of Chief Financie
Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14
(b) or 15d14(b) of the Exchanc
Act and 18 U.S.C. Section 13

* Filed herewith.

T Furnished herewith.

+ Confidential treatment granted under 17 C.F.R. 8820(b)(4) and 230.406. The confidential portiohthés exhibit have
been omitted and are marked accordingly. The cenfidl portions have been provided separately thithSEC pursuant
to the confidential treatment request.

# Management contract or compensatory plan, contacgreement.

(b) Exhibits.
The exhibits required by this Item are listed unitkeem 15(a)(3).
(c) Financial Statement Schedules.

The financial statement schedules required bylteim are listed under Item 15(a)(.







Exhibit 10.14.Z
THIRD AMENDMENT TO LEASE

THIS THIRD AMENDMENT TO LEASE (this “ Amendmeri) is dated and effective as of July 1, 2010 (tigfective Date”), by
and between BMR-ROGERS STREET LLC, a Delaware éichltability company (“ Landlord’ as successor-in-interest to Rogers Street, LLC
(“ Criginal Landlord”)), and IRONWOOD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC., a Delawaoerporation (formerly known as Microbia, Inc.) (
Tenant”).

RECITALS

A. WHEREAS, Original Landlord and Tenamntered into that certain Lease dated as of Jarii2ar2007 (collectively with the
First Amendment and the Second Amendment, the dital Leas€), as amended by that certain First Amendment to Ldats as of April ¢
2009 (the “ First Amendmeri} and that certain Second Amendment to Lease degeaf February 9, 2010 (the “ Second Amendrient
whereby Tenant leases certain premises from Lat@ibB01 Binney Street in Cambridge, Massachusetts;

B. WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant desireriter into this Amendment to, among other thingsmorialize the size of the
Additional Premises Initial Phase, the Additione¢fises Initial Phase Rent Commencement Date, grojppate adjustment to Tenant's Pro
Rata Share and the Additional Premises Finish Wdidwance with respect to the Additional Premisetsidl Phase, as required pursuant to
Section 5of the Second Amendment; and

C. WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant desirenbdify and amend the Original Lease only in #&pects and on the conditions
hereinafter stated.

AGREEMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, Landlord and Tenant, in consideratf the mutual promises contained herein andtioer good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which hereby acknowledged, and intending to bellebalind, agree as follows:

1. Definitions For purposes of this Amendment, capitalized seshmll have the meanings ascribed to them in tiggral
Lease unless otherwise defined herein.

2. Additional Premises Initial Phas&he Additional Premises Initial Phase consiéthioty-five thousand four hundred forty-
four (35,444) rentable square feet on the thirdrflof the Building, as depicted on Exhibitadtached hereto, and includes shaft and/or
mechanical space in the basement and on thedastnd, third, fourth, fifth and penthouse levélthe Building. The Additional Premises
Initial Phase consists of thirty thousand severdneah fifty-eight (30,758) useable square feet afcgp The Additional Premises Initial Phase
Rent Commencement Date is July 1, 2010.

3. Tenaihs Pro Rata ShareEffective as of the Effective Date, Tenant's Rata Share shall be 37.61%.




4. Additional Premises Finish Work Allance. The amount of the Additional Premises Finish kK/allowance allocated to
the Additional Premises Initial Phase shall be ®filéon Nine Hundred Forty-Nine Thousand Four HuedfTwenty and 00/100 Dollars
($1,949,420).

5. Completion of LandlosiWork. The work referenced on ExhibittB the Second Amendment was completed by Landlord
on or before March 1, 2010. Tenant hereby ackndgds that it has approved and accepted such work@mowledges that Landlord has
satisfied its obligations set to complete all sualik referenced in Section 1 the Second Amendment, except for any latentaiefieot
visually discoverable by Tenant upon a reasonattityetht inspection and which are identified in wrg to Landlord on or before March 1,
2011. Landlord shall repair all such latent defaegion receipt of written notice thereof.

6. Measurement Standar@ffective as of the Effective Date, pursuanBttion _2.01(e)(ii)of the Original Lease, the renta
area of the Premises has been remeasured in aocerdéth the Measurement Standard and the remehsem&able square footage of the
Premises is set forth on ExhibitéBtached hereto. Exhibit 2.01 )& the Original Lease is hereby deleted in itsrety and replaced with
Exhibit B attached hereto. Landlord and Tenant acknowleddeagree that the measurements reflected in thisndiment, including
Exhibit B, are the final and conclusive measurements foBtlikling, Premises and each Phase (except foAdhitional Premises Second
Phase) under the Lease. Notwithstanding anythémgih to the contrary, to the extent that theie é¢onflict between the rentable area set forth
in this Amendment and that set forth on Exhibli&eto, the information set forth in this Amendmsmall supersede. For clarification
purposes, effective as of the Effective Date butpnimr to such Effective Date, the measuremerfteated in Sections 7, 8 anda®d Exhibit B
of this Amendment, supersede the measurementersieiri the First Amendment, including ExhibitaAtached thereto.

7. Premises Effective as of the Effective Date, the rentadijeare footage of the Premises (except for thetibddl Premises
Second Phase) in its entirety is one hundred foirtg-thousand ninety (149,090) rentable square feéffective as of the Effective Date, the
Premises depiction attached as Exhiblteeto supersedes that which was attached as EXHiGito the Original Lease pursuant to Section 4
of the First Amendment.

8. PhasesThe Office Space consists of nineteen thousamel mundred twenty-three (19,923) rentable squeeedn the
second floor of the Building. The First Floor Spaonsists of eighteen thousand (18,000) rentajlare feet of space on the first floor of the
Building and includes shaft and/or mechanical spadke basement and on the first, second, thingith, fifth and penthouse levels of the
Building. The First Lab Space consists of thirexsn thousand seventy-two (37,072) rentable sdaaten the second floor of the Building
and includes shaft and/or mechanical space inakerbent and on the first, second, third, fourfth &nd penthouse levels of the Building.
Final Lab Space consists of thirty-eight thousardaendred fifty-one (38,651) rentable square faethe second floor of the Building and
includes shaft and/or mechanical space on the getloind, fourth, fifth and penthouse levels of Bwilding.




9. Base Rent and Pro Rata Share-OmeEffective as of the Effective Date, Base Renttfar Office Space, the First Floor
Space and the First Lab Space shall be calculasedoon the Measurement Standard attached herEtdit B and a credit shall be glven to
Tenant for overpayments of Base Rent from and #feeEffective Date through the date of the Octobat statement. Tenant shall receive
such credit on the October rent statement. Effeas of the Effective Date, Base Rent for the Adial Premises Initial Phase shall be
calculated based on the Measurement Standard ettéeheto as Exhibit Bnd the amount of such Base Rent from and afteEtteetive Date
through the date of the October rent statement alsal be reflected in the October rent statemehll. amounts owed from and after the
Effective Date through the date of the October statement for Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of estim@t€perating Expenses, (ii) Taxes, and
(iii) Landlord’s utilities and insurance expenshattresult from the increase in the Tenant's PriaSaare between the First Amendment and
this Amendment shall also be reflected on the Gatobnt statement.

10. Building The rentable square footage of the Buildingis fhundred seventeen thousand two hundred nidéf;Z90)
rentable square feet.

11. Finish Work Allowance The parties hereby agree that the Finish Woltkwdnce allocable to the Premises (other than the
Additional Premises Initial Phase and the Additidhgemises Second Phase) shall not change aslaakthe revised measurements set forth
in this Amendment and shall remain as set fortBention 100f the First Amendment.

12. Letter of Credit The parties hereby agree that the amount of¢fter of Credit currently due shall not changaassult of
the revised measurements set forth in this Amendagsh shall remain as set forth in Sectioroi the First Amendment. Landlord hereby
confirms that, pursuant to Section dfithe First Amendment, Tenant has delivered todl@ndl, and Landlord currently holds, a Letter oe@it
in the amount of Seven Million Six Hundred Sixtéémousand Eight Hundred Thirty-Three Dollars ($7,888.00).

13. Broker Tenant and Landlord each represents and want@the other that it has not dealt with any brakeagent in the
negotiation for or the obtaining of this Amendmant agrees to indemnify, defend and hold the dihanless from any and all cost or liabil
for compensation claimed by any such broker or agemployed or engaged by it or claiming to havenbemployed or engaged by it for such
purposes.

14. Effect of AmendmentExcept as modified by this Amendment, the O@djirease and all the covenants, agreements, terms
provisions and conditions thereof shall remainuithforce and effect and are hereby ratified arfdrakd. The covenants, agreements, terms,
provisions and conditions contained in this Amendtghall bind and inure to the benefit of the arthereto and their respective successors
and, except as otherwise provided in the Origirede, as amended hereby, their respective asdigtise event of any conflict between the
terms contained in this Amendment and the Oridirgse, the terms herein contained shall supergetleantrol the obligations and liabilities
of the parties. From and after the date hereeftélm “ Leasé as used in




the Original Lease and this Amendment shall mearCthiginal Lease, as modified by this Amendment.

15. Miscellaneous This Amendment becomes effective only upon etiecwand delivery hereof by Landlord and Tenante Th
captions of the paragraphs and subparagraphssidithendment are inserted and included solely favenience and shall not be considere
given any effect in construing the provisions hérefll exhibits hereto are incorporated hereinrbference.

16. CounterpartsThis Amendment may be executed in one or mouateoparts that, when taken together, shall canstitne
original.
17. Authority Landlord and Tenant have all necessary and peg@ority, without the need for the consent of ather persc

or entity, other than any consents that have bégaired, to enter into and perform under this Anmeeuni.




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Landlord and Tenant have heteget their hands as of the date and year fistalkvritten, and
acknowledge that they possess the requisite atittiorenter into this transaction and to execuig Amendment.

LANDLORD :

BMR-ROGERS STREET LL(,
a Delaware limited liability compar

By: /s/ Kevin Simonse
Name: Kevin Simonser
Title:  Vice President, Real Estate Cour

TENANT :

IRONWOOD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC,
a Delaware corporatic

By: /s/ J DeTore
Name: J DeTore
Title: VP, Finance




Exhibit 10.14.2
FOURTH AMENDMENT TO LEASE

THIS FOURTH AMENDMENT TO LEASE (this “ Amendmeri} is entered into as of this 3rd day of Febru@@11 (the “Executior
Date”), by and between BMR-ROGERS STREET LLC, a Delawlanited liability company (“ Landlord’ as successor-in-interest to Rogers
Street, LLC (“ Original Landlord)), and IRONWOOD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC., a Delawao®rporation (formerly known as
Microbia, Inc.) (“ Tenant).

RECITALS

A. WHEREAS, Original Landlord and Tenant entered ihtat certain Lease dated as of January 12, 20Gmasaded by that
certain First Amendment to Lease dated as of Aprd009, that certain Second Amendment to Leassldet of February 9, 2010 (th&é&cont
Amendment’), and that certain Third Amendment to Lease datedf July 1, 2010 (collectively, as the same hmeye been otherwise
amended, supplemented or modified from time to titie “ Lease), whereby Tenant leases certain premises (thédi@al Premise$) from
Landlord at 301 Binney Street in Cambridge, Massaetts (the “ Building);

B. WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant desire to memoridlieesize of the Additional Premises Second Phasappropriate
adjustment to Tenant’s Pro Rata Share and the iddditPremises Finish Work Allowance with respectite Additional Premises Second
Phase, as required pursuant to Section 6 of thenBesmendment;

C. WHEREAS, Tenant desires to lease additional presrfigen Landlord; and
D. WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant desire to modify amead the Lease only in the respects and on thetommlhereinafte
stated.
AGREEMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, Landlord and Tenant, in consideratif the mutual promises contained herein anadtioer good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which hereby acknowledged, and intending to bellebalind, agree as follows:

1. Definitions. For purposes of this Amendment, capitalizethteshall have the meanings ascribed to them ihehse
unless otherwise defined herein.

2. Additional Premises Second Phas€&he Additional Premises Second Phase consistsvefty-One Thousand Five Hundred
Eighty-Nine (21,589) rentable square feet on tlivel thoor of the Building, as depicted on Exhibitadtached hereto, and includes shaft and/or
mechanical space on the first, third, fourth, fiitd penthouse levels of the Building. The AddisibPremises Second Phase consists of
Eighteen Thousand Six Hundred Sixty-Seven (18,66@gable square feet of space. The Additional Resrsecond Phase Rent
Commencement Date shall be determined in accordaitieehe Second Amendment. Once the Additionahftses Second Phase Rent
Commencement Date is determined, Landlord and Testeal execute a notice, as a confirmation ordytirsg forth the Additional Premises
Second Phase Rent Commencement Date.




3. Tenants Pro Rata ShareEffective as of the Additional Premises Secohdde Rent Commencement Date, Tenant’'s Pro
Rata Share shall be 43.05%.

4. Additional Premises Finish Work AllowanceThe amount of the Additional Premises Finish K/allowance allocated to
the Additional Premises Second Phase shall be AltietMOne Hundred Eighty-Seven Thousand Three HaddNinety-Five and 00/100
Dollars ($1,187,395).

5. Rights of Building Tenants in Additional Premisdsirl Phase As of the Execution Date, Landlord represents\warrants
that no other person or entity has any enforcesddpfes with respect to the leasing or occupancthefAdditional Premises Third Phase (as
defined below) as a tenant.

6. Additional Premises Third PhaseAs of the Execution Date, Landlord hereby ledseBenant approximately 23,307
contiguous rentable square feet of additional psemlocated on the third floor of the Building,depicted on Exhibit Eattached hereto (the “
Additional Premises Third Pha¥e The actual rentable square footage and actsedble square footage of the Additional Premisgsl T
Phase will be adjusted and mutually agreed to betviendlord and Tenant based upon the actual cmtstt rentable square footage and
actual constructed usable square footage deternmnsetordance with the Measurement Standard.

7. Term Commencement DateThe term with respect to the Additional Premishsd Phase shall commence upon the
Execution Date and shall terminate, subject toetignsion options granted pursuant to the Leasmilsineous with the expiration of the
Term. From and after the Execution Date, the teRremises” as used in the Lease, shall mean the Originaiiyes plus the Additional
Premises Third Phase and, except as otherwisedaaVierein, all provisions of the Lease, includiwghout limitation) the option to extend
the Term as set forth in Section 3.03 of the Lesisell apply to such Premises.

8. Additional Premises Third Phase Rent Commencematd.DRent with respect to the Additional Premises dihase shall
commence upon the earlier of (a) February 15, 201P(b) substantial completion of the Finish Woithwespect to the Additional Premises
Third Phase and Tenant's occupancy thereof foctimeluct of its business (the “ Additional Premifagd Phase Rent Commencement Date
"). Following the Additional Premises Third Phase Reatnmencement Date, Landlord and Tenant shall émttean amendment to the Lee
as amended hereby, memorializing the actual ussablgre footage and the actual rentable squaradeaf the Additional Premises Third
Phase, the Additional Premises Third Phase Rentin@armement Date, an appropriate adjustment to TemBrm Rata Share and the Additic
Premises Third Phase Finish Work Allowance (asnéefibelow) with respect thereto.

9. Tenants Pro Rata ShareTenant’s Pro Rata Share shall be increasedeoAdkitional Premises Third Phase Rent
Commencement Date to include the actual rentahlarsqfootage of the Additional Premises Third Phagbke calculation of Tenant's Pro
Rata Share.

10. Base Rent/Annual AdjustmentsThe initial Base Rent for the Additional PrensiSehird Phase shall be $42.50 per rentable
square foot per year commencing on the Additiomairitses Third Phase Rent Commencement Date. Baddfdr the Additional Premises
Third




Phase shall be increased during the initial Terneah annual anniversary of the Additional Premiisiééi®l Phase Rent Commencement Date
beginning with the first such annual anniversatgrathe Additional Premises Third Phase Rent Conuex@ent Date by fifty cents ($0.50) per
rentable square foot per year. Base Rent for thditonal Premises Third Phase shall not be ine@as the Interim Date as provided in
Section 1.16 of the Lease. Base Rent for the Aatdit Premises Third Phase for any Extension Tarifieoms shall be determined in
accordance with Section 1.16 of the Lease. Comingran the Additional Premises Third Phase Rent @encement Date, the Base Rent for
the Additional Premises Third Phase shall be paiehual monthly installments in advance on the flesy of each and every calendar month
during the Term as set forth in Section 4.01 oflthase. To the extent the Additional PremisesdrRinase Rent Commencement Date occurs
before the actual rentable square footage of shekepis determined in accordance with Sectiohthis Amendment, the parties hereto agree
to true up all payments of Rent for such phase npaide to the date such actual square footageteraéned within thirty (30) days of the date
such actual rentable square footage is determifid. parties will also make any appropriate adjestis and true ups for payments of the
Additional Premises Third Phase Finish Work Allowarior such phase within thirty (30) days of theedauch actual rentable square footag
determined.

11. Finish Work Allowance Landlord shall provide to Tenant an additionialish Work Allowance of Forty Dollars ($40.00)
per rentable square foot of Additional PremisegsdRhase (the “ Additional Premises Third PhaséskikVork Allowance’) in order to fund,
pursuant to the terms and procedures set fortlea@tichs 10.04(c) and 10.05 of the Lease (includiithout limitation, Tenant’s rights under
the last paragraph of Section 10.04(c)-2 of ExHibiD4(c)), the design and construction by Tenétite Finish Work with respect to the
Additional Premises Third Phase; provided thatwitbstanding anything in Sections 10.04(c) or 1m0%he Lease to the contrary, (i) Tenant
shall have no obligation to pay or reimburse Lardifor any costs or expenses to review or supethiseonstruction of the Finish Work with
respect to the Additional Premises Third Phasegt@w the Construction Documents related thereto assist with government filings and
(il) Landlord’s approval of the Construction Docume related to the Finish Work with respect to Aldelitional Premises Third Phase shall not
be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayEde Additional Premises Third Phase Finish Worloatnce shall be determined based on
the actual constructed rentable square footageeoftditional Premises Third Phase. The AdditidPramises Third Phase Finish Work
Allowance must be utilized for Finish Work constiedt within the Additional Premises Third PhasEenant will not be required to remove the
Finish Work constructed within the Additional Preses Third Phase at the end of the Term.

12. Condition of Premises Tenant acknowledges that, other than as st bedow or in the Lease, neither Landlord nor any
agent of Landlord has made any representation mamy with respect to the condition of the Addita Premises Third Phase, the Building or
the Property, or with respect to the suitabilitytled Additional Premises Third Phase, the Buildinghe Property for the conduct of Tenant’s
business. Tenant acknowledges that (a) it is falfyiliar with the condition of the Additional Préses Third Phase and agrees to take the
in its condition “as is” as of the Execution Datelgb) Landlord shall have no obligation to altepair or otherwise prepare the Additional
Premises Third Phase for Tenant’'s occupancy oayofi@r or construct any improvements to the AddidbPremises Third Phase, except that
Landlord shall provide the Additional Premises @H#hase Finish Work Allowance as described in Sectilabove.




Landlord hereby represents and warrants that, #eedExecution Date, the common area of the Bujldind the Additional Premises Third
Phase are in compliance with all Legal Requirements

13. Parking. In addition to any existing Tenant rights tolpag spaces under the Lease, commencing on theelftested by
Tenant, but in any event, no later than the Add#ldPremises Third Phase Rent Commencement Datd|drd shall provide Tenant with 1.0
parking spaces per 1,000 useable square feet gxelaf any mechanical space) of Additional PremiBeird Phase at Landlord’s then-current
prevailing monthly rate for parking spaces. Tetsamse of the parking spaces provided hereundeiTandnt’s rights with respect thereto
(including (without limitation) limitations on ineases in the prevailing monthly rate for parkingcgs) shall otherwise be in accordance with
the terms of Section 2.01(d) of the Lease.

14. Broker. Tenant represents and warrants that it has hagalings with any real estate broker or agenbimection with the
negotiation of this Amendment other than CB Richalles, Inc. (“ Broker”), and that it knows of no other real estate brakeagent that is or
might be entitled to a commission in connectiorhwtiite representation of Tenant in connection with Amendment. Landlord shall
compensate Broker in relation to this Amendmenspant to a separate agreement between LandlorBraker.

14.1 Tenant represents and warrants that no brokeresttdas made any representation or warranty rafied by
Tenant in Tenant’s decision to enter into this Anraent, other than as contained in this Amendment.

14.2 Tenant acknowledges and agrees that the employohénbkers by Landlord is for the purpose of stéition of
offers of leases from prospective tenants andrtbatuthority is granted to any broker to furnisly egpresentation (written or oral) or warranty
from Landlord unless expressly contained withirs thinendment. Landlord is executing this Amendniieméliance upon Tenant’s
representations, warranties and agreements codtaiitiein Section 14 Section 14.5and this Section 14.2

14.3 Tenant agrees to indemnify, save, defend and haidilord harmless from any and all cost or liabildy
compensation claimed by any other broker or agghgr than Broker, employed or engaged by Tenaataiming to have been employed or
engaged by Tenant.

14.4 Landlord shall pay any commission, fee or other gensation due to any Landlord broker(s) in conoecith this
Amendment. Landlord agrees to indemnify, savegmigfand hold Tenant harmless from any and all@ol&bility for compensation claimed
by any broker or agent employed or engaged by loaddir claiming to have been employed or engageldamgliord.

15. Effect of Amendment Except as modified by this Amendment, the Leaskall the covenants, agreements, terms,
provisions and conditions thereof shall remainuithforce and effect and are hereby ratified arfdrabd. The covenants, agreements, terms,
provisions and conditions contained in this Amendtghall bind and inure to the benefit of the arthereto and their respective successors
and, except as otherwise provided in the Leasamesded hereby, their respective assigns. Inwhet®f any conflict between the terms
contained in this Amendment and




the Lease, the terms herein contained shall supeied control the obligations and liabilities loé fparties. From and after the Execution [
the term “ Leasé as used in the Lease shall mean the Lease, asieabbly this Amendment.

16. Miscellaneous This Amendment becomes effective only upon etien and delivery hereof by Landlord and Tenatie T
captions of the paragraphs and subparagraphssilithendment are inserted and included solely favenience and shall not be considere
given any effect in construing the provisions hérefll exhibits hereto are incorporated hereinrbference.

17. Counterparts This Amendment may be executed in one or movateoparts that, when taken together, shall carstiine
original.
18. Authority . Landlord and Tenant have all necessary and pegeority, without the need for the consent of ather perso

or entity, other than any consents that have bé&iired, to enter into and perform under this Anmeeadi.




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Landlord and Tenant have heteget their hands as of the date and year fistalkvritten, and
acknowledge that they possess the requisite atittiorenter into this transaction and to execuig Amendment.

LANDLORD :

BMR-ROGERS STREET LL(,
a Delaware limited liability compar

By: /s/ John Bonann
Name: John Bonanni
Title:  Senior Vice President, Leasing & Developm

TENANT :

IRONWOOD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC,
a Delaware corporatic

By: /s/ J DeTore
Name: J DeTore
Title: VP, Finance




Exhibit 21.1
List of Registrant’'s Subsidiaries

Ironwood Pharmaceuticals Securities Corporatiorgiiporated in Massachusetts, a wholly owned s dosidi




QuickLinks-- Click here to rapidly navigate through this domnt

EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by refeeeincthe Registration Statements (Form S-8 Nos:185227, 333-165228, 333-165229, 333-
165230, and 333-165231) of our report dated Maf;i2811, with respect to the consolidated finanstalements of Ironwood
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. included in this Annual Refeorm 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2010.

/sl Ernst & Young LLF

Boston, Massachuse!
March 30, 201:
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EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT
TO RULE 13a-14(a) UNDER
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
I, Peter M. Hecht, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-Hrohwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the "registrant”);
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgt&te a material fact necessary to

make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, nigtagisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statement$,oéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdth@ periods presented in this report;

4, The registrant's other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disate controls and procedures
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%(nd internal control over financial reportirg @efined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd &ave:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and proceduiies ttesigned under o
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtbsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pneszh

b. Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finaha@gaorting to be designe
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataoee with generally accepted accounting principles

C. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant'slaisire controls and procedures and presentedsimetport our conclusior
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contants procedures, as of the end of the period cougyeddis report based on such
evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the regitsanternal control over financial reporting tloacurred during the registran
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fofigital quarter in the case of an annual repod) lttas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regisit's internal control over financial reportingpan

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and | badisclosed, based on our most recent evaluationterhal control over financi:
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thatammmittee of registrant's board of directorsggersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contradiofimancial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the itegig's ability to record, process, summarize aprt financial information; ar

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvearmagement or other employees who have a signifrodain the registrant
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 30, 2011

/s/ PETER M. HECHT

Peter M. Hecht, Ph.D.
Chief Executive Office




QuickLinks

EXHIBIT 31.1



QuickLinks-- Click here to rapidly navigate through this dioant

EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT
TO RULE 13a-14(a) UNDER
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
[, Michael J. Higgins, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-Hrohwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the "registrant”);
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgt&te a material fact necessary to

make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, nigtagisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statement$,oéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdth@ periods presented in this report;

4, The registrant's other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disate controls and procedures
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%(nd internal control over financial reportirg @efined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))for the registrard have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and proceduiies ttesigned under o
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtbsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pneszh

b. Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finaha@gaorting to be designe
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataoee with generally accepted accounting principles

C. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant'slaisire controls and procedures and presentedsimetport our conclusior
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contants procedures, as of the end of the period cougyeddis report based on such
evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the regitsanternal control over financial reporting tloacurred during the registran
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fofigital quarter in the case of an annual repod) lttas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regisit's internal control over financial reportingpan

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and | badisclosed, based on our most recent evaluationterhal control over financi:
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thatammmittee of registrant's board of directorsggersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contradiofimancial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the itegig's ability to record, process, summarize aprt financial information; ar

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvearmagement or other employees who have a signifrodain the registrant
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 30, 2011

/s/ MICHAEL J. HIGGINS

Michael J. Higgins
Chief Financial Officel
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EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report ofdveood Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the "Company") on FbéaK for the period ended
December 31, 2010 as filed with the SecuritiesExchange Commission on the date hereof (the "R§pgrPeter M. Hecht, Chief Executive
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 IC.SSection 1350, as adopted pursuant to Secti6roBthe Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to
my knowledge that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSeftction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof 1934, as amended;
and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly pmets, in all material respects, the financial ctodiand results of operatio
of the Company.

/s/ PETER M. HECHT

Peter M. Hecht, Ph.D.
Chief Executive Officer
March 30, 201:

A signed original of this written statemesajuired by Section 906 has been provided to tragany and will be retained by the Company
and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Cosionior its staff upon request.
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EXHIBIT 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report ofdveood Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the "Company") on FbéaK for the period ended
December 31, 2010 as filed with the SecuritiesExchange Commission on the date hereof (the "R§pgrMichael J. Higgins, Chief
Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursutmtl8 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuad¢ttion 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, to my knowledge that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof 1934, as amended;
and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly pmets, in all material respects, the financial ctadiand results of operatio
of the Company.

/sl MICHAEL J. HIGGINS

Michael J. Higgins
Chief Financial Officer
March 30, 201:

A signed original of this written statemesajuired by Section 906 has been provided to tragany and will be retained by the Company
and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Cosionior its staff upon request.
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